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Welcome to the new Lubrizel Corparat.or.

It might be tempting not to modify a formula that has proven successful for more than 75 years. But
Lubrizol’s growth vision, launched in 2000, is a catalyst for change that requires bold action.

In 2004, Lubrizol took a significant step toward attaining that vision by acquiring Noveon International, a
comparny similarly built on a foundation of proven science. Together, we are a powerful mix ~ better and stronger - with
the right balance of stability and growth.

As a premier specialty chemical company, Lubrizol is focused today on providing innovative technology

to global transportation, industrial and consumer markets. With dedicated people and an enduring commitment to our

customers and stakeholders, we are ready for the future.
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THE LUBRIZAOL COR RAVION

FINANCIAL HIGHNLIBHTS

- Increase
(In Millions Except Per-Share and Employee Data) 2004 2003 {Decrease)
OPERATIONS S
REVENUES ...ttt $3,159.5 $2,052.1 54%:
NELINCOME ... e 93.5 90.8 \zi 3%
Net income per share, basic .................. ... ... ... ... 1.68 1.76 \{ ' (50/0)
Dividends pershare. ... 1.04 1.04 sl "' e ‘3':-"
Cash provided from operating activities. .. ...................... 3282 194.8 800
Return on average shareholders’ equity ............ ... ... ..... 8% 10% (20%)
AS ABJUSTED EARNINES PER SHARE®
Net income per share, basic, as reported ........... ... ... ...... $ 1.68 $ 176 (5%)
Restructuning charges. .. ... oot 0.47 0.29
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development ....... .. 0.39 -
Currency forward contract gain . ........ ..l 0.07) -
As adjusted net income per share, basic............ ... . $ 247 § 205 20%

FINANCIAL PESITION

Total assets . ... $4,566.3 $1,942.3 135%
Shareholders’ equity ........ .. . . 1,523.5 953.3 60%
Debt as a percent of capitalization . . ............... ... .. ...... 56% 29% 93%
OTHER
Capital expenditures ... ...ttt $ 1332 $ 885 51%
Shares outstanding at December 31 .......... ... .. ... ... 66.8 51.6 29%
Number of employees. . ......... ..o i 7779 5,032 55%

OWEriu

REVENUES BY @@@@@@Tﬁ LipEe®

Luericant Addicives ) 1;

Engine Additives 38%

Specialty Driveline and
Industrial Oil Additives 20%

Services and Equipment 2%

@@@@ @U@@ @m@wo @@u@

3% Consumer Specialties |

8% Performance Coatings

92% Specialty Materials

] 99$3 6871 miltian in pro forma revenues

- S 7 - 2004 2003
High Low High Low

ISEQUATter ..ot e $33.55 $29.44 $32.06 $26.54

2ndquarter. .. ... 36.81 30.67 32.46 29.50

3rdquarter. ... .. 37.37 33.00 34.40 30.50

Ath QUarter. .. ... e 37.33 32.12 3431 29.23

© Non-GAAP Disclosure Reconciliation — As adjusted net income per share, basic {non-GAAP) is a measure of earnings that differs fram net income per share,
basic measured in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles {GAAP). As adjusted net income per share, basic is earnings per share, basic per
the company’s consolidated results, adjusted for excluson of restructuring charges, the write-off of acquired in-process research and development and the
currency forward contract gain. Management believes that both net income per share, basic and as adjusted net income per share, basic, which excludes these
special charges and credits, assist the investor in understanding the results of operations of The Lubrizof Carporation. In addition, management and the board
evaluate results using both netincome per share, basic and as adjusted net income per share, hasic.
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O Jamas L. Hembriek '

In our 2003 Chairman's Letier, W.G. Bares and I referred to “our progress in steadily transforming the
company by adding higher-growth businesses that complement our traditional lubricant additive business.” In 2004,
our shareholders, employees and customers witnessed the transformational acquisition of Noveon International. With
this transaction, we created a powerful new specialty chemical company with a balance of stability and opportunity for
growth. Two great organizations came together, and I am excited about the future of Lubrizol.

Just one year after Lubrizol crossed the $2 billion revenue mark, the company’s 2004 sales increased to $3.7
billion on a pro forma basis, thanks primarily to the Noveon acquisition. The addition of Noveon’s respected product
portfolio provides greater scale to our coatings and personal care businesses, brings attractive new engineered polymer
product lines and promises to improve Lubrizol’s future sales, profit margin, earnings and cash flow growth rates.

The Noveon acquisition was financed through a combined $1.7 billion debt and $470 million equity offering.
As a result, we welcomed several new large shareholders to Lubrizol. Old and new shareholders alike enjoyed 18 percent
total return on their Lubrizol shares from the April 16 announcement of the acquisition through the end of 2004. In
fact, Noveon contributed positively to EPS in our seven months of ownership in 2004, even with share dilution and the
incremental costs of financing and completing the transaction.

The acquisition integration process has run ahead of schedule since the transaction closed in June, in large
part because the common Cleveland headquarters facilitated the communication and coordination between the two
companies, Within the first three months, we combined our complementary businesses that focus on the personal care
and coatings industries. By the close of 2004, we had achieved or implemented actions to capture $40 million in annual
cost savings, a year ahead of schedule.

We also made important progress in our legacy Lubricant Additives business. We redefined our strategy and
reorganized all operating and support functions to allow us to take even better advantage of our leadership position.

Lubricant Additives had an outstanding year in 2004, with a 13 percent sales increase - including 7 percent volume




growth - and a 21 percent increase in operating income.
These results reflect not only a rebound in the lubricant
industry but also demonstrate progress in our strategy to
grow faster than the market.

Product innovation is the cornerstone of our
strategy to grow faster than our markets. In 2004, we
demonstrated that strategy in Lubricant Additives with
new products satisfying North American passenger car
motor oil specifications for enhanced fuel economy
and emissions reductions. Other new products included
engine oil additives for the European market, upgraded
automatic transmission fluid additives and more cost-
effective fuel additives. Within the Specialty Chemicals
segment, new products included fixatives and botanicals

for hair care, emollients for skin care, resins for automotive

Lubrizol entered 2005
as a revitalized company with
an abundance of both near- and
long-term growth cpportunities.

plastics, resins for clear wood coatings and engineered
polymers for the construction, medical products and
sporting goods industries. These new products and the
healthy pipeline under development fuel our optimism
about Lubrizol’s growth prospects and support our
aspiration to be a larger, integrated specialty chemical
company focusing on highly engineered formulations.

Lubrizol posted a strong financial performance
in 2004. Earnings per share were $1.68, or $2.47 before
restructuring charges and certain other acquisition-related
iterns. Factoring out such costs in both years, earnings per
share increased 20 percent over 2003, despite 8 percent
more average shares outstanding in 2004. Cash flow from
operations was a record $328 million for 2004, up 68 percent
from the year before. This information is summarized in
our financial highlights on page 1 of this report.

While we were pleased with the results in both
Lubricant Additives and Specialty Chemicals, we would
be remiss in discussing our operating performance without
mentioning the severe run-up in raw material costs that
adversely affected the profitability of the entire specialty
chemical industry in 2004. Many of our raw materials

posted double-digit price increases. For example, prices

for base o1l - our highest-volume raw material - climbed
26 percent. We responded to this significant headwind
by implementing multiple rounds of price increases. Raw
material costs were in line with our expectations as we began
2005. We believe our pricing actions and continued efforts
to reduce costs have positioned us to improve margins.

It is my sincere hope that both our long-time
shareholders and those who are new to Lubrizol share the
enthusiasm of our entire organization about the company’s
future. Lubrizol entered 2005 as a revitalized company -
not without our share of challenges but with an abundance
of both near- and long-term growth opportunities as two
industry innovators become one.

We can now offer a wider array of proven science
and well-respected brands to serve a broader marketplace.
And our expanded global strength is supported by a well-
established international infrastructure and our long-standing
market presence in rapidly growing economies such as
China and throughout Asia. It truly is a powerful mix.

W.G. Bares retired as CEO in April and as
Chairman in December, following a remarkable 41-year
career at Lubrizol. Bill presided over significant global
expansion of Lubrizol following his appointment as
President in 1982. Beginning in 2000, he led the creation
of the strategic vision to double the size of the company.
Bill remained very active throughout 2004, and [ deeply
appreciate his support and guidance. While we miss
his presence, the corporate culture and work ethic Bill
exemplified are part of his lasting legacy.

We mourn the passing in 2004 of David Hoag,
whose 15 years on the Board of Directors represent the longest
tenure of an outside director in Lubrizol’s history. Throughout
his time with us, he was a tireless leader who always
demonstrated the highest standards of corporate governance.

Closing on a heartfelt personal note, I am honored
by the vote of confidence from Bill and the Board in
entrusting me to lead your company going forward. I
remain extremely energized by and fully committed to the

growth opportunities that lie ahead for Lubrizol.

ol

James L. Hambrick
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

March 16, 2005
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molecules. And that enables both vehicles and people to run better and products to perform smoothly.

Around the world, 2,800 patents testify to the proven science behind our products and
services, which have end uses as varied as gear oils and running shoes. Automatic transmissions
and hand lotion alike owe their smooth performance to Lubrizol chemistry.

Every drop of additive, ingredient and polymer we make is carefully developed to
enhance the performance of our customers’ products. We create useful molecular properties and then
combine the molecules with other components to produce unique additive or ingredient

packages that deliver performance for our customers — whether on the road, on the job or on the skin.
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A fermula for sUCE@SS. Lubrizol virtually invented the lubricant additive industry

and, over three-quarters of a century, established market and technology leadership and set the

industry standard around the world. Over time, the same proven science was adapted to serve the
coatings additives and personal care markets as well.

A similar approach to technology and innovation enabled Noveon International to
become a global leader in the rapidly growing personal care, coatings and specialty materials
markets, with industry-leading product franchises marketed under well-recognized brand names.

Twe companies with complementary strengihs and markets. Tep global bronds. Well-matehad
vnderlying technolegiss. All grovnded In proven selence. Together, & formuls far sUEEESS.
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The ﬁ'ﬂgh‘@ balance. By acquiring Noveon, Lubrizol achieved the right balance of stability
and growth. The combination of these two businesses creates a strong organization with broad market
access and an interrelated chemistry portfolio that offers a wider base for growth through innovation.

Today, our global-leading lubricant additives business segment has its sharp focus on the
transportation market, which is characterized by stable demand. Meanwhile, the specialty chemicals
segment — enhanced by the addition of Noveon’s critical mass in coatings and personal care - serves
the higher-growth areas of industrial and consumer products. The
acquisition also added some new and very attractive businesses,
including compounds used by the plastics market, expanding our
product portfolio and presenting new opportunities for growth.

To take full advantage of our many opportunities, we
have further sharpened our focus on research and development.
By positioning R&D functions within the business segments, we
can directly channel our resources toward anticipating and meeting
customers’ needs - resulting in a strong and thriving pipeline of
innovative new products designed for specific market requirements.

Lubrizol now has an even larger global presence, with
commercial, technical and manufacturing operations around the
world. Facilities in China and India provide a solid base in this
emerging growth area and position us well for the future.

Similar cultures and values and a single headquarters location in

Cleveland, where both companies were founded, facilitate the integration

of our organizations. And a shared dedication to ethical behavior, respect

for individuals and an appreciation of diversity guide the new Lubrizol.

The fact is, our stakeholders - customers, employees and
investors alike — will benefit from the new Lubrnizol. Together, we are a
stronger organization, founded and built on technology leadership

and innovation, and concentrating on growth.

It's a powerful mix.

BETTER- INSIDEAND OUT. Lubrizol’s lubricant additive techneology has improved the performance
and extended the useful lives of generations of vehicles. Now, our additives for paints, ceatings

and personal care products keep the outside — and drivers — looking good, too.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
Sfinancial statements, the notes thereto and the bistorical summary appearing
elsewbere in this annual report. Historical results and percentage relation-
ships set forth in the consolidated financial statements, including trends
that might appear, should not be taken as indicative of future operations.
The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. Our actual resulis may differ materially from those
discussed in such forward-looking statements as a result of various factors,
including those described under the section “Cautionary Statements for
Safe Harbor Purposes” included elsewhere in this annual report.

Ovearview

GENERAL We are an innovative specialty chemical company that
produces and supplies technologies that improve the quality and
performance of our customers’ products in the global transporta-
tion, industrial and consumer markets. Our business is founded on
technological leadership. Innovation provides opportunities for us in
growth markets as well as advantages over our competitors. From a
base of approximately 2,800 patents, we use our product development
and formulation expertise to sustain our leading market positions and
fuel our future growth. We create additives, ingredients, resins and
compounds that enhance the performance, quality and value of our
customers’ products, while minimizing their environmental impact.
Our products are used in a broad range of applications, and are sold
into stable markets such as those for engine oils, specialty driveline
lubricants and metalworking fluids, as well as higher-growth markets
such as personal care and pharmaceutical products and performance
coatings and inks. Our specialty materials products are also used in a
variety of industries, including the construction, sporting goods, med-
ical products and automotive industries. We are an industry leader in
the majority of our businesses.

We are geographically diverse, with an -extensive global
manufacturing, supply chain, technical and commercial infrastruc-
ture. We operate facilities in 27 countries, including production facili-
ties in 21 countries and laboratories in nine countries through the
efforts of approximately 7,800 employees. We sell our products in more
than 100 countries and believe that our customers value our ability to
provide customized, high-quality, cost-effective performance formula-
tions and solutions worldwide. We also believe that our customers
value our global supply chain capabilities.

On June 3, 2004, we completed the acquisition of Noveon
International, Inc. (Noveon International), a leading global producer
and marketer of technologically advanced specialty materials and
chemicals used in the industrial and consumer markets. With the
acquisition of Noveon International, we have accelerated our program
to attain a substantial presence in the personal care and coatings mar-
kets by adding a number of higher-growth, industry-leading products
under highly recognizable brand names, including Carbopol®, to our
already strong portfolio of lubricant and fuel additives, and consumer
products. Additionally, Noveon International has a number of indus-
try-leading and strong, cash flow-generating specialty materials busi-
nesses, including TempRite® chlorinated polyvinyl chloride (CPVC)
and Estane® thermoplastic polyurethane (TPU).

N

Noveon International was acquired for cash of $920.2 mil-

lion (inclusive of certain seller expenses of $32.9 million) plus transac-
tion costs of $11.4 million and less cash acquired of $103.0 million.
In addition, we assumed $1,103.1 million of long-term indebtedness
from Noveon International. Noveon International had 2003 revenues
of $1,135.9 million.

The acquisition and related costs were initially financed
with the proceeds of a $2,450.0 million 364-day bridge credit facil-
ity. Shortly after the acquisition, we repaid substantially all of the
assumed debt with proceeds of the temporary bridge loan. The tem-
porary bridge loan was repaid in full in September 2004 when we
secured our permanent financing. This permanent financing structure
included the issuance of 14.7 million common shares in underwritten
offerings, $1,150.0 million in unsecured senior notes and debentures
and a $575.0 million bank term loan resulting in $2,170.0 million of
net proceeds to Lubrizol.

Our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004
reflects the acquisition of Noveon International under the purchase
method of accounting. We recorded the various assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, primarily working capital accounts, of Noveon
International at their estimated fair values that we determined as of
the acquisition date. The allocation of the purchase price has not yet
been finalized, but is substantially complete, as of December 31, 2004.
While we do not expect any material changes, the purchase price
allocation remains subject to revision through the end of the alloca-
tion period ending in the second quarter of 2005. Actuarial valuations
were completed for the projected pension and other post-employment
benefit obligations and were reflected in the purchase price allocation.
In addition, appraisals of long-lived assets and identifiable intangible
assets, including an evaluation of in-process research and develop-
ment (IPR&D) projects, have also been completed.

The purchase price includes the estimated fair value of
research and development projects totaling $34.0 million that, as of
the acquisition date, had not yet reached technological feasibility
and had no alternative future use. Approximately $33.5 million was
expensed through the third quarter and $0.5 million was expensed in
the fourth quarter, based upon the refinement of our valuation analy-
sis. The $34.0 million charge for 2004 approximates $0.39 on a per-
share basis. The inventory step-up to fair value totaled $24.2 million,
of which $9.8 million, or $0.11 on a per-share basis, was expensed
in 2004. As the remaining step-up relates to inventories accounted
for on the LIFO (last-in, first-out) method of accounting, we do not
anticipate that additional amounts of step-up will be expensed in the
near term. The 2004 historical results include revenues and expenses
of Noveon International only since the date of acquisition.

In June 2004, we reorganized our business as a result of the
Noveon International acquisition into two operating and reporting
segments: the Lubricant Additives segment and the Specialty Chemi-
cals segment. The Lubricant Additives segment is comprised of our
previous business in fluid technologies for transportation (FIT), ad-
vanced fluid systems, emulsified products and the former industrial
additives product group of fluid technologies for industry (FT1). The
Specialty Chemicals segment is comprised of the businesses of the

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION 8
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acquired Noveon International and the former performance chemicals
group of FTIL. Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements con-
tains our segment reporting disclosure including a further description
of the nature of our operations, the product lines within each of the
reporting segments and related financial disclosures for the reportable
segments. See also “Segment Analysis” for further financial disclosures
by reporting segment, including segment profitability.

LUBRICANT ADDITIVES SESMENT A variety of industry market
forces and conditions continue to influence the Lubricant Additives
business. A key factor is the low global growth rate for this market,
which we believe is in the range of approximately 0% to 1% per year.
Additional characteristics of this market are:

T Consolidation of the customer base in recent years, which has
increased the competitiveness of the transportation lubricant addi-
tives market.

O Frequent product specification changes driven primarily by original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and the impact of environmen-
tal and fuel economy regulations on the OEMs. The specification
changes require us to incur product development and testing costs,
but also enable us to apply our technology know-how to create
products and solve problems. We believe our technology, and our
expertise in applying it, are key strengths.

Improved engine design, which can result in longer lubricant drain

I

intervals. Longer drain intervals lessen demand for lubricants.

i

New vehicle production levels, which affect our specialty driveline
fluids in particular because the initial factory fill is an important
market factor in that product line.

We believe we are the market leader in lubricant additives
and intend to remain the leader by continuing to invest in this business.

-

PIZIALTY CHEMICALS SEBMEXT Our Specialty Chemicals

segment’s growth strategy involves a combination of internal growth

(27

and acquisitions. Since 2000 and prior to the Noveon International ac-
quisition, we made eight acquisitions with aggregate annual revenues
at the time of acquisition of approximately $200.0 million. In 2002,
we completed four acquisitions having aggregate annual revenues at
the time of acquisition of $85.0 million, including Chemron Corpora-
tion, a supplier of specialty surfactants principally for the personal care
market. In 2003, we acquired a personal care ingredients business from
Amerchol Corporation, a subsidiary of The Dow Chemical Company.
Also in 2003, we acquired silicone product lines, which expanded our
foam control additives business to $40.0 million in annual revenues
in 2004. In January 2004, we acquired the additives business of Avecia,
with annual revenues of approximately $50.0 million. This business
develops, manufactures and markets high-value additives used in coat-
ings and inks. With the acquisition of Noveon International in June
2004, our Specialty Chemicals segment now represents nearly half of
pro forma consolidated revenues.

We have a strategy to continue to achieve internal growth in
the Specialty Chemicals segment by using our strengths, including our
technology, formulating skills and broad geographic infrastructure, to

10 THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION
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develop and invest in new fluid technology applications in higher-
growth industrial and consumer markets. Key factors to our success
continue to be the introduction of new products, development of new
applications for existing products, cross-selling of products, the inte-
gration of acquisitions and geographic expansion.

PRIMARY FACTORS AFFECTING 2004 RESULTS In addition
to higher shipment volume in the Lubricant Additives segment, along
with the contribution from Noveon International and other acquisi-
tions and ongoing organic business growth in the Specialty Chemicals
segment, the factors that most affected our 2004 results were:

T increased raw material costs;
& our ability to raise selling prices;
= integration of Noveon International;

3 cost control initiatives, including restructuring programs; and

—

T favorable currency effects.

For Lubricant Additives, raw material costs are significantly
influenced by the price of crude oil and natural gas, which have been
subject to periods of rapid and significant increases in price. In 2004,
the cost of our other raw materials has also increased significantly.
Our results are affected by how quickly and the extent to which we
are able to change our product selling prices in reaction to raw mate-
rial cost and operating cost increases. The increases in material costs
were more significant in North America than in our other geographic
zones. The Lubricant Additives segment implemented four price in-
creases in 2004 in order to attempt to recover these costs.

In connection with the acquisition of Noveon Internation-
al, we established a target of achieving annual savings from acquisition
cost synergies of approximately $40.0 million within three years from
June 2004 when we completed the acquisition. In 2004, we realized
pre-tax synergy savings of approximately $10.0 million, including
$6.4 million of savings associated with the 2004 workforce reductions
announced in June 2004. We are projecting to realize annual savings
in 2005 of approximately $35.0 million. We currently expect to reach
our target run rate of $40.0 million in annual savings by the end of
2005, which is 18 months ahead of schedule.

Qur operating cost structure has been pressured by higher
energy, insurance, pension and health care expenses. Additionally, a
large portion of our manufacturing expenses are fixed in the short
term. As a result of these cost pressures, primarily in the Lubricant
Additives segment, we implemented several restructuring programs
in 2003 to further lower our cost structure while simultaneously
improving our service capabilities for our customers. We achieved
approximately $10.4 million of pre-tax savings in 2004 from the 2003

restructuring programs.

In our continuing efforts to rationalize our manufacturing
operations, in January 2005, we announced the decision to close our
Lubricant Additives manufacturing facility in Bromborough, United
Kingdom. Production phase-out of this site is planned to begin in the
second quarter of 2005 and is expected to be completed by late 2006.




Management's Discussion and Analysis continuen

During this phase-out, United Kingdom production will be trans-
ferred to facilities in France and the United States. We recognized a
$17.0 million impairment charge in the fourth quarter of 2004 relating
to the site property, plant and equipment. Approximately 69 employ-
ees will be impacted by this closure, although some employees may
be retained. We expect the Bromborough facility closure and transfer
of production to more efficient manufacturing locations ultimately to
generate annual pre-tax cost savings of approximately $10.0 million
by 2007.

We conduct 2 significant amount of our business outside
the United States and are subject to business risks inherent in non-
U.S. activities, including currency exchange rate fluctuations. As the
U.S. dollar strengthens or weakens against other international cur-
rencies in which we transact business, our financial results will be
affected. Currency had an overall favorable effect on our 2004 and
2003 operating results.

2004 Results of Operations
Compared with 2003

Qur 2004 revenues as compared to 2003, excluding acquisitions, in-
creased primarily due to higher ongoing shipment volume and higher
average selling price. The increased revenues partially were offset by
higher raw material costs and higher manufacturing expenses. Primar-
ily as a result of these factors and acquisitions, gross profit increased
47% in 2004 compared with 2003.

The changes in consolidated revenues are summarized
as follows:

AMALYSIS OF REVENUES
Excluding

\
|

Acquisitions
—— $ % $ %
| (In Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 Change  Change V(:Enéc_‘(_:h;a:{gf
Netsales......... $3,155.6 | $2,049.1 $1,106.5 54%  $2712 13%
Royalties and
other revenues . . 3.9 3.0 0.9 30% 0.6 18%
Total revenues ....| $3,159.5 | $2,052.1 §$1,1074 54%  $271.83 13%

The 2004 and 2003 acquisitions accounted for the majority
of the increase in consolidated revenues in 2004. Acquisitions in 2004
included Noveon International and the hyperdispersants business
purchased from Avecia. Acquisitions in 2003 included the personal
care specialty ingredients business purchased from Amerchol Corpo-
ration, a subsidiary of The Dow Chemical Company, and the silicone
product lines purchased from BASF. The 2004 and 2003 acquisitions
contributed $835.6 million toward the increase in 2004 consolidated
revenues compared with 2003.

Excluding acquisitions, the increase in consolidated rev-
enues in 2004 compared to 2003 was due to a 7% increase in ongoing
shipment volume, a 3% increase in average selling price and a 3%
favorable currency impact.

Shipment volume patterns vary in different geographic
zones. The following table shows our 2004 shipment volume by geo-
graphic zone as well as the changes compared with 2003:

Analysis of Volume — 2004 vs. 2003

Excluding
2004 Acquisitions

i | Volume % Change % Change
North America............... 49% 39% 4%
Europe ...l 26% 22% 9%
Asia-Pacific/ Middle East. . .. ... 19% 31% 16%
Latin Amenica................ 6% 3% (8%)
Total ... 5._0% 31% 7%

-

Segment shipment volume variances by geographic zone,
as well as the factors explaining the changes in segment revenues for
2004 compared with 2003, are contained under the “Segment Analy-
sis” section.

ANALYSIS OF COSTS AND EXPENSES

|
i

\

Excluding
$ % $ %

] (In Millions of Dollars) 2004 «2_99?_,-_?[13"“ _ Change ghangc Change
Costof sales........ $2,359.5 | $1,507.8 $ 851.7 56% $226.5 15%
Selling and

administrative

EXPENSES. . . .. 1u .. 304.6 202.9 101.7  50% 146 7%
Research, testing '

and development

EXPENSES. . ... ... .. 190.8 166.9 239 14% (9.6) (6%)
Amortization of

intangible assets. . . . 18.0 4.9 13.1 * 0.1 2%
Write-off of acquired

in-process research

and development. . . 34.0 - 340 ¢ -
Restructuring

charges........... 38.6 22.5 16.1 * 03 =
Total costs

and expenses . .. ... $2,945.5 | $1,905.0 $1,040.5 55% $231.3 12%

* Calculation not meaningful

Cost of sales increased due to acquisitions, higher aver-
age raw material cost and higher manufacturing expenses. Excluding
acquisitions, average raw material cost increased 10% in 2004 com-
pared with 2003, primarily due to higher unit raw material cost and, to
a lesser extent, unfavorable currency effects. Sequentially, the fourth
quarter 2004 average raw material cost, excluding acquisitions, in-
creased 7% compared to the third quarter and 11% compared to the
second quarter, primarily due to higher prices of crude oil and natural
gas and unfavorable currency effects. Material cost, including acqui-
sitions, also included inventory step-up adjustments associated with
the increased valuation of inventory of $12.5 million in 2004 for the
Noveon International and hyperdispersants acquisitions. The Noveon
International portion of the inventory step-up adjustment was $9.8
million, or $0.11 per share.

Total manufacturing expenses, which are included in cost
of sales, increased 49% (8% excluding acquisitions) in 2004 compared
with 2003, primarily due to acquisitions. We estimate that currency
effects accounted for approximately 51% of the increase excluding
acquisitions. The remainder of the increase primarily was due to higher
shipment volumes and an increase in base and incentive compensation
expense of $4.4 million. In addition, manufacturing expenses included
an increase of $3.3 million for environmental accruals and $2.4 mil-
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lion for increased utility costs. Excluding acquisitions, currency effects
and environmental accruals, manufacturing expenses increased 3% in
2004 compared with 2003. On a per-unit-sold basis, manufacturing
costs were flat in 2004 compared to 2003, excluding acquisitions.

Gross profit (net sales less cost of sales) increased $254.8
million, or 47% (3$44.7 million, or 8%, excluding acquisitions), in
2004 compared with 2003. Excluding acquisitions, the increase pri-
marily was due to higher shipment volume and higher average sell-
ing price, partially offset by higher unit average raw material cost and
higher manufacturing expenses. Our 2004 gross profit percentage
(gross profit divided by net sales) decreased to 25.2% (25.3% exclud-
ing acquisitions) compared to 26.4% in 2003. Sequentially, our gross
profit percentage decreased 90 basis points to 24.0% in the fourth
quarter of 2004 compared to 24.9% in the third quarter of 2004. The
decrease for both periods primarily was due to higher raw material
costs outpacing our ability to raise selling prices sufficiently to sustain
gross profit percentages.

The selling and administrative expenses increase, excluding
acquisitions, primarily was due to an increase in incentive compensation
expense of $12.2 million. We estimate that currency effects accounted
for approximately 30% of the increase, excluding acquisitions.

The timing and amount of research, testing and devel-
opment expenses (technology expenses) are affected by lubricant
additives product standards, which change periodically to meet new
emissions, efficiency, durability and other performance factors as
engine and transmission designs are improved by OEMs. Technol-
ogy expenses, excluding acquisitions, decreased 6% in 2004 compared
with 2003. Despite an approximate 3% unfavorable currency impact
in 2004, this decrease primarily was due to greater utilization of
inside testing facilities as compared to outside laboratories, leading
to a decrease in testing at outside laboratories of $8.3 million in 2004
compared with 2003, along with a $3.1 million reduction in salary
and benefit expenses as a result of the reduction in workforce. During
2004, approximately 87% of our technology cost was incurred in com-
pany-owned facilities and approximately 13% was incurred at third-
party facilities, compared with approximately 82% and 18%, respec-
tively, in 2003. Testing costs for Noveon International primarily occur
at company-owned facilities, which also contributed to the decrease in
the percentage of testing performed at third-party facilities.

The increased amortization expense in 2004 compared with
2003 primarily was due to the Noveon International and hyperdisper-
sants acquisitions in 2004 and the personal care specialty ingredients
business acquisition in 2003. These three acquisitions resulted in an
increase in gross amortized intangible assets of approximately $334.5
million with useful lives ranging between three and 20 years.

We included a one-time, non-cash charge of $34.0 million,
or $0.39 per share, in total costs and expenses in 2004 to write off
the estimated fair value of acquired IPR&D projects associated with
the Noveon International acquisition. Costs to acquire IPR&D proj-
ects that have no alternative future use and that have not yet reached
technological feasibility at the date of acquisition are expensed upon
acquisition. We obtained appraisals to determine the estimated fair
value of IPR&D projects. There were approximately nine projects
acquired in the Noveon International transaction in several differ-
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ent product lines. The projects are at varying stages of completeness
ranging from the early development stage to prototype testing. We
estimate the need to spend approximately $3.0 million to develop the
acquired technology, and we expect the benefit from these projects to
be generated starting in 2005 and continuing into 2006.

In 2004, we recorded aggregate restructuring charges of
$38.6 million, or $0.47 per share, primarily related to asset impair-
ments and workforce reductions. The components of the 2004 restruc-
turing charges are detailed as follows:

r’([;l Millions of Dollars) T [ 2004
Asset impairments - Bromborough . ......... ... o oL ] $17.0
Asset impairments - PuriNOx™ .. ... o oo ‘ 2.8

111
7.7

$38.6

Employee severance ...........oviiiiiiiii i

Pension settlement obligation ............. ... ...

Total restructuring charges . . ...

In December 2004, management made the decision to close
our Lubricant Additives manufacturing facility in Bromborough,
United Kingdom to lower our cost structure further while simul-
taneously improving our service capabilities for our customers. We
announced this decision in January 2005. We determined, as of
December 31, 2004, that an impairment of the facility’s long-lived
assets had been triggered by this decision. As a result, a $17.0 mil-
lion impairment charge was recorded in December 2004 to reflect the
related assets at their estimated fair values. Production phase-out of
this site is planned to begin in the second quarter of 2005 and is
expected to be completed by late 2006. During this phase-out, United
Kingdom production will be transferred to higher-capacity facilities
in France and the United States. Approximately 69 employees will
be impacted by this closure, some of whom may have an opportu-
nity to relocate to other facilities. We currently anticipate that future
pre-tax charges and cash expenditures of approximately $13.0 mil-
lion to $15.0 million will be incurred in 2005 through 2006 to satisfy
anticipated severance and retention obligations, plant dismantling,
site restoration and other site environmental evaluation costs and
lease-related costs. In addition to the restructuring charges, we also
expect to invest approximately $20.0 million over the next two years
for capacity upgrades at alternative manufacturing facilities that will
absorb production previously undertaken at the Bromborough facil-
ity. We expect the Bromborough facility closure and transfer of pro-
duction to more efficient manufacturing locations to generate annual
pre-tax cost savings of approximately $10.0 million by 2007.

In 2004, we eliminated more than 100 positions, primarily
affecting technical and commercial employees located at our Wick-
liffe, Ohio headquarters. Most of these workforce reductions were
related to our restructuring following our acquisition of Noveon
International. In addition to the employee severance costs, we incurred
a non-cash pension benefit settlement charge. These reductions were
completed by December 31, 2004 and resulted in pre-tax savings of
approximately $7.1 million in 2004. We estimate future annual pre-tax
savings of approximately $18.3 million.

In addition, we realized approximately $10.4 million of pre-
tax savings in 2004 relating to the 2003 restructuring programs discussed
in the section “2003 Results of Operations Compared with 2002.”
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ANALYSIS OF OTHER ITEMS AND NET INCOME
Acauiiions

$ % $ %

J (In Millions of Dellars) 2004 2003 Change Change Change Change
Otherincome -net .... | $ 49 | $§ 33 §16 * $0.2) *
Interest expense ~ net .. 723 213 51.0 * 4.4 *
Income before

income taxes ........ 146.6 129.1 175  14% 449  35%
Provision for

income taxes ........ 531 383 148  39% 240 63%
Net income ........... 93.5 90.8 2.7 3% 209 23%

share, acquisition-related financing costs of $0.66 per share and a gain
on a foreign currency forward contract of $0.07 per share. The 2003
restructuring charge reduced earnings by $0.29 per share in 2003.

2003 Results of Operations
Compared with 2002
Income per share, basic before cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle declined 28% in 2003 to $1.76 per share, from
$2.45 per share in 2002. The primary operating drivers of the lower

* Calculation not meaningful

The net other income in 2004 included a gain of $6.4 mil-
lion, or $0.07 per share, on a currency forward contract to purchase
pound sterling related to the acquisition of the hyperdispersants busi-
ness in the first quarter. We secured the forward contract in December
2003 and completed the acquisition at the end of January 2004. This
gain partially was offset by other currency translation losses.

The increase in net interest expense in 2004, compared with
2003, primarily was due to the Noveon International acquisition-
related financing costs of $56.7 million, or $0.66 per share. These
costs were comprised of the interest incurred relating to the perma-
nent transaction financing as well as interest on the bridge loan and
assumed Noveon International debt not repaid at the time of acquisi-
tion of $42.6 million, amortization of bridge loan fees of $11.2 mil-
lion and termination of an interest rate swap of $2.9 million.

During 2004, the U.S. dollar weakened against most cur-
rencies, especially the euro. The change in currency exchange rates in
2004, as compared with 2003 exchange rates, had a favorable effect on
2004 net income.

We had an effective tax rate of 36.2% in 2004 as compared
with 29.7% in 2003 as the result of the net impact of a number of fac-
tors. Items driving the increased tax rate included an increase in tax
on unrepatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries, a reduction in our
ability to claim both U.S. foreign tax credits and to obtain U.S. tax
benefits on exports following the Noveon International acquisition,
and less significant non-taxable currency gains than occurred in 2003.
These factors partially were offset by the favorable impact of foreign
tax rate differences and other less significant items.

As of December 31, 2004, we had U.S. net operating loss car-
ryforwards (NOLs) of $326.0 million. These NOLs are a combination
of NOLs acquired from Noveon International, as well as those gener-
ated in 2004 primarily as a result of transaction-related costs. We expect
that these NOLs will be fully utilized during the carryforward period.

Primarily as a result of the above factors, our net income per
share, basic was $1.68 in 2004 compared with $1.76 in 2003. Earnings
for 2004 benefited from Noveon International’s operating income,
before financing costs, inventory step-up charges and the write-off of
IPR&D projects, of $78.3 million, or $0.91 per share. Earnings in 2004
included a one-time write-off of IPR&D projects from the Noveon
International acquisition of $0.39 per share, a purchase adjustment
associated with the increased valuation of Noveon International ac-
quired inventory of $0.11 per share, restructuring charges of $0.47 per

earnings were lower shipment volume and higher raw material costs
and manufacturing expenses, which more than offset higher aver-
age selling price due to the combination of price and product mix,
favorable currency, a lower effective tax rate and acquisitions that were
accretive to earnings. In addition, restructuring charges reduced 2003
earnings by $0.29 per share.

ANALYSIS OF REVENUES

Excluding
__ Acquisitions_

———— $ % $ %
[—(T;Millions of Dollars) | 7270037 2002} Change Change  Change Change
Netsales......... $2,049.1  $1,980.3 $68.8 3% $25.8 1%

Royalties and “

other revenues. . ., 3.0 3.6 (0.6) (17%) 0.6y (17%)
Total revenues . . .. | $2,052.1  $1,983.9 $68.2 3% $25.2 1%

In 2003,
a 9% increase in average selling price, partially offset by a 6% decline

the increase in consolidated revenues was due to

in shipment volume.

Changes in our shipment volume vary by geographic area.
The following table shows our 2003 shipment volume by geographic
zone as well as the changes compared with 2002:

Analysis of Yolume - 2003 vs. 2002

Excluding
2003 Acquisitions
l R Volume % Change % Change
| A . - .
1
North America............... ! 45% (5%) (9%)
1
Burope ... “ 28% (8%) (8%)
Asia-Pacific/Middle East ... .... | 20% (5%) (5%)
Latin America................ 1 7% (2%) (29%)
b 1o0% (6%) (8%)

Excluding acquisitions, approximately half of the decline
in shipment volume was due to the loss of a portion of the business
associated with a major international customer and 16% of the decline
was due to a shift in our viscosity modifier product line from liquids
to higher-value concentrated solid form. All geographic zones were
affected by the loss of business with this customer and the viscosity
modifier shift, though the effects were mostly seen in North Ameri-
ca and Europe. In addition, weak worldwide demand for lubricants
negatively impacted volume for the year. We believe that the eco-
nomic and political conditions within certain countries of the Asia-
Pacific/Middle East region contributed to the volume decline in this
zone. See “Segment Analysis” below for additional explanations of
shipment volume changes by business segment and geographic zone
in 2003 compared with 2002.
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The 9% increase in average selling price was due to a 5% in-
crease in the combination of price and product mix and 4% favorable
currency effects. We combine the impact of price and product mix as
frequent product changes in our Lubricant Additives segment have
made it difficult to distinguish between the two components. Sequen-
tially, the fourth quarter 2003 average selling price was 3% higher than
the third quarter of 2003, due to favorable currency effects, and 6%
higher than the first quarter of 2003, due to favorable currency effects
and price increases implemented in the first half of the year.

ANALYSIS OF COSTS AND EXPENSES

Excluding
Acquisitions
s % $ Y%
ﬁnmﬂ 2003 2002 Change  Change Change Change
JEDe L i ange amee TTnec
Cost of sales . . .... $1,507.8  $1,4163 § 915 6%  $61.7 4%
Selling and
administrative
expenses. . . ... .. 202.9 196.9 60 3% 2.2 1%
Research, testing
and development
expenses.. ...... 166.9 168.3 (14) (1%) 290  (2%)
Amortization of
intangible assets. . 4.9 4.2 0.7 * 0.5 11%
Restructuring
charges......... 225 - 22.5 * 225 *
Total costs
7%

and expenses.... $1,905.0 §1,785.7  $119.3

$84.0 5%

* Calculation not meaningful

Cost of sales increased due to higher average raw material
cost and higher manufacturing expenses, partially offset by lower ship-
ment volume. Average raw material cost increased 9% in 2003 com-
pared with 2002, primarily due to 6% higher raw material costs and, to
a lesser extent, unfavorable currency effects. Raw material costs started
to increase in the second half of 2002 and continued to increase in the
first and third quarters of 2003. Sequentially, the fourth quarter 2003
average raw material cost increased 2% compared with the third quar-
ter and 7% compared with the first quarter, primarily due to higher
unit raw material costs driven by higher prices of crude oil and natural
gas and unfavorable currency effects.

Manufacturing expenses, which are included in cost of sales,
increased 14% (12% excluding acquisitions) in 2003 compared with
2002. The increase was due to unfavorable currency effects, acquisi-
tions, higher utility expenses and higher salary and benefit expenses,
partially offset by a reduction in variable pay expense. In addition,
total manufacturing expenses in 2003 included a $2.6 million reclas-
sification of expenses at certain subsidiaries of our Specialty Chemi-
cals segment that were charged in 2002 to selling and administrative
expenses or material costs.

Cost of sales in 2003 also included approximately $3.4 mil-
lion in manufacturing expenses to cover costs associated with two fires
that occurred during the second quarter of 2003. In April 2003, an
after-working-hours fire destroyed a metalworking additive blending
facility we leased in Detroit. There were no injuries, nor any dam-
age to a nearby warehouse where we stored finished goods. We were
able to supply customers from this warehouse and have permanently
shifted production to our Painesville, Ohio plant. In April 2003, a
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fire associated with a maintenance shutdown occurred in a dispersant
production unit at our plant in Le Havre, France. Again, there were
no injuries and we were able to continue to supply customers from
other facilities.

Excluding currency effects, acquisitions and the cost associ-
ated with the fires, consolidated manufacturing expense increased 5%
over 2002.

Gross profit decreased $22.7 million, or 4% ($35.8 million,
or 6%, excluding acquisitions), in 2003 compared with 2002. Our
gross profit percentage decreased to 26.4% in 2003 compared with
28.5% in 2002. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, our gross profit
percentage was 26.3% in 2003. These decreases primarily were due to
lower shipment volume, higher average raw material cost and higher
manufacturing expenses, partially offset by higher average selling price
and favorable net currency effects.

The selling and administrative expenses increase, excluding
acquisitions, was due to higher salary and benefit expenses and unfa-
vorable currency effects, partially offset by lower variable pay expense
and the reclassification to manufacturing expense of approximately
$1.1 million that was classified as selling and administrative expenses
in 2002.

The decrease in technology expenses was due to lower test-
ing activity at outside laboratories and a reduction in our variable pay
expense, partially offset by unfavorable currency effects and higher
salary and benefit expenses. In addition, technology expenses in 2003
included a write-down of $1.1 million related to a former technical
facility in Japan that we sold during the third quarter of 2003. During
2003, approximately 82% of our technology cost was incurred in com-
pany-owned facilities and approximately 18% was incurred at third-
party testing facilities, compared with approximately 78% and 22%,
respectively, in 2002. In 2003, we completed a development program
for GF4, the U.S. passenger car motor oil technical standard that
began in the second half of 2004.

The increased amortization expense in 2003 as compared
with 2002 primarily was due to the acquisition of the personal care
specialty ingredients business from Amerchol Corporation, a subsid-
iary of The Dow Chemical Company, in 2003.

In 2003, we recorded restructuring charges of $22.5 million,
with $0.29 per share, related to the separation of approximately 250
employees in the United States, Europe and India, comprising 5% of
our worldwide workforce. The components of the 2003 restructuring
charges are shown in the table below:

[ (In Millions of Dollars) us. Europe  India Total
Employee severance costs. ... .. ... $11.2 $4.6 $1.5 $173
Asset impairments .............. ' - 33 - 33
Other*...........oooviiit 1.6 03 - 19
Total restructuring charges. ... .... $12.8 $8.2 $1.5 $225

* Other costs primarily include outplacement costs

In November 2003, we announced workforce reductions
of approximately 150 employees primarily at our headquarters in
Wickliffe, Ohio, at our Deer Park and Bayport, Texas manufacturing
facilities and at our Hazelwood, United Kingdom technical facility.
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This resulted in a restructuring charge primarily for employee sever-
ance costs in both the United States and the United Kingdom. The
workforce reductions were completed prior to the end of 2003. The
charge for Europe also included costs associated with the restructuring
program announced in February 2003 for our Bromborough, United
Kingdom intermediate production and blending facility. We elimi-
nated some capacity at this facility and completed workforce reduc-
tions of 45 positions. An asset impairment charge of $3.3 million was
recorded at Bromborough for production units taken out of service.
The charge for Europe also included some severance-related costs for
the closing of a sales office in Scandinavia. The charge for India per-
tains to a voluntary separation program of approximately 55 employ-
ees at our joint venture in India.

The 2003 restructuring programs were undertaken to achieve
a more competitive cost structure, primarily within the Lubricant Ad-
ditives segment, and to help mitigate cost pressures from higher ener-
gy, pension, health care and insurance expenses. Approximately $5.0
million and $10.4 million of pre-tax savings were realized in 2003 and
2004, respectively, relating to these programs.
ANALYSIS OF OTHER ITEMS AND NET INCOME

Excluding
Acquisitions

%
(In Millions of Dollars)

$ %
| 2003 2002  Change Change

Other income i
'$33 $(12) $45 *

Change Change

i
|
i
i
i

(expense) - net. . ....... $ 40 *
Interest expense - net ...} 21.3 16.6 4.7 * 4.7 *
Income before income ‘

taxes and cumulative

effect of change in '

accounting principle .... 1291 1804  (51.3) (28%) (58.5) (32%)
Provision for income taxes . ‘ 383 541 (15.8) (29%) (17.9) (33%)
Income before cumulative

effect of change in ‘ |

accounting principle . ... © 90.8 1263  (35.5) (28%) (40.6) (32%)
Cumulative effect of

change in accounting ‘

principle .. ....oorn . - (78 78 ¢ 78 %

| .
Net income. ............ 908 1185 (277) (23%) (32.8) (28%) |
e ——— e i

* Calculation not meaningful

The favorable change in other income (expense) primarily
was due to an increase in currency translation gains.

Interest income decreased $2.9 million in 2003 compared
with 2002 as a result of lower interest rates. Interest expense increased
$1.8 million in 2003 compared with 2002, due to the absence of the
interest rate swap agreements that we utilized in 2002. In 2002, we had
swap agreements that reduced interest expense by approximately $4.2
million ($3.1 million impact from outstanding swaps and $1.1 million
amortization of deferred gain). We terminated the interest rate swap
agreements in 2002 and recorded a deferred gain, which is being am-
ortized as a reduction of interest expense through December 1, 2008.
Amortization of the deferred gain reduced interest expense in 2003 by
approximately $2.7 million.

Dhuring 2003, the U.S. dollar weakened against most curren-
cies, especially the euro. We believe the change in currency exchange
rates in 2003, as compared with 2002 exchange rates, had a favorable
effect on 2003 net income.

We had an effective tax rate of 29.7% in 2003 as compared
with 30.0% in 2002. The 2003 effective tax rate was lower than the
U.S. statutory rate of 35%, primarily due to significant nontaxable
translation gains at foreign subsidiaries utilizing a U.S. dollar func-
tional currency. The low effective tax rate in 2002 was due primarily to
a non-recurring U.S. tax benefit resulting from the charitable contri-
bution of technology, partially offset by nontaxable translation losses.

As a result of the factors described above, income per share,
basic before the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle
was $1.76 in 2003 compared with $2.45 in 2002. The restructuring
charges reduced earnings in 2003 by $0.29 per share,

During the first half of 2002, we completed the impairment
analysis required pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
which we adopted on January 1, 2002. There was no impairment in
the Specialty Chemicals segment. However, for the Lubricant Addi-
tives segment, we recorded an impairment charge of $7.8 million. The
charge was recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle as of January 1, 2002. There was no tax benefit associated
with this charge.

After adjustment for the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle from the implementation of SFAS No. 142 in
2002, net income per share, basic was $1.76 in 2003 compared with
$2.30 for 2002.

Segment Analysis

We primarily evaluate performance and allocate resources based on
segment operating income, defined as revenues less expenses iden-
tifiable to the product lines included within each segment, as well as
projected future returns. Segment operating income will reconcile to
consolidated income before tax by deducting the write-off of acquired
IPR&D projects, restructuring charges, net interest expense, corpo-
rate expenses and corporate other income that we do not attribute to
either operating segment.

During 2004, we reclassified certain unallocated corpo-
rate expenses to segment operating income, which previously had
been excluded from our previously disclosed segment contribution
income. We have restated our segment results for 2003 and 2002 to
reflect the new reporting classifications of products between the two
operating and reporting segments and the new definition of segment
operating income.

The Lubricant Additives segment represents approximately
65% and 74% of our consolidated revenues and segment operating
income, respectively, for 2004. The Specialty Chemicals segment
represents approximately 35% and 26% of our consolidated revenues
and segment operating income, respectively, for 2004. On a pro forma
basis, the Lubricant Additives segment represents approximately 55%
and 62% of our pro forma consolidated revenues and pro forma seg-
ment operating income, respectively, for 2004. The Specialty Chemi-
cals segment represents approximately 45% and 38% of our consoli-
dated pro forma revenues and pro forma segment operating income,
respectively, for 2004.
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OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATICNS

OPERATING RESULTS BY SEGMENT

AN

2004 vs. 2003 200315._2002
Excluding Acquisitions
r (In Milfions of Dollars) { 2004 2003 2002 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
REVENUES:
Lubricant Additives .............. $2,038.8 $1,798.9 $1,798.2 $ 2399 13% $239.9 13% $ 07 -
Specialty Chemicals . .......... ... 1,120.7 2532 185.7 867.5 343% _3}—9 13% _622 36%
Total.....oooooiil $3,159.5 $2,052.1 $1,983.9 $1,107.4 54% _$Zl§ 13% _&2_ 3%
GROSS PROFIT:
Lubricant Additives .............. § 5200 § 4812 $§ 5150 § 388 8% § 388 8% $(33.8) {7%j
Specialty Chemicals .. ............ 276.1 60.1 49.0 216.0 359% 59 10% 1l 23%
Total. ...l $ 796.1 $ 5413 $ 564.0 $ 2548 47% w 8% M) (4%)
SEGMENT OPERATING INCOME:
Lubricant Additives . ............. § 2443 $ 2015 $ 2352 § 428 21% 42.8 21% $(33.7) (14%)
Specialty Chemicals . ............. 85.6 0.9 0.4 84.7 » 62 * o5 *
Total. ... $ 3299 $ 2024 $ 2356 $ 1275 63% w_o 24% $£3_%) (14%)

* Calculation not meaningful

LUBRICANT ADDITIVES SEGMENT Segment revenues increased
13% in 2004 compared to 2003, due to 7% higher volume and 6%
higher average selling price, approximately one-half of which was due
to favorable currency.

Shipment volume patterns vary in different geographic
zones. The following table shows our shipment volume by geographic
zone in 2004 as well as the changes compared with 2003:

Anzlysis of Volume — 2004 vs. 2003

|_ V(leol?l‘:le % Change
North America..................o... .. 41% 4%
Europe ... ..o 30% 8%
Asia-Pacific/Middle East . ................. 23% 16%
Latin America. .......ovouivninnninnn... 6% (9%)
Total. ... i LO% 7%

The shipment volume increase in North America in 2004
compared with 2003 primarily resulted from increases in our spe-
cialty driveline and industrial oil additives product line and in our
PuriNOx™ emulsion fuels products, which more than offset a modest
decline in the engine additives product line due to lost business. High-
er shipment volume in Europe in 2004 compared with 2003 primarily
was due to increases in our engine additives product line and market
share gains in our specialty driveline and industrial oil additives prod-
uct line. The shipment volume increase in Asia-Pacific/Middle East in
2004 compared with 2003 primarily was due to economic recovery in
the region, market share gains in China primarily in our engine addi-
tives and specialty driveline and industrial oil additives product lines,
along with favorable timing of orders. The decrease in Latin America
in 2004 compared with 2003 substantially was due to some lost busi-
ness primarily within our engine additives product line and changes in
order pattern for a major customer in that region.
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The Lubricant Additives segment implemented a price
increase in March 2004 for products sourced from North American
plants and in the second quarter 2004 for products sourced from Asia-
Pacific/Middle East and Latin America. A second price increase was
implemented beginning in mid-June for products sourced from North
America and beginning in mid-July for targeted areas outside North
America. A third price increase began in October 2004 for products
sourced from North America and Europe and in November 2004 for
the rest of the world. We announced a fourth price increase effective
beginning in mid-December 2004 for products sourced from North
America and Europe and beginning in mid-January 2005 for the rest
of the world. The announced price increases were in response to con-
tinuing raw material cost increases, particularly during the second half
of the year, and higher prices for natural gas used for utilities in our
plants. We anticipate raw material costs will increase in the first quar-
ter of 2005 as compared to the fourth quarter of 2004, but at a lower
rate than the level of increases experienced in the fourth quarter of
2004 as compared to the third quarter of 2004.

Segment gross profit is defined as sales less cost of sales,
which includes material cost and all manufacturing expenses. The in-
crease in segment gross profit of $38.8 million, or 8%, in 2004 com-
pared with 2003, primarily was due to higher revenues partially offset
by higher average raw material cost and higher manufacturing expens-
es. In 2004, average material cost increased 11% and manufacturing
expenses increased 8% compared with 2003. The increase in manu-
facturing expenses primarily was due to unfavorable currency, higher
manufacturing throughput, environmental accruals, higher utilities
and higher compensation expense including increased variable pay.

The gross profit percentage for the segment was 25.5% for
2004 compared with 26.8% in 2003. The decrease primarily was due to
raw material costs increasing faster than selling price increases.
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Selling, technical, administrative and research (STAR) ex-
penses decreased $3.2 million, or 1%, in 2004 compared with 2003,
primarily due to lower outside testing expenses as a result of higher
utilization of our internal testing facilities and the effects of the reduc-
tions in workforce discussed previously, partially offset by a $3.9 mil-
lion charge related to an employee offsite personal injury along with
higher incentive compensation expense.

Segment operating income (revenues less expenses attribut-
able to the product lines aggregated within each segment) increased 21%
in 2004 compared with 2003 due to the factors previously discussed.

Segment revenues were flat in 2003 compared with 2002
due to an 8% decrease in shipment volume partially offset by a 7%
increase in average selling price. The increase in average selling price
in 2003 primarily was due to favorable currency effects of 5% and the
remainder was due to higher prices and favorable product mix.

Lubricant Additives implemented a price increase in De-
cember 2002 for the North America zone and in January 2003 for
the rest of the world. A second price increase was implemented in
late March 2003 for North America and in late April for Asia-Pacific/
Middle East and Latin America as well as for select products in Eu-
rope. This price increase was designed to address the continuing rise in
raw material costs and natural gas-fired utility costs that had occurred
since the last price increase in the fourth quarter of 2002.

The following table shows the changes in shipment volume
by geographic zone in 2003 as well as the changes compared with 2002:

Analysis of Volume — 2003 vs. 2002

2003
L Volume % Change

North AMEnica - ... oo oo ‘ 42% %y !
Europe ... ‘ 30% (9%) ;
Asia-Pacific/Middle East .. ................ : 21% (6%) E
Latin AMERCA. « ..\ e e eeee e ! 7% Qw
Total oot L 100% (8%) [;

J

Approximately half of the total shipment volume decline in
2003 was due to business losses associated with a major international
customer. Lower unit sales of viscosity modifiers products in 2003 also
contributed to the decline, principally caused by a shift from liquid
polymers to solid polymers. Generally, solids are one-tenth the vol-
ume of liquids. Excluding this shift in our viscosity modifier product
line, total shipment volume decreased 7% in 2003. The shift had no
impact on gross profit dollars. All geographic zones were affected by
the loss of business with this customer and the viscosity modifier shift,
though the effects were mostly seen in North America and Europe.
The declines in North America for 2003 also were due to the conver-
sion of some products in our specialty driveline product line to more
concentrated formulations. In addition, weak worldwide demand for
lubricants contributed to the declines in the North America and Eu-
rope zones in 2003. The decrease in Asia-Pacific/ Middle East volume
primarily was due to the weak business environment stemming from
economic and political conditions in some parts of this region.

Segment gross profit decreased $33.8 million, or 7%, in
2003 compared with 2002. The decrease primarily was due to lower
shipment volume, higher average raw material cost and higher manu-
facturing expenses, partially offset by higher average selling price and
favorable net currency effects. For these reasons, the gross profit per-
centage for this segment decreased to 26.8% in 2003, compared with
28.7% in 2002.

STAR expense decreased $2.9 million, or 1%, in 2003 com-
pared with 2002, primarily due to lower technical spending at outside
test laboratories.

Segment operating income decreased $33.7 million, or
14%, in 2003 compared with 2002 as a result of lower gross profit and
lower equity earnings from our joint venture in Saudi Arabia, partially
offset by lower technology expenses.

SPECIALTY CHEMICALS SEGMENT In 2004, revenues for the
Specialty Chemicals segment increased 343% compared with 2003
primarily due to the 2004 acquisitions of Noveon International and
the hyperdispersants business and the 2003 acquisition of the per-
sonal care specialty ingredients business from The Dow Chemical
Company. Excluding acquisitions, segment revenues increased 13%
in 2004 compared with 2003 due to a 7% increase in shipment vol-
ume, 4% improvement in the combination of price and product mix
and 2% favorable currency impact. The higher-priced product mix for
2004 primarily occurred in our consumer specialties product line.

Shipment volume patterns vary in different geographic
zones. The following table shows our shipment volume by geographic
zone in 2004 as well as the changes compared with 2003:

Analysis of Yolume ~ 2004 vs. 2803

Excluding
2004 Acquisitions
___________ Volume % Change % Change }
North America.................. 71% 173% 6%
Europe ... 16% 231% 13%
Asia-Pacific/Middle East .......... 9% 825% 21%
Latin America................... 4% 184% 8%
Total.....oooo % 201% 7%

Excluding acquisitions, the shipment volume increase in
North America for 2004 was due to increases in our specialty emulsi-
fier products in our consumer specialties product line resulting from
market share gains and improvements in the mining sector, and in-
creased customer demand and market share gains in our personal care
products in our consumer specialties product line. The increase in
Europe was due to increased customer demand and market share gains
in our performance coatings product line and new business in our spe-
cialty emulsifier products. The increase in Asia-Pacific/Middle East
was due to market share gains in our consumer specialties product line
and higher shipment volumes in our performance coatings product
line as some approvals we have obtained in the United States and
Europe have been extended by our customers into Asia.
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Segment gross profit increased $216.0 million, or 359%
(increased $5.9 million, or 10%, excluding acquisitions), in 2004 com-
pared with 2003. Excluding acquisitions, the increase in segment gross
profit in 2004 was due to higher revenues partially offset by higher
material costs and manufacturing expenses. Average material cost
increased 9% in 2004 compared with 2003. Manufacturing expenses
increased 5% in 2004 compared with 2003, however average unit manu-
facturing expense decreased 2% due to the higher shipment volumes.

The gross profit percentage for this segment was 24.7%
(23.2% excluding acquisitions) in 2004, compared with 23.8% in
2003. The decrease in gross profit percentage excluding acquisitions
was due to higher raw material costs that were only partially offset
by an improvement in the combination of price and product mix
and lower average unit manufacturing expense. We implemented price
increases across most of the businesses during the year in response to
the rising raw material costs.

STAR expenses increased $118.3 million, or 205%, in 2004
(decreased $2.3 million, or 4%, excluding acquisitions), compared
with 2003.

Segment operating income increased $84.7 million in 2004
(increased $6.2 million, excluding acquisitions) compared with a
profit of $0.9 million in 2003. Excluding acquisitions, the increase in
segment operating profit primarily was due to the increase in segment
gross profit.

In 2003, segment revenues increased $67.5 million, or 36%
(826.7 million, or 14%, excluding acquisitions), compared with 2002.
The acquisition-related increase primarily was due to the 2002 acquisi-
tions of Dock Resins Corporation and Chemron Corporation and the
2003 acquisition of a personal care ingredients business. The 2003
increase in segment revenues, excluding acquisitions, was due to a
9% increase in shipment volume along with a 4% favorable currency
impact and 1% stronger price and product mix.

The following table shows our shipment volume by geo-
graphic zone in 2003 as well as the changes compared with 2002:
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Excluding
2003 Acquisitions

L Volume

North America.................. 78% 36% 7%
Europe ... 14% 16% 14%
Asia-Pacific/Middle East . ......... 3% 31% 26%
Latin America.............oovn 5% 16% 16%
Total..........co it 100% 31% 9%

The 2003 shipment volume increase in North America
primarily was due to the 2002 acquisitions of Chemron and Dock
Resins and the 2003 acquisition of a personal care ingredients busi-
ness. Excluding acquisitions, the increase in North America in 2003
was due to market share gains in our consumer specialties product
line along with increases in our performance coatings product line
from the introduction of new products. The increase in Europe in
2003 primarily was due to market share gains and new applications in
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our specialty monomers products. The increase in 2003 for the Asia-
Pacific/Middle East zone was spread across many product lines and
was due to an increasing focus in this region leading to new business
in most of our businesses. The increase in Latin America in 2003 was
due to a shift from North America to Latin America of our specialty
emulsifiers products with some of our existing customers, along with
some business gains in our coatings and inks, defoamer and specialty
monomers products.

Segment gross profit increased $11.1 million, or 23%
(decreased $2.0 million, or 4%, excluding acquisitions), in 2003 com-
pared with 2002. Excluding acquisitions, the decrease in segment gross
profit in 2003 was due to higher manufacturing expenses and average
raw material cost partially offset by higher shipment volume and high-
er average selling price due to favorable currency effects. The increase
in manufacturing expenses was due to higher shipment volume, $2.4
million in expenses associated with the integration of a multi-purpose
chemical production facility in Spartanburg, South Carolina that was
purchased in the second quarter of 2003, and higher manufacturing
overhead for some specialty chemicals products produced at Lubri-
cant Additives facilities as a result of unusually low Lubricant Addi-
tives volumes in 2003. The gross profit percentage for this segment
was 23.6% in 2003, compared with 26.4% in 2002. The decrease in the
gross profit percentage in 2003 was due to higher raw material costs
and increased manufacturing expenses.

Segment operating income increased $0.5 million (de-
creased $6.7 million excluding acquisitions), in 2003 compared with
2002. Excluding acquisitions, the decrease primarily was due to lower
gross profit, higher direct technology and selling expenses and higher
amortization expenses of intangibles that resulted from acquisitions.
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The following table presents major components of and information
derived from the pro forma consolidated statements of income and
pro forma consolidated statements of cash flows. The major compo-
nents of the pro forma consolidated statements of income and pro
forma consolidated statements of cash flows reflect the effect of the
acquisition of Noveon International on June 3, 2004 as if the acquisi-
tion occurred at the beginning of each of the periods reflected in the
table. We believe that this data provides the financial statement reader
with information that is useful in understanding the impact of the
acquisition of Noveon International on our results of operations and
cash flows.

The components of and information derived from the pro
forma consolidated statements of income and the pro forma consoli-
dated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 are derived from our consolidated financial statements for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the unaudited con-
solidated financial statements of Noveon International for the period
from January 1, 2004 to the acquisition date.
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Our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004
reflects the acquisition of Noveon International under the purchase
method of accounting. We recorded the various assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, primarily working capital accounts, of Noveon
International at their estimated fair values that we determined as of
the acquisition date. The allocation of the purchase price has not yet
been finalized, but is substantially complete, as of December 31, 2004.
While we do not expect any material changes, the purchase price al-
location remains subject to revision through the end of the allocation
period ending in the second quarter of 2005. Actuarial valuations were
completed for the projected pension and other post-employment ben-
efit obligations and were reflected in the purchase price allocation. In
addition, appraisals of long-lived assets and identifiable intangible as-
sets, including an evaluation of IPR&D projects, have also been com-
pleted.

The pro forma data gives effect to actual operating results
of Noveon International prior to the acquisition. Adjustments to cost
of sales for the inventory step-up charge of $9.8 million, the write-off
of acquired IPR&D of $34.0 million and intangible asset amortization
are reflected in the pro forma data for each period in the table. The en-
tire inventory step-up charge is attributable to the Specialty Chemicals
segment and is reflected in each pro forma period of the table. In the
fourth quarter of 2004, we reflected a reduction in our long-lived assets
as a result of the completion of appraisals of these Noveon Interna-
tional assets. In the fourth quarter, we recognized a $4.4 million reduc-
tion in depreciation expense for the period from the acquisition date
to December 31, 2004 to reflect changes in estimated fair values and as-
set lives for the long-lived assets. In the pro forma data for each period
in the table, these changes in estimates resulted in a reduction of $7.5
million of depreciation expense in each year. We also assumed that
the bridge loan was replaced with the permanent long-term financing,
consisting of both debt and equity, at the end of the fourth month of
each period presented. This pro forma data is consistent with the pro
forma data that is disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. These
pro forma amounts are presented for informational purposes only and
do not purport to be indicative of the results that would have actually
been obtained if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of
the periods presented or that may be obtained in the future.

PRO FORMA DATA

i

| in Millions of Doltars) 2004 2003
COMSOLIDATED PRO FORMA DATA
Totalrevenues. . ..........ocoviivenn... $3,697.1 $3,182.2
Gross profit. . ... $ 9524 $ 843.8
Income before income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle ... ... ... L $ 1729 § 9.6
Income before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle .......... $ 1106 $ 662
Depreciation expense ................... $ 166.4 $ 1643
Amortization of intangible assets .. ........ $ 250 § 216
Capital expenditures . .............coeens $ 1562 $ 1450
SEGMENT PRO FORMA DATA
Lubricant Additives segment:
Total revenues ....................... $2,038.8 $1,798.9
Gross profit .. ..oovet i $ 5200 $ 4812
Segment operating income. . ............ § 2443 $ 2015
Depreciation expense. . ................ $ 868 § 850
Amortization of intangible assets. . .. .. ... $ 30 $ 30
Capital expenditures .................. $ 830 $ 739
Specialty Chemicals segment:
Total revenues .. .......oovverninnnnens $1,658.3 $1,383.3
Gross profit .. ..ovvrvreriiiiiiiecn $ 4324 § 362.6
Segment operating income. . ............ § 1525 $ 106.8
Depreciation expense. . ................ $ 786 § 782
Amortization of intangible assets. .. ...... $ 220 $ 186
Capital expenditures .................. $ 731 $ 711
Unallocated corporate
depreciation expense . ................. $§ 10 $ 1l
Corporate capital expenditures............ § 01 $ -
RECONCILIATION OF PRO FORMA SEGMENT
OPERATING INCOME TO PRO FORMA INCOME
BEFORE {NCOME TAXES AND CUMULATIVE EFFECT
0F CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE
Pro forma segment operating income:
Lubricant Additives ... ................ § 2443 § 2015
Specialty Chemicals............... ... 152.5 106.8
Total segment operating income. . .. . ... 396.8 308.3
Corporate eXpenses. .. ......ocoureiaars .. (44.1) (33.6)
Corporate other income .. ............... 5.7 4.1
Write-off of acquired in-process research
and development..................... (34.0) (34.0)
Restructuring charges . ............... ... 41.9) (35.7)
Interest expense —net .. ..., _{109.6) _(_1_1&9
Pro forma income before income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle . ..., .. .o $ 1729 $ 966
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OF FIXAXCIAL CONDITICY AND RESULTS OF CPERATIONS
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Retun on Averags Sharenolders’ Eguity

Return on average shareholders’ equity was 7.6% in 2004, 10.0% in
2003 and 14.4% in 2002 (15.4% in 2002, excluding the cumulative
effect of the change in accounting principle in 2002). The return on
average shareholders’ equity is calculated as current year net income

divided by the average of year-end shareholders’ equity for the cur-
rent and prior year. The write-off of acquired IPR&D in 2004 and the
restructuring charges in 2004 and 2003 lowered the return on average
shareholders’ equity by approximately 3.5% and 1.6% in 2004 and
2003, respectively.

tﬂ- 2003
Cash and short-term investments i
(in millions of dollars). .. ..............ts ‘ $335.9 $258.7
Working capital (in millions of dollars) . ... ... ‘ 940.7 638.4
Currentratio. . .........o i 2.4 3.1
Debt as a % of capitalization ............... 56.2% 29.0%
Net debt as a % of capitalization . ........... 51.6% 11.0%
Number of days sales in receivables.......... 52.8 54.1
Number of days sales in inventories. .. ....... 86.8 89.4

The following table summarizes the major components of
cash flow:

SUMMARY OF CASH FL.CWS

| (nMillions of Dollars) | 2004 2003 2002
Cash provided from (used in}):
Operating activities ........... $ 3282 $194.8 $244.9
Investing activities. . ... ... .. {1,088.8) (155.9) (148.5)
Financing activities . ........... 811.9 (59.5) (30.4)
Effect of exchange-rate changes
oncash .........oooiiiiit. 259 12.9 113
Net increase (decrease) in cash and
short-term investments ... ...... $ 772 $ @7 $ 773

OPERATING ACTIVYITIZS The increase in cash provided by operat-
ing activities in 2004 compared with 2003 primarily was due to an
increase in earnings after adjusting for non-cash items. The increase
in earnings was offset partially by a working capital build-up in ac-
counts receivable, which used cash of $38.4 million. Our receivables
increased by $258.2 million compared with 2003, primarily due to the
Noveon International and hyperdispersants acquisitions. The increase
in inventory used cash of $50.0 million primarily due to increased
material costs and a higher weighting to finished goods and products
in-process inventories, as well as some build-up of strategic inventory
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stocks at December 31, 2004. The increase in inventories was offset
by a similar increase in accounts payable and an increase in accrued
expenses for employee compensation accruals.

We manage our levels of inventories and accounts receiv-
ables on the basis of average days sales in inventory and average days
sales in receivables, respectively. Qur target for accounts receivable is
established taking into consideration the weighted average of our vari-
ous terms of trade for each segment. Qur target for days sales in inven-
tory for each segment is established with the goal of minimizing our
investment in inventories while at the same time ensuring adequate
supply for our customers. [n 2004, we outperformed our receivables
targets and achieved our inventory targets.

an

[WYESTING AZTIVITIES Our capital expenditures in 2004 were
$133.2 million, as compared with $88.5 million and $65.3 million in
2003 and 2002, respectively. The 2004 expenditures include approxi-
mately $41.1 million for the newly acquired Noveon International
business.

In June 2004, we completed the acquisition of Noveon
International for cash of $920.2 million plus transaction costs of $11.4
million and less cash acquired of $103.0 million.

In January 2004, we completed the acquisition of the hyper-
dispersants business of Avecia for cash totaling $129.7 million. This
additives business is headquartered in Blackley, United Kingdom
and develops, manufactures and markets high-value additives that
are based on polymeric dispersion technology and used in coatings
and inks. These products enrich and strengthen color while reducing
production costs and solvent emissions, and are marketed under the
brand names Solsperse® Solplus® and Solthix® Historical annual rev-
enues of this business are approximately $50.0 million. We funded the
acquisition through €43.0 million borrowings ($55.0 million equivalent)
under a 364-day credit facility, $5.0 million in yen borrowings and the
remainder in cash. At December 31, 2003, we had a foreign currency
forward contract of $125.0 million in order to fix the U.S. dollar price
for this acquisition. In the first quarter of 2004, we recorded a pre-tax
gain of $6.4 million ($0.07 per share) upon the termination of this
foreign currency forward contract.

FINANCING ACTIVIVIZES The increase in cash provided from
financing activities of $811.9 million in 2004 primarily was due to
the aggregate net proceeds of $2,170.0 million received relating to the
issuance of 14.7 million of the company’s common shares, $1,150.0
million in unsecured senior notes and debentures and a $575.0 mil-
lion bank term loan, which were used to repay the temporary bridge
loan that funded the Noveon International acquisition including the
repayment of $1,103.1 million in assumed debt.

CAPITALIZATION AND CRECIT FACZILITIZS At December 31,
2004, our total debt outstanding of $1,972.3 million consisted of 54%
fixed-rate debt and 46% variable-rate debt, including $400.0 million
of fixed-rate debt, that has been effectively swapped to a variable
rate. Our weighted-average interest rate as of December 31, 2004 was
approximately 5%.
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Our net debt to capitalization ratio at December 31, 2004
was 51.6%. Net debt is the total of short-term and long-term debt,
reduced by cash and short-term investments excluding original issue
discounts and unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments
designated as fair-value hedges of fixed-rate debt. Capitalization is
shareholders’ equity plus net debt. Total debt as a percent of capital-
ization was 56.2% at December 31, 2004.

Our ratio of current assets to current liabilities declined
from 3.1 at December 31, 2003 to 2.4 at December 31, 2004 due to
the Noveon International and hyperdispersants acquisitions.

After the announcement of the Noveon International
acquisition, our long-term debt and commercial paper credit ratings
were downgraded. The credit rating change eliminated our access to
the commercial paper markets. As a result, we repaid our outstanding
commercial paper and terminated our existing floating-to-fixed rate in-
terest rate swaps with a notional value of $50.0 million effective April
29, 2004. The termination of the swaps resulted in a $2.9 million
pre-tax charge that was recognized in the second quarter of 2004.
In addition, we called the outstanding $18.4 million marine terminal
refunding revenue bonds, at par, in the second quarter of 2004.

At December 31, 2004, we had a $500.0 million revolving
credit facility that matures in August 2009, which allows us to borrow
at variable rates based upon the U.S. prime rate or LIBOR plus a speci-
fied credit spread. As of December 31, 2004, we had no outstanding
borrowings under this agreement.

In May 2004, we obtained a 364-day bridge credit facility
of $2,450.0 million for the purpose of financing the Noveon Interna-
tional acquisition. This temporary bridge facility enabled us to borrow
at or below the U.S. prime rate. In June 2004, we borrowed $1,797.0
million under this facility to finance initially the Noveon International
acquisition and repay a portion of the assumed Noveon International
debt. In addition, in July 2004, we borrowed an additional $175.0 mil-
lion under this facility to repay the outstanding notes also assumed as
part of the Noveon International acquisition. On September 28, 2004,
we repaid the bridge facility in full with proceeds from our permanent
financing structure and the facility was cancelled. The equity compo-
nent of our permanent financing included the issuance of 14.7 million
common shares: 13.4 million shares on September 28, 2004 and an
additional 1.3 million shares issued related to the exercise of the over-
allotment option on October 27, 2004. The shares were issued at a
price of $33.25 per share, resulting in net proceeds to the company of
$470.0 million. The debt component of the financing included both
public debt and bank term loans. We issued unsecured senior notes
and debentures having an aggregate principal amount of $1,150.0 mil-
lion and borrowed $575.0 million in bank term loans. In the fourth
quarter of 2004, we prepaid $75.0 million in bank term loans.

In June 2004, we entered into several Treasury rate lock
agreements with an aggregate notional principal amount of $900.0
million, all maturing on September 30, 2004, whereby we had locked
in Treasury rates relating to a portion of the then anticipated pub-
lic debt securities issuance discussed above. These rate locks were
designated as cash-flow hedges of the forecasted semi-annual interest
payments associated with the expected debt issuance. In September

2004, we incurred a loss on the termination of these agreements in
an aggregate amount of $73.9 million, which was funded through a
portion of the financing proceeds, and is being amortized to interest
expense over the life of the corresponding debt using the effective
interest method.

CONTRACTUAL CASH OBLIGATICNS The following table shows
our contractual cash obligations under debt agreements, leases, non-
cancelable purchase commitments and other long-term liabilities
at December 31, 2004:

Payments Due by Period
2006- 2008~ 2010 and
! (In Millions of Dollars) | Total 2005 2007 2009 After

Total debt® ., ...... $1,965.1 $ 82 $102.6 $1,0027 $ 8516
Interest®. .......... 1,120.8 81.9 163.6 151.7 723.6
Operating leases . . . . . 75.4 219 263 12.8 14.4
Non-cancelable

purchase

commitments®. ... 137.4 376 56.7 40.9 22
Other long-term

liabilities®® ... ... 443 13 16.9 7.5 18.4
Total contractual

cash obligations. ... | $3,343.0 S$151.1 $366.1 §1,2156  $1,610.2

(1) Total debt includes both the current and long-term portions of debt as reported in
Note 6 to the consolidaied financial statements, excluding original issue discounts
and unrealized gains on derfvative instruments designated as fair-value hedges of
Sfixed-rate debt.

(2) Represents estimated contractual interest payments for fixed-rate debt only. We are
not able to estimate reasonably the cash payments for interest associated with
variable-rate debt due to the significant estimation required relating to both market
tnterest rates as well as projected principal payments.

(3) Non-cancelable purchase commitments primarily include raw materials purchased
under take-or-pay contracts, drumming, warehousing and service contracts, utility
purchase agreements, terminal agreements and toll processing arrangements,

(4) Other long-term liabilities disclosed in the table represent long-term liabilities
reported in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2004 under “noncur-
rent liabilities,” excluding pension, postretirement, environmental and other non-
contractual liabilities.

(5) We are required to make minimum contributions to our U.S. defined benefit pen-
ston plans pursuant to the minimum funding requirements of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, as amended. Funding requirements for plans outside the United States
are subject to applicable local regulations. In 2005, we expect to make employer
contributions of approximately $28.7 million to the qualified plans to satisfy these
minimum statutory funding requirements. In 2005, we expect to make payments of
approximately $2.2 million relating to our unfunded pension plans. The expected
payments assoctated with the unfunded plans represent an actuarial estimate of

[future assumed payments based upon retirement and payment patterns. Actual
amounts paid could differ from this estimate. In addition, non-pension postretire-
ment benefit payments are expected 1o approximate $4.9 million in 2005, Due
to uncertainties regarding significant assumpltions involved in estimating future
required contributions to our defined benefit pension and other plans, such as inter-
est rate levels, the amount and timing of asset returns and future restructurings, if’
any, twe are not able to reasonably estimate our contributions beyond 2005.

In addition, we have contingent obligations aggregating
$33.4 million under standby letters of credit issued in the ordinary
course of business to financial institutions, customers and insurance
companies to secure short-term support for a variety of commercial
transactions, insurance and benefit programs.
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OF ZINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF CPERATIONS

We had $1,972.3 million of debt outstanding at Decem-
ber 31, 2004, a majority of which originated from our acquisition of
Noveon International, including the $1,150.0 million in senior notes
and debentures issued in September 2004. As a result, our total debt
as a percent of capitalization has increased from 29.0% at December
31, 2003 to 56.2% at December 31, 2004. We will also incur increased
interest expense relating to the permanent Noveon International
transaction financing. Our debt level will require us to dedicate a
significant portion of our cash flow to make interest and principal
payments, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow for acqui-
sitions or other purposes. Nevertheless, we believe our future operat-
ing cash flows will be sufficient to cover our debt repayments and
other obligations and that we have untapped borrowing capacity that
can provide us with additional financial resources. We currently have
a shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission under which $359.8 million of debt securities, preferred
shares or common shares may be issued. In addition, as of December
31, 2004, we maintained cash and short-term investment balances of
$335.9 million and had $500.0 million available under our revolving
credit facility.
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The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in ac-
cordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires us to make judgments, assumptions and
estimates at a specific point in time that affect the amounts reported
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and related
notes. In preparing these financial statements, we have utilized avail-
able information including our past history, industry standards and
the current economic environment, among other factors, in forming
our estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the con-
solidated financial statements, giving due consideration to materiality.
It is possible that the ultimate outcome as anticipated by management
in formulating our estimates inherent in these financial statements
may not materialize. Application of the critical accounting policies
described below involves the exercise of judgment and the use of
assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results
could differ from these estimates. In addition, other companies may
utilize different estimates, which may impact the comparability of our
results of operations to similar businesses.
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Our accounting policies for reserves and contingencies cover a wide
variety of business activities, including reserves for potentially un-
collectible receivables, slow-moving or obsolete inventory, legal and
environmental exposures and tax exposures. We accrue these reserves
when our assessments indicate that it is probable that a lability has
been incurred or an asset will not be recovered and an amount can
be reasonably estimated. We review these estimates quarterly based
on currently available information. Actual results may differ from
our estimates and our estimates may be revised upward or downward,
depending upon the outcome or changed expectations based on the
facts surrounding each exposure. We discuss annually with the audit
committee of our board of directors our reserves and contingencies, as
well as our policies and processes for evaluating them.
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ACCOUNTING FOR SALES DISCOUXNTS AND REBATES
Sales discounts and rebates are offered to certain customers to pro-
mote customer loyalty and to encourage greater product sales. These
rebate programs provide that upon the attainment of pre-established
volumes or the attainment of revenue milestones for a specified
period, the customer receives credits against purchases. We estimate the
provision for rebates based upon the specific terms in each agreement
at the time of shipment and an estimate of the customer’s achievement
of the respective revenue milestones. Customer claims, returns and
allowances and discounts are accrued based upon our history of claims
and sales returns and allowances. The estimated provisions could be
significantly affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these
assumptions and historical trends.

OFTERMINATION COF XNET PERICEIC PENSIDN CO087
Each year we review with our actuaries the actuarial assumptions used

in the determination of net periodic pension cost, as prescribed by
SFAS No. 87, “Employers Accounting for Pensions.”
tion of net periodic pension cost is based upon a number of actuarial

The determina-

assumptions. The two critical assumptions are the expected return on
plan assets and the discount rate for determining the funded status.
Other assumptions include the rate of compensation increase and
demographic factors such as retirement age, mortality and turnover. We
review the critical assumptions for our U.S. pension plans with the
audit committee of our board of directors. Our net periodic pension
cost for all pension plans was $34.9 million in 2004, $14.1 million in
2003 and $8.4 million in 2002. The net periodic pension cost includes
a settlement loss of $7.7 million and $0.3 million in 2004 and 2003,
respectively. In accordance with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples, actual results that differ from the assumptions are accumulated
and amortized over future periods and, therefore, affect expense rec-
ognized and obligations recorded in future periods.

In developing our assumption for the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets, we considered historical returns and the
future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the tar-
get asset allocation of the pension portfolio. During 2004, we main-
tained our assumption for the U.S. pension plans of 9.0% (7.82% on a
weighted-average basis for all plans) because we believed that it repre-
sented a reasonable return that could be achieved over the long term
using our current asset allocation. We did not substantially change
our investment philosophy or investment mix of the asset portfolio in
any of our Lubrizol plans existing prior to the Noveon International
acquisition (legacy Lubrizol plans) in 2004. From the date of acquisi-
tion through the end of December, the Noveon International U.S.
pension plans’ assets had an investment mix that approximated 50%
in both equity and debt securities, as compared to the legacy Lubrizol
U.S. pension plan target allocation of approximately 70% in equity
securities and 30% in debt securities. However, in January 2005, we
transferred the Noveon International U.S. pension assets into one
master-trust arrangement with our existing U.S. pension plans. As a
result, the combined assets will be subject to the same overall invest-
ment strategy and management going forward.
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A change in the rate of return of 100 basis points would
have the following effects on the net periodic pension cost:

Effect on net periodic pension cost from
change in the rate of return

100 Basis Point
i (In Millions of Dollars) j ‘____IEEI:C_ESL . DecEasc
US.pensionplans .....................L. ? $(1.9) $1.9
International pension plans . ............... l (14 14
Allpensionplans ............. ... ... 3.3) —;

The selection of a discount rate for pension plans is
required to determine the value of future pension obligations and rep-
resents our best estimate of our cost in the marketplace to settle all
pension obligations through annuity purchases. Historically, we have
determined the discount rate based upon current market indicators,
including rates of return on Aa-rated corporate bonds or on long-term
U.S. Treasury obligations. However, in 2004, we further refined this
discount rate setting process by also looking at yields from dedicated
bond portfolios that provide for a general matching of bond maturi-
ties with the projected benefit cash flows from our plans. The dedi-
cated bond portfolios consist of non-callable corporate bonds that are
at least Aa quality. Under this enhanced approach, the 2004 year-end
discount rate assumption for our legacy Lubrizol U.S. pension plans
was set at 6.25%, which remains unchanged from our 2003 year-end
assumption. The Noveon International U.S. pension plans utilized a
discount rate of 6.00% at December 31, 2004. On a worldwide basis,
the 2004 weighted-average discount rate utilized was lowered to 5.74%
from 5.88% used in 2003. A change in the discount rate of 100 basis points
would have the following effects on the net periodic pension cost:

Effect on net periodic pension cost from

change in the discount rate
160 Basis Point

| (1 Millions of l;:llars) 1 Increase Decrease
|
US.pensionplans.........c.oovvenenni... $(3.3) $53 %
International pension plans ................ 4.3) 47
All pensionplans ...................oo.e. $(7.6) $10.0 E
SR ———

The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans
worldwide exceeds the value of plan assets by $68.0 million. This rep-
resents an increase compared to 2003 of $45.1 million. The worldwide
Noveon International plans accounted for $13.7 million of the in-
crease. The value of the plan assets of the legacy Lubrizol U.S. pen-
sion plans at December 31, 2004 exceeded the accumulated benefit
obligation liability by $0.1 million as compared to $18.9 million at
December 31, 2003. This decrease in the funding status was due to
an increase in the accumulated benefit obligation primarily related to
losses generated from the workforce reductions.

Changes in pension plan assumptions are expected to in-
crease pension expense for most pension plans worldwide in 2005.
After considering a full year of expense related to the Noveon In-
ternational plans, 2005 pension expense is expected to approximate
between $39.0 million and $41.0 million, excluding the impact of any
settlement charges. The expected increase in pension expense in 2005,
excluding the impact of settlement charges, is due to 12 months of

expense for the Noveon International plans, the decline in both the
legacy Lubrizol U.S. and Noveon International U.S. plans’ expected
return on plan assets, the decline in the discount rate for the Noveon
International U.S. plans and the recognition of loss amortization.

DETERMINATION OF POSTRETVIREMENT BENEFIT COSTY
Annually, we review with our actuaries the key economic assumptions
used in calculating postretirement benefit cost as prescribed by SFAS
No. 106, “Employers” Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
than Pensions.” Postretirement benefits include health care and life
insurance plans. The determination of postretirement benefit cost is
based upon a number of actuarial assumptions, including the discount
rate for determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obliga-
tion, the assumed health care cost trend rates and ultimate health care
trend rate. The same discount rate selected for the pension plans gen-
erally is used for calculating the postretirement benefit obligation by
country. Net non-pension postretirement benefit cost was $5.8 mil-
lion in 2004, $5.6 million in 2003 and $4.7 million in 2002.

A change in the discount rate of 100 basis points would
have the following effects on the postretirement benefit cost:

Effect on pestretirement benefit cost from
charge in the discount rate

100 Basis Point
‘ (In Millions of Dollars) ‘\_,v.lilfrfa_si L VD_cgrcasc
U.S. postretirement plans. . ................ $(1.5) $1.8
International postretirement plans. .......... 0.1) 01
All postretirement plans .................. $(1.6) $1.9

A change in the assumed health care cost trend rate of 100
basis points would have the following effects on the postretirement
benefit cost:

Effect on postretirement benefit cost from change
in assumed health care cost trend rate

100 Basis Point
l_(h;Millious of Dollars) {t:ﬁc;;gse_: ) Dccrca.se
U.S. postretirement plans.................. $1.8 $(1.4)
International postretirement plans. .......... 01 -
All postretirement plans .................. $1.9 $(1.4)

ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS COMZINATIZKS During the
past three years, we have completed several business combination
transactions, the most significant of which was the Noveon Interna-
tional acquisition, which occurred on June 3, 2004. We allocate the
purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
relative fair value at the date of acquisition pursuant to the provi-
sions of SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” In estimating the
fair value of the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired,
we consider information obtained during our due diligence process
and utilize various valuation methods including market prices, where
available, appraisals, comparisons to transactions for similar assets and
liabilities and present value of estimated future cash flows. We are
required to make subjective estimates in connection with these valua-
tions and allocations.
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ACCOUNTING FCOR IMPAIRMEXNT OF LONE
We review the carrying value of our long-lived assets, including prop-

erty and equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss may be recognized when estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset, includ-
ing disposition, are less than the carrying value of the asset. The mea-
surement of the impairment loss to be recognized is based on the dif-
ference between the fair value and the carrying amounts of the assets.
Fair value is generally determined based upon a discounted cash flow
analysis. In order to determine if an asset has been impaired, assets are
grouped and tested at the lowest level for which identifiable, indepen-
dent, cash flows are available.

The determination of both undiscounted and discounted
cash flows requires us to make significant estimates and considers
the expected course of action at the balance sheet date. Subsequent
changes in estimated undiscounted and discounted cash flows aris-
ing from changes in anticipated actions could impact the determina-
tion of whether an impairment exists, the amount of the impairment
charge recorded and whether the effects could materially impact our
net income.

In connection with the acquisition and integration of
Noveon International, we selected an investment banker in Janu-
ary 2005 to assist us in divesting underperforming and nonstrategic
businesses. These potential divestitures have total revenues of approx-
imately $300.0 million to $500.0 million. We have not identified buy-
ers for these businesses. As such, none of the businesses or assets that
we are evaluating is considered held for sale pursuant to the provi-
sions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets.”

ACCCUNTING FOR GOCDWILL 'MPAIRMEKT Goodwill rep-
resents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value
assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of busi-
nesses acquired and, effective January 1, 2002, is no longer amortized,
in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.” This standard requires goodwill to be tested annually and be-
tween annual tests if events occur or circumstances change that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of an operating segment
below its carrying amount. We have elected October 1 as the annual
evaluation date to test for potential goodwill impairment. The annual
goodwill impairment test requires us to make a number of assumptions
and estimates concerning future levels of earnings and cash flow, which
are based upon our strategic plans. The combination of a discounted
cash flow analysis and terminal value model is used to determine the
fair value of each reporting unit. While we use available information
to prepare estimates and to perform the impairment evaluation, actual
results could differ significantly resulting in future impairment and
losses related to recorded goodwill balances. No impairment of good-
will was identified in the annual impairment test completed in 2004.
(See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.)
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In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.” This standard will
require compensation costs related to share-based payment trans-
actions to be recognized in the financial statements. With limited
exceptions, the amount of compensation cost will be measured based
on the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability instruments
issued. In addition, Hability awards will be remeasured each reporting
period. Compensation cost will be recognized over the period that an
employee provides service in exchange for the award. This standard
replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,”
and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and applies to all awards
granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled after July 1, 2005. We
are currently evaluating the provisions of this standard to determine
the impact on our consolidated financial statements. It is, however,
expected to reduce consolidated net income.

SN, £33
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of

This standard amended APB Opinion No.
29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,” to eliminate the

Nonmonetary Assets.”

exception from fair value measurement for nonmonetary exchanges
of similar productive assets. This standard replaces this exception with
a general exception from fair value measurement for exchanges of
nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A non-
monetary exchange has no commercial substance if the future cash
flows of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result of
the exchange. This statement is effective for all nonmonetary asset
exchanges we complete starting January 1, 2006. We do not believe the
adoption of this standard will have a material impact on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory
Costs,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material. This standard
requires that such items be recognized as current-period charges. The
standard also establishes the concept of “normal capacity” and re-
quires the allocation of fixed production overhead to inventory based
on the normal capacity of the production facilities. Any unallocated
overhead must be recognized as an expense in the period incurred.
This standard is effective for inventory costs incurred starting January
1, 2006. We do not believe the adoption of this standard will have
a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.
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The Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003 (the Act) was signed into law on December 8, 2003. The
Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare
Part D), which will begin in 2006.
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We have determined that our postretirement health care
plan provides prescription drug benefits that will qualify for the fed-
eral subsidy provided by the Act. As a result, the following actuari-
ally determined changes in accounting for this plan have been recog-
nized starting in the third quarter of 2004 due to the legislation and
in accordance with the provisions of FASB Staff Position (FSP) No.
FAS 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003 (ESP 106-2).

O The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation determined
as of January 1, 2004 has been reduced by approximately $5.8 mil-
lion. This reduction caused an actuarial gain in accordance with
FSP 106-2.

3 The effect of the above gain is to reduce the annual amortization of
unrecognized actuarial loss by approximately $0.4 million.

T The interest and service cost components of the related periodic
expense for fiscal year 2004 have been reduced by approximately
$0.3 million.

For 2004, our annual net periodic postretirement benefit
expense has been reduced by approximately $0.7 million in the aggre-
gate as a result of this benefit.

New Tex Legisiation and Related Suidance

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act (Jobs Act) was
signed into law. Included in the Jobs Act is a provision for a special
one-time tax deduction of 85% of certain foreign earnings, in excess
of a base amount, that are repatriated prior to December 31, 2005
(for calendar-year taxpayers). In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP
No. FAS 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign
Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004.” In January 2005, the Internal Revenue Service provided,
in Notice 2005-10, additional guidance regarding how the Jobs Act
rules on the repatriation of foreign subsidiary earnings are intended
to operate.

In accounting for the acquisition of Noveon International,
we considered the pre-acquisition undistributed eamings of the for-
eign subsidiaries of Noveon International not to be indefinitely rein-
vested overseas. Therefore, the acquisition date balance sheet contains
a deferred tax liability for the estimated U.S. and foreign tax cost of
repatriating these earnings.

As of December 31, 2004, our balance sheet included a
deferred tax liability relating to a repatriation plan, which will result
in approximately $180.0 million of cash being brought back to the
United States. The calculation of this deferred tax liability assumes
that we will be unable to use foreign tax credits to offset any portion
of the U.S. tax cost of the planned repatriation.

The Jobs Act also includes a tax deduction of up to 9.0%
(when fully phased in) of the lesser of (a) “qualified production activi-
ties income,” as defined in the Jobs Act, or (b) taxable income, after the
deduction for the utilization of any net operating loss carryforwards.
In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 109-1, “Application
of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the

Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” We will be unable to obtain any
benefit from this new deduction until our U.S. federal tax net operat-
ing loss carryfowards are completely utilized.

Cauticnary Statements for Safe
Harbor Purposes

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the federal securities laws. As a general matter, forward-
looking statements are those focused upon future plans, objectives or
performance as opposed to historical items and include statements of
anticipated events or trends and expectations and beliefs relating to
matters not historical in nature. Forward-looking statements are sub-
ject to uncertainties and factors relating to our operations and business
environment, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which
are beyond our control. These uncertainties and factors could cause
our actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed in
or implied by any forward-looking statements, although we believe
that our expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are
based upon reasonable assumptions. For this purpose, any statements
contained herein that are not statements of historical fact should be
deemed to be forward-looking statements.

We believe that the following factors, among others, could
affect our future performance and cause our actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking state-
ments made in this annual report:

3 the cost, availability and quality of raw materials, including petro-
leum-based products;

T our ability to increase the prices of our products in a competitive
environment;

C the effect of required principal and interest payments on our ability
to fund capital expenditures and acquisitions and to meet operat-
ing needs;

3 the overall global economic environment and the overall demand
for our products on a worldwide basis;

T technology developments that affect longer-term trends for our
products;

M

the extent to which we are successful in expanding our business in
new and existing markets;

our ability to identify, complete and integrate acquisitions for
profitable growth and operating efficiencies, especially our ability
to integrate the acquisition of Noveon International;

01 our success at continuing to develop proprietary technology to
meet or exceed new industry performance standards and individual
customer expectations;

.

our ability to continue to reduce complexities and conversion
costs and modify our cost structure to maintain and enhance our
competitiveness;
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our success in retaining and growing the business that we have with

N

our largest customers;

i

the cost and availability of energy, including natural gas and
electricity;

[ {

the effect of interest rate fluctuations on our interest expense;

the effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates upon our

(R

reported results from international operations, together with non-
currency risks of investing in and conducting significant operations
in foreign countres, including those relating to political, social,
economic and regulatory factors;

il

the extent to which we achieve market acceptance of our commer-
cial development programs;

i

significant changes in government regulations affecting environ-
mental compliance;

Z the ability to identify, understand and manage risks inherent in new
markets in which we choose to expand; and

T our ability to maintain operating continuity for those businesses
identified as divestiture candidates.
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We operate manufacturing and blending facilities, laboratories and
offices around the world and utilize fixed and variable-rate debt to
finance our global operations. As a result, we are subject to business
risks inherent in non-U.S. activities, including political and economic
uncertainties, import and export limitations, and market risks related
to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. We
believe the political and economic risks related to our foreign opera-
tions are mitigated due to the stability of the countries in which our
largest foreign operations are located.

In the normal course of business, we use derivative finan-
cial instruments including interest rate and commodity hedges and
forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage our market
risks. Our objective in managing our exposure to changes in interest
rates is to limit the impact of such changes on our earnings and cash
flow. Our objective in managing the exposure to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates is to reduce volatility on our eamings and
cash flow associated with such changes. Our principal currency expo-
sures are the euro, the pound sterling, the Japanese yen and certain
Latin American currencies. Our objective in managing our exposure
to changes in commodity prices is to reduce the volatility on earnings
of utility expense. We do not hold derivatives for trading purposes.

We measure our market risk related to our holdings of
financial instruments based on changes in interest rates, foreign
currency rates and commodity prices utilizing a sensitivity analysis.
The sensitivity analysis measures the potential loss in fair value, cash
flow and earnings based on a hypothetical 10% change (increase and
decrease) in interest, currency exchange rates and commodity prices.
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We use current market rates on our debt and derivative portfolios to
perform the sensitivity analysis. Certain items such as lease contracts,
insurance contracts and obligations for pension and other postretire-
ment benefits are not included in the analysis.

Our primary interest rate exposures relate to our cash and
short-term investments, fixed and variable-rate debt and interest rate
swaps. The calculation of potential loss in fair value is based on an im-
mediate change in the net present values of our interest rate-sensitive
exposures resulting from a 10% change in interest rates. The potential
loss in cash flow and income before tax is based on the change in the
net interest income/expense over a one-year period due to an immedi-
ate 10% change in rates. A hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates
would have had a favorable impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease
in interest rates would have had an unfavorable impact on fair values
of $47.3 million in 2004. In addition, a hypothetical 10% increase in
interest rates would have had an unfavorable impact and a hypotheti-
cal 10% decrease in interest rates would have had a favorable impact
on cash flows and income before tax of $2.9 million in 2004.

Our primary currency exchange rate exposures are to for-
eign currency denominated debt, intercompany debt, cash and short-
term investments and forward foreign currency exchange contracts.
The calculation of potential loss in fair value is based on an immediate
change in the U.S. dollar equivalent balances of our currency expo-
sures due to a 10% shift in exchange rates. The potential loss in cash
flow and income before tax is based on the change in cash flow and
income before tax over a one-year period resulting from an immediate
10% change in currency exchange rates. A hypothetical 10% increase
in currency exchange rates would have had an unfavorable impact and
a hypothetical 10% decrease in currency exchange rates would have
had a favorable impact on fair values of $26.1 million, cash flows of
$43.7 million and income before tax of $13.5 million in 2004,

Our primary commodity hedge exposures relate to natural
gas and electric utility expenses. The calculation of potential loss in fair
value is based on an immediate change in the U.S. dollar equivalent
balances of our commodity exposures due to a 10% shift in the under-
lying commodity prices. The potential loss in cash flow and income
before tax is based on the change in cash flow and income before tax
over a one-year period resulting from an immediate 10% change in
commodity prices. A hypothetical 10% increase in commodity prices
would have had a favorable impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease
in commodity prices would have had an unfavorable impact on fair
value, cash flow and income before tax of $0.3 million in 2004.




Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of The Lubrizo] Corporation and its subsidiaries (the
Company) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting. The Lubrizol Corporation’s
internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance
to the Company’s management and board of directors regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed,
have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined
to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation and presentation.

The Lubrizol Corporation’s management assessed the effec-
tiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, management used
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSQ) in Iuternal Control~ Integrated
Framework. Based on this assessment, management believes that, as
of December 31, 2004, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting is effective based on those criteria.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, who expressed an unqualified opinion as stated in
their report, a copy of which is included in this annual report.

New York Stock Exchange Certifications

il

James L. Hambrick
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

chty

Charles P. Cooley
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

M J=ts

W. Scott Emerick
Corporate Controller

March 2, 2003

On April 27, 2004, James L. Hambrick, as chief executive officer,
certified, as required by Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) Listed Company Manual, that as of that date he was
not aware of any violations by the Company of the NYSE’s Corporate
Governance listing standards. This certification has been delivered to
the NYSE.

The chief executive officer and chief financial officer cer-
tifications created by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
are included as exhibits to our Form 10-K and are incorporated herein
by reference.
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We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompany-
ing Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
that The Lubrizol Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) main-
tained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment
and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

N S A T Esna e M
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We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial report-
ing was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a pro-
cess designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management,
and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reli-
ability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide

/

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements,

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over
financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or
fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections
of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Com-
pany maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
criteria established in Znternal Control— Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission,
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on the criteria established in Iuternal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) the con-
solidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2004 of the Company and our report dated March 2, 2005 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Deboitty + Joueks ZZP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 2, 2005

Deloitte.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The
Lubrizol Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the pe-
riod ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Lubrizol Cor-
poration and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results
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of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for
goodwill and other intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effec-
tiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2, 2005
expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Debitty + Jowehe ZZP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 2, 2005




Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31

(In Millions of Dollars Except Per Share Data) 2004 2003 2002
Net sales. . oot $3,155.6 $2,049.1 $1,980.3
Royalties and otherrevenues . . ....... ... i 3.9 3.0 3.6
Total revenues ... ... 3,159.5 2,052.1 1,983.9 !
COSt OF SAlES . - oo 23595 1,507.8 14163 |
Selling and administrative eXpenses. .. ...........oeueeiieieeee... 304.6 202.9 196.9 E
Research, testing and development expenses. . ....................... 190.8 166.9 168.3 |
Amortization of intangible assets. .. ... oo 18.0 4.9 4.2 1
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development............. 34.0 - -
Restructuring charges. . ... i 38.6 22.5 -
Total costs and expenses .. ..ot 2,945.5 1,905.0 1,785.7 |
Other income (EXpense) — Net . .. oo vttt 4.9 3.3 (1.2
INterest INCOME . ..ot vt et e e i e 4.8 3.8 6.7
Interest eXpense « .. oo vv et e e e (77.1) (25.1) (23.3)
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of change
In accounting principle. . ... ... 146.6 129.1 180.4
Provision for iNCOME taxes. . .. ... oottt 53.1 38.3 54.1
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .. .. .. 93.5 90.8 126.3
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .................. - - 7.8 |
INEEINCOME .+ vttt ettt et e e et e e e et § 935 $ 908 $ 1185
Basic net income per share: 5
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. . . $ 168 § 176 $§ 245 I
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. .. ............ - - 0.15) ?
Net income pershare, basic. . .. ... $ 168 $ 176 $ 230 I
Diluted net income per share:
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. . . $ 167 $ 175 $ 244 %
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. .. ............ - - (0.15) 1
Net income per share, diluted . . ...............o oo $ 167 $ 175 $ 229 |
|
Dividends per share . . ... .-+ .o\ oo $ 104 $ 104 s 104 |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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December 31
| (o Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003
1

\SSETS |
Cash and short-term INVeStmMEnts . . ... ....uuuttt ittt $ 3359 $ 2587 l
Receivables ..o e 582.8 324.6 !
INVENtOmIEs . o vttt 568.7 311.9 :
Other CUITENE SSELS . . o vttt ettt ettt e et ettt ettt anens 110.6 42.6 |

Total CUITENt ASSetS . . . o\ttt e e e 1,598.0 937.8 i
Property and eqUIPMENt — £ COSt . .+ v vt vttt ittt e 2,731.3 1,960.6 :
Less accumulated depreciation ............ o e 1,413.4 1,270.6

Property and equipment — Nt ... ...t e 1,317.9 690.0
Goodwill. . .o 1,153.8 208.7
Intangible assets — Met .. ..o oo e 437.1 62.4
Investments in non-consolidated companies ............ .. . ... i i 7.4 6.3
L0 14 3T T Y] S O P 52.1 37.1

1 S $4,566.3 $1,942.3

LIABILITIES ARD SHAREYOLDERS® ZQUITY
Short-term debt and current portion of long-termdebt ................ ... ... $ 82 $ 29 |
Accounts payable ... ... 339.6 1431 |
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities. . . ....... ... i 309.5 153.5

Total current labilities . ... ... .ot e 657.3 299.5
Longterm debt ... i e 1,964.1 386.7 ;
Postretirement health care obligations. . ..... ... ... .. ... 106.4 98.4 ;
Noncurrent Habilities. . . ... oot 170.7 100.3 }
Deferred INCOME tAXES . . . oo vttt ittt ettt ettt 90.7 52.8 1

Total Babiiies .. ... ... .. oo oo 2,989.2 937.7 |
Minority interest in consolidated companies . ..........ovtiiiiiin i 53.6 51.3 l
Contingencies and cOMMItMENtS ... .. ..ot ittt ittt
Preferred stock without par value —unissued . ...... ... ... .. ... .. ... ... - -
Common shares without par value - 66,778,865 and 51,588,190 outstanding shares |

at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively .. ...... ... .ot 610.6 123.8

Retained €armings. . .. ...oouruu ittt e e 897.4 865.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . ..........o i 15.5 {36.0)

Total shareholders’ equity. . . .. ...t e e e 1,523.5 953.3

TOTAL . o et ettt e e e $4,566.3 $1,942.3

The accompanying noles are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31
{In Millions of Dollars) 2004 2003 2002
CASK PROVIDED BY {USED FOR}:
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NeEt INCOME .« .\ttt ettt e e et $ 935 $ 90.8 $118.5
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization. . . .. ... v it 154.7 100.4 95.8
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development ......... 34.0 - -
Deferred income taxes . ..........ouuiteiniinr i, 5.9 1.5 3.2
Restructuring charges . ........ ... i 27.5 3.3 -
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .............. - - 7.8
Change in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Receivables. . .. ..ot (38.4) 4.7 29.0
Inventories. . ...ovn i e (50.0) 174 (10.2)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities. . 80.5 (26.8) 2.6
Other CUITENE @SSELS . . .\ .« vt e e tieeeeeeenn e 25 RCE)) (75
(5.4) 9.0) 13.9
Change in noncurrent liabilities. . . ............. ... oo L. 9.0 11.7 3.6
Otheritems —net ... oovt i i e e %0 B39 2.1
Total operating activities. .. .........iii i 328.2 194.8 2449
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures ...........ooiii i (133.2) (88.5) (65.3)
Acquisitions - net of cash received and liabilities assumed ............. (958.4) (68.6) (86.7)
Other Items — M. . . oottt e e e 2.8 1.2 3.5
Total investing aCtVItES « ... vveeveerriierereneenenrens (1,088.8) (155.9) (148.5)
FINAMCING ACTIVITIES
Changes in short-term debt, net .............. ... oo (72.6) (5.8) (1.4)
Repayments of long-term debt. .. ...... .. ... . ... ... (1,193.0) (9.2) 2.3)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt. . ...................... 1,743.3 4.5 -
Dividends paid. .. ... i e (57.6) (53.6) (53.4)
Proceeds from sale of common shares, net of underwriting
commissions and offering expenses of $20.2 million................. 470.0 - -
Payment of debt 1SsUance Costs ... ..ottt (16.8) - -
Payment of Treasury rate lock upon settlement ................... ... (73.9) - -
Proceeds (payment) on termination of interest rate swaps .............. 2.9) - 18.1
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options. ... ...................... 15.4 4.6 8.6
Total financing activities . . ... ..ot ine it 811.9 (59.5) (30.4)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash . ........................... 25.9 12.9 113
Net increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments .. ........... 77.2 7.7 77.3
Cash and short-term investments at the beginning of year . . ............ 258.7 266.4 189.1
Cash and short-term investments at theend of year ................ ... $ 3359 $ 258.7 $ 266.4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Shareholders’ Equity
Number of Accumulated Other
Shares Common Retained Comprehensive
(In Millions) Outstanding Shares Earnings Income (Loss) Total
DALANCE, JANUARY 4, 2002, ... o e 51.2 $109.7 $763.3 $(99.8) $ 7732 1
Comprehensive income: 3
Netincome 2002 ......................... - 118.5 - 1185
Other comprehensive income ............... - - 21.7 21.7
Comprehensive iIncome. .. .....oovvernn..n. 140.2
Dividends declared. . . ....................... - (53.5) - (53.5)
Deferred stock compensation ................. 0.5 - - 0.5
Common shares - treasury: |
Shares issued upon exercise of
stock options and awards ................. 03 88 - - 8.8
DALANECE, DRCEMDIN 2L, 2202 . . e 51.5 119.0 828.3 (78.1) 869.2
Comprehensive income:
Netincome 2003 ...................... ... ~ 90.8 - 90.8
Other comprehensive income ............... - -~ 42.1 42.1 [
Comprehensive income. . .................... 132.9
Dividends declared. . ........................ - (53.6) - (53.6)
Deferred stock compensation ................. 1.1 - - 1.1
Common shares - treasury: |
Shares issued upon exercise of
stock options and awards. ................ 01 37 - - 3.7
BALANSE, DECZM3ER 37, 2202 51.6 123.8 865.5 (36.0) 9533
Comprehensive income:
Netincome 2004 ........... ... ... ... .... - 93.5 - 93.5
Other comprehensive income ............... - - 51.5 51.5
Comprehensive income. .. .....oovevnii .. 145.0
Dividends declared. . ........................ - (61.6) - (61.6)
Common shares - issued in public offerings . . ... 147 470.0 - ~ 4700 ¢
Deferred stock compensation ................. 3.4 - - 34
Common shares - treasury: |
Shares issued upon exercise of ‘
stock options and awards ................. 05 134 - - 134 1
SALANCE, NECEMBIR 35,2004 ...l 66.8 $610.6 $897.4 $155 $1,523.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes To Financial Statements

[In Mitlions Except Per-Share Data)

Note 1 — MATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Lubrizol Corporation is a specialty chemical company that pro-
duces and supplies technologies to the global transportation, industri-
al and consumer markets. These technologies include lubricant addi-
tives for engine oils, other transportation-related fluids and industrial
lubricants, as well as additives for gasoline and diesel fuel. In addi-
tion, the company makes ingredients and additives for personal care
products and pharmaceuticals; specialty materials, including plastics
technology; performance coatings in the form of specialty resins and
additives; and additives for the food and beverage industry.

On June 3, 2004, the company consummated its acquisi-
tion of Noveon International, Inc. (Noveon International). As a result
of this acquisition, the company reorganized its product lines into two
operating and reporting segments: Lubricant Additives and Specialty
Chemicals. Refer to Note 14 for a further description of the nature
of the company’s operations, the product lines within each of the
operating segments, segment operating income and related financial
disclosures for the reportable segments.

Note 2 — SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CONSOLIBATION The consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of The Lubrizol Corporation and its consolidated sub-
sidiaries. The company consolidates certain entities in which it owns
less than a 100% equity interest if it is either deemed to be the pri-
mary beneficiary in a variable interest entity, as defined in Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” or where its ownership
interest is at least 50% and the company has effective management
control. The equity method of accounting is applied to non-consoli-
dated entities in which the company can exercise significant influence
over the entity with respect to its operations and major decisions. The
book value of investments carried on the equity method was $5.6
million at both December 31, 2004 and 2003. Investments carried at
cost were $1.8 million and $0.7 million at December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, respectively. '

ESTIMATES The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and labilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and ex-
penses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

CASH EJQUIVALENTS The company invests its excess cash in short-
term investments with various banks and financial institutions. Short-
term investments are cash equivalents, as they are part of the cash
management activities of the company and are comprised of invest-
ments having maturities of three months or less when purchased.

‘NMYENTGRIES Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market
value. Cost of inventories is determined by either the first-in, first-out
(FIFO) method or the moving-average method, except in the United
States for chemical inventories, which are primarily valued using the
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.

The company accrues volume discounts on purchases
from vendors where it is probable that the required volume will be
attained and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The company
records the discount as a reduction in the cost of the purchase (gen-
erally raw materials), based on projected purchases over the purchase
agreement period.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 151, “Inventory Costs,” to clarify
the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight,
handling costs and wasted material. This standard requires that such
items be recognized as current-period charges. The standard also es-
tablishes the concept of “normal capacity” and requires the allocation
of fixed production overhead to inventory based on the normal capac-
ity of the production facilities. Any unallocated overhead must be rec-
ognized as an expense in the period incurred. This standard is effective
for inventory costs incurred starting January 1, 2006. The company
does not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material
impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Property and equipment are car-
ried at cost. Repair and maintenance costs are charged against income
while renewals and betterments are capitalized as additions to the
related assets. Costs incurred for computer software developed or
obtained for internal use are capitalized for application development
activities and immediately expensed for preliminary project activities or
post-implementation activities. Accelerated depreciation methods are
used in computing depreciation on certain machinery and equipment,
which comprised approximately 7% and 12% of the depreciable assets
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The remaining assets are
depreciated using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives
are 10 to 40 years for buildings and land and building improvements
and range from 3 to 20 years for machinery and equipment.

IMPAIRMENT OR DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVEG ASSETS
The company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets,
including property and equipment, whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss may be recognized when estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of
the asset, including disposition, are less than the carrying value of the
asset. The measurement of the impairment loss to be recognized
is based on the difference between the fair value and the carrying
amounts of the assets. Fair value is generally determined based on a
discounted cash flow analysis. In order to determine if an asset has
been impaired, assets are grouped and tested at the lowest level for
which identifiable, independent, cash flows are available.
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COODWILL AND INTAWNGIBLE ASSETS Goodwill represents
the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned
to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of businesses
acquired and, effective January 1, 2002, is no longer amortized, in ac-
cordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and between annual tests
if an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying
amount may be impaired. The company has elected to perform its
annual tests for potential impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets as of October 1st of each year. Impairment testing is
done at the reporting unit level. An impairment loss generally would
be recognized when the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s net
assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. The esti-
mated fair value of a reporting unit is determined through a combina-
tion of discounted cash flow analysis and terminal value calculations.

Intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions, in-
cluding customer lists, purchased technology, trademarks, patents,
land-use rights and non-compete agreements, are amortized on a
straight-line method over periods ranging from 3 to 40 years. Under
SFAS No. 142, intangible assets determined to have indefinite lives are
no longer amortized, but are tested for impairment at least annually.
As part of the annual impairment test, the useful lives of the non-
amortized intangible assets are reviewed to determine if the indefinite
status remains appropriate.

CEFERRED FINANCING COSTS Costs incurred with the issuance
of debt and credit facilities are capitalized and amortized over the
life of the associated debt as a component of interest expense using
the effective interest method of amortization. In June 2004, the com-
pany initially financed the Noveon International acquisition with a
temporary bridge facility. Fees associated with the bridge facility were
capitalized and amortized over the bridge financing period. A total of
$11.2 million was incurred in bridge facility fees in June 2004. These
fees were expensed ratably through September 2004 when the bridge
facility was repaid in full. In September 2004, the company incurred
$16.8 million in debt issuance costs and fees relating to the issuance of
$1,150.0 million in senior notes and debentures, and the new $1,075.0
million five-year credit facilities. Such costs are being amortized under
the effective interest method over the respective terms of the debt.
The net deferred financing costs were $20.9 million and $6.4 million
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amortization expense
recorded in 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $1.6 million, $1.3 million and
$1.3 million, respectively.

ENVIRCNMENTAL LIABILITIES The company accrues for ex-
penses associated with environmental remediation obligations when
such expenses are probable and reasonably estimable, based upon
current law and existing technologies. These accruals are adjusted as
further information develops or circumstances change. Costs of future
expenditures for environmental remediation obligations are not dis-
counted to their present value.

SKARZ REPURCHASES The company uses the par-value method
of accounting for its treasury shares. Under this method, the cost to
reacquire shares in excess of paid-in capital related to those shares is
charged against retained earnings.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIDX The assets and liabilities
of the company’s international subsidiaries are translated into U.S.
dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and rev-
enues and expenses are translated at weighted-average exchange rates
in effect during the period. Unrealized translation adjustments are re-
corded as a component of other comprehensive income in sharehold-
ers’ equity, except for subsidiaries for which the functional currency is
other than the local currency, where translation adjustments are recog-
nized in income. Transaction gains or losses that arise from exchange
rate changes on transactions denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency, except those transactions that function as a
hedge of an identifiable foreign currency commitment or as a hedge of
a foreign currency investment, are included in income as incurred.

REVZMNUE RECOGNITION Revenues are recognized at the time of
shipment of products to customers, or at the time of transfer of title if
later and when collection is reasonably assured. All amounts in a sales
transaction billed to a customer related to shipping and handling are
reported as revenues.

Provisions for sales discounts and rebates to customers are
recorded, based upon the terms of sales contracts, in the same period
the related sales are recorded, as a deduction to the sale. Sales dis-
counts and rebates are offered to certain customers to promote cus-
tomer loyalty and encourage greater product sales. These rebate pro-
grams provide that upon the attainment of pre-established volumes or
the attainment of revenue milestones for a specified period, the cus-
tomer receives credits against purchases. The company estimates the
provision for rebates based on the specific terms in each agreement at
the time of shipment and an estimate of the customer’s achievement
of the respective revenue milestones.

COMPONENTS QF COST OF SALES Cost of sales is comprised of
raw material costs including freight and duty, inbound handling costs
associated with the receipt of raw materials, direct production, mainte-
nance and utility costs, plant and engineering overhead, terminals and
warehousing costs, and outbound shipping and handling costs.

RESEARCH, TESTING AND DEVELOPMENT Research, test-
ing and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and
development expenses, excluding testing, were $108.3 million in 2004,
$93.9 million in 2003 and $93.5 million in 2002. Costs to acquire
in-process research and development (IPR&D) projects that have no
alternative future use and that have not yet reached technological
feasibility at the date of acquisition are expensed upon acquisition.

INCOME TAXES The company provides for income taxes in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” SFAS No.
109 requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for
the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences be-
tween the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of
the assets and liabilities.

PER SHARE AMOUNTS Net income per share is computed by
dividing net income by average common shares outstanding during the
period, including contingently issuable shares. Net income per diluted
share includes the dilutive impact resulting from outstanding stock
options and stock awards. Per share amounts are computed as follows:
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| 2004 2003 2002
Numerator: ]]
Income before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle ............. ... $93.5 $90.8  $126.3
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle. . . ........ .. ... - - (7.8)
Net income ........ocovvinveirenn.. $93.5 $90.8  $1185
Denominator:
Weighted-average common
shares outstanding . .. ................. 55.7 51.7 515
Dilutive effect of stock options and awards . . 0.3 0.2 0.3 i
Denominator for net income |
pershare, diluted .. ...l 56.0 519 51.8
Basic net income per share:
Income before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle ................ $1.68 $1.76 $245
Net income per share, basic .............. $1.68 $1.76 $2.30
Diluted net income per share:
Income before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle . ......... ..., $1.67 $1.75 $2.44
Net income per share, diluted. ............ $1.67 $1.75 $2.29

Weighted-average shares issuable upon the exercise of stock
options that were excluded from the diluted earnings per share calcu-
lations because they were antidilutive were 1.1 million in 2004, 2.5
million in 2003 and 2.4 million in 2002.

ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS Derivative
financial instruments are recognized on the balance sheet as either
assets or liabilities and are measured at fair value. Derivatives that
are not hedges are adjusted to fair value through income. Depending
upon the nature of the hedge, changes in fair value of the derivative
are either offset against the change in fair value of assets, liabilities or
firm commitments through earnings or recognized in other compre-
hensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The
ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in value is immediately
recognized in earnings. The company only uses derivative financial
instruments to manage well-defined interest rate, foreign currency and
commodity price risks. The company does not use derivatives for trad-

ing purposes.

COSTS ASSUCIATED WITH EXITY CR DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES
Liabilities for costs associated with exit or disposal activities are recog-
nized and measured initially at fair value when the liability is incurred
pursuant to the requirements of SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which became effective

for the company for exit or disposal activities initiated after December
31, 2002.

GUARANTEES FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclo-
sure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others” requires the disclosure of any guarantees
existing prior to January 1, 2003 and the recognition of a liability for
any guarantees entered into or modified on or after that date. The

company does not have any material guarantees within the scope
of FIN 45.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION The company currently uses
the intrinsic value method to account for employee stock options. The
following table shows the pro forma effect on net income and earn-
ings per share if the company had applied the fair-value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-
tion,” to stock-based employee compensation.

2042003 2002
Reported netincome ...............c..n.s $93.5 $90.8 $118.5
Plus: Stock-based employee compensation

(net of tax) included in net income......... 2.1 0.3 0.1
Less: Stock-based employee compensation

(net of tax) using the fair-value method ... .. L I I ) B ()
Pro forma netincome. .. ....... ..., $89.6 $86.7 $112.5
Reported net income per share, basic......... $1_6§ ﬁ 5_23_(;
Pro forma net income per share, basic........ 517 ‘5_1—63 m
Reported net income per share, diluted . .. . . .. 51_67 ;1—7; 5_22—9
Pro forma net income per share, difuted ... ... EI—G-(; -5—1_6; @

i

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment.” This standard will require compensation
costs related to share-based payment transactions to be recognized
in the financial statements. With limited exceptions, the amount
of compensation cost will be measured based on the grant-date fair
value of the equity or liability instruments issued. In addition, liabil-
ity awards will be remeasured each reporting period. Compensation
cost will be recognized over the period that an employee provides ser-
vice in exchange for the award. This standard replaces SFAS No. 123
and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and applies to all awards
granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled after July 1, 2005. The
company is currently evaluating the provisions of this standard to
determine the impact on its consolidated financial statements. It is,
however, expected to reduce consolidated net income.

EXCHANGES OF NONMOXETARY ASSETS In December 2004,
the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets.”
This standard amended APB Opinion No. 29, “Accounting for Non-
monetary Transactions,” to eliminate the exception from fair value
measurement for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive as-
sets. This standard replaces this exception with a general exception
from fair value measurement for exchanges of nonmonetary assets
that do not have commercial substance. A nonmonetary exchange
has no commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity are
expected to change significantly as a result of the exchange. This state-
ment is effective for all nonmonetary asset exchanges completed by
the company starting January 1, 2006. The company does not believe
the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its finan-
cial position, results of operations or cash flows.

ACCOUNTING FOR THE MEDICARE PRESCRIPTION DRUG
IMPROVEMENT AND MODERNIZATICMN ACT The Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
Act) was signed into law on December 8, 2003. The Act introduces a
prescription drug benefit under Medicare (Medicare Part D), which
will begin in 2006.
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The company has determined that its postretirement health
care plans provide prescription drug benefits that will qualify for the
federal subsidy provided by the Act. As a result, the following actuari-
ally determined changes in accounting for this plan have been recog-
nized starting in the third quarter of 2004 due to the legislation and
in accordance with the provisions of FASB Staff Position (FSP) FAS
No. 106-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003” (FSP 106-2).

Z0 The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation determined
as of January 1, 2004 has been reduced by approximately $5.8 mil-
lion. This reduction caused an actuarial gain in accordance with
FSP 106-2.

T The effect of the above gain is to reduce the annual amortization of
unrecognized actuarial loss by approximately $0.4 million.

Z The interest and service cost components of the related periodic
expense for fiscal year 2004 have been reduced by approximately
$0.3 million.

For 2004, annual net periodic postretirement benefit ex-
pense has been reduced by approximately $0.7 million in the aggre-
gate as a result of this benefit.

ny s mrmas g e

RICLASSIFIDATIZXS Certain prior period amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

On June 3, 2004, we completed the acquisition of Noveon Interna-
tional for cash of $920.2 million (inclusive of $32.9 million in cer-
tain seller expenses) plus transaction costs of $11.4 million and less
cash acquired of $103.0 million. In addition, the company assumed
$1,103.1 million of long-term indebtedness from Noveon Internation-
al. Noveon International had 2003 revenues of $1,135.9 million. With
the acquisition of Noveon International, the company has accelerated
its program to attain a substantial presence in the personal care and
coatings markets by adding a number of higher-growth, industry-lead-
ing products under highly recognizable brand names, including Car-
bopol®, to the company’s portfolio of lubricant and fuel additives,
and consumer products. Additionally, Noveon International has a
number of industry-leading specialty materials businesses, including
TempRite® chlorinated polyvinyl chloride and Estane® thermoplastic
polyurethane.

The acquisition and related costs were initially financed
with the proceeds of a $2,450.0 million 364-day bridge credit facility.
Shortly after the acquisition, the company repaid substantially all of
the assumed long-term debt of Noveon International with proceeds of
the temporary bridge loan. In addition, the temporary bridge loan was
repaid in full in September 2004 with the proceeds from the perma-
nent financing obtained by the issuance of senior notes, debentures
and equity and the borrowing of $575.0 million of bank term loans,
resulting in proceeds of approximately $2,170.0 million, net of under-
writing commissions, discounts and transaction costs.
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Our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004
reflects the acquisition of Noveon International under the purchase
method of accounting. We recorded the various assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, primarily working capital accounts, of Noveon
International at their estimated fair values that we determined as of
the acquisition date. The allocation of the purchase price has not yet
been finalized, but is substantially complete, as of December 31, 2004,
While we do not expect any material changes, the purchase price al-
location remains subject to revision through the end of the allocation
period ending in the second quarter of 2005. Actuarial valuations were
completed for the projected pension and other post-employment ben-
efit obligations and were reflected in the purchase price allocation.
In addition, appraisals of long-lived assets and identifiable intangible
assets, including an evaluation of IPR&D projects, have also been
completed.

The purchase price includes the estimated fair value of
IPR&D projects totaling $34.0 million that, as of the acquisition date,
had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative fu-
ture use. As a result, the full amount allocated to IPR&D was expensed
in 2004. There were nine projects acquired in the Noveon Interna-
tional transaction in several different product lines. The projects are
at varying stages of completeness ranging from the early development
stage to prototype testing. The company estimates the need to spend
approximately $3.0 million to develop the acquired technology and
expects the benefit from these projects to be generated starting in 2005
and continuing into 2006. The inventory step-up to fair value totaled
$24.2 million, of which $9.8 million was expensed in 2004. As the
remaining step-up relates to inventories accounted for on the LIFO
method of accounting, the company does not anticipate that addi-
tional amounts of step-up will be expensed in the near term. In the
fourth quarter of 2004, the company reflected a reduction in the long-
lived assets as a result of the completion of appraisals of these Noveon
International assets. In the fourth quarter, the company recognized a
$4.4 million reduction in depreciation expense for the period from
the acquisition date to December 31, 2004 to reflect changes in esti-
mated fair values and asset lives for the long-lived assets.

The 2004 historical results only include revenues and ex-
penses of Noveon International since the date of acquisition.

The following unaudited pro forma operating data is pre-
sented for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 as if the No-
veon International acquisition had been completed at the beginning
of each of the periods presented below in the table. The pro forma
data gives effect to actual operating results prior to the acquisition.
Adjustments to cost of sales for the inventory step-up charge, fixed
asset depreciation, intangible asset amortization, the write-off of ac-
quired IPR&D, interest expense, income taxes and weighted-average
common shares outstanding related to the acquisition are reflected in
the pro forma data. In addition, the company assumed that the bridge
loan was replaced with the permanent long-term financing, consisting
of both debt and equity, at the end of the fourth month in both 2004
and 2003. These pro forma amounts do not purport to be indicative
of the results that would have actually been obtained if the acquisition
had occurred as of the beginning of the periods presented or that may
be obtained in the future.
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| 2004 2003
Total revenues . ............cvuviuinnnnn. $3,697.1 $3,182.2 ‘
Income before cumulative effect of change :
in accounting principle . .. .......... ..., $ 1106 $ 662
Netineome .. ..ooivniiniinnariininnns $ 1106 $ 657 ’
Income per share before cumulative effect of i
change in accounting principle, basic . ... .. $ 179 $ 107 |
Income per share before cumulative effect of '
change in accounting principle, diluted . . . .. $ 178 $ 107 ‘
Net income per share, basic................ $ 1 $ 107 \
Net income per share, diluted .............. $ 178 $ 1.06 J

In January 2004, the company completed the acquisition
of the coatings hyperdispersants business from Avecia for cash total-
ing $129.7 million, including transaction costs of $2.2 million. This
business is headquartered in Blackley, United Kingdom and devel-
ops, manufactures and markets high-value additives that are based on
polymeric dispersion technology and used in coatings and inks. These
products enrich and strengthen color while reducing production costs
and solvent emissions, and are marketed under the brand names Sol-
sperse®, Solplus® and Solthix®. Annualized revenues of this business
are approximately $50.0 million.

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
2004 acquisitions is as follows:

Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired in 2004

—  Noveon Hyper-
, International _dispersants  Other  Total

Receivables. .............. § 184.8 $ 73 $ - § 192.1
Inventories ............... 180.6 10.5 - 191.1
Other current assets .. ... ... 54.6 - - 54.6
Property and equipment. . . .. 614.8 5.5 - 620.3
Goodwill................. 830.1 76.4 - 906.5
Intangible assets .. ......... 378.8 42.7 - 421.5
Other noncurrent assets . . . . . 17.3 - ﬂ 17.4

Total assets . ............ 2,261.0 142.4 0.1 E_O?:_S
Accounts payable .......... _1_2_;_4; —7_0 e 136.4
Accrued expenses . ......... 107.0 - - 107.0
Current and long-term debt . . 1,103.1 - - 1,103.1
Noncurrent liabilities . . . . . . . 92.9 57 - 98.6

Total Liabilities. . ......... 1,432.4 12.7 - 1,445
Increase in net assets T o o

from acquisitions. . . ... ... $ 8286 Wi $0.1 $ 9584

In 2003, the company completed two acquisitions in the
Specialty Chemicals segment for cash of $68.6 million. In July 2003,
the company purchased the product lines of a silicones business from
BASF, which expanded the foam control additives business to approx-
imately $40.0 million in annual revenues. Assets acquired from BASF
included customer lists, certain trademarks, manufacturing technol-
ogy and other related intellectual property specifically developed for

silicone products in the North America region and finished goods in-
ventory. Silicones are used in the manufacture of sealants, cautks and
water-proofing products. Historical annual revenues for these silicone
products approximate $6.0 million. In September 2003, the company
completed an acquisition of a selected personal care ingredients busi-
ness from Amerchol Corporation, a subsidiary of The Dow Chemi-
cal Company. Products from this business go into a wide range of
end uses, including skin care and hair conditioners. Products include
methyl glucoside derivatives, lanolin derivatives and Promulgen™
personal care ingredients. Annualized revenues of this acquisition
were approximately $30.0 million.

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
2003 acquisitions is as follows:
Fair Value of Net Assets

( _ Acquiredin2003
Receivables . .........cociiiiiiiiiiiiiiine, $ 04
Inventories . . ...ooiii e 7.8
Property and equipment.. ........... ... .. 1.8
Goodwill. . ... 36.2
Intangibleassets . ......... oot 23.4
Otherassets ... _ 0z

Totalassets ... 698
Accrued expenses ... ...i i e 1.0
Deferred income taxes -~ noncurrent ............. 02
Total liabilities. ... ... 12
Increase in net assets from acquisitions.. .......... | 5;6_8_6
[ — e ——
Note 4 — INVENTORIES

i T 2004 2003
Finished products. . ........... .. ... ... $311.2 $150.7
Products in process. ............... ..o 759 62.3
Rawmaterials ... ................. ... 153.1 78.9
Supplies and engine test parts. . . ............ _ 285 _200
Total inventory. . ...t w m

Inventories on the LIFO method were 37% and 24% of
consolidated inventories at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The current replacement cost of these inventories exceeded the LIFO
cost at December 31, 2004 and 2003 by $80.5 million and $57.2 mil-
lion, respectively.

During 2003, some inventory quantities were reduced,
resulting in a liquidation of certain LIFO inventory quantities carried
at lower costs in prior years as compared with costs at December 31,
2003. The effect of this liquidation increased income before taxes by
$0.6 million.
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Note 5 — COOZWILL 8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Soodwill Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted SFAS
No. 142, pursuant to which goodwill is no longer amortized but
rather is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if
impairment indicators arise. The company performed the transi-
tional impairment review of goodwill as of January 1, 2002. This
evaluation indicated that goodwill recorded in the advanced fluid
systems operating segment (a separate operating segment prior to
the reorganization of the company’s operating segments in 2004)
was impaired as of that date. The economic conditions at the time
of impairment testing, including declining revenues, reduced the
estimated future expected performance of this operating segment,
which included the equipment businesses the company acquired
in fluid metering and particulate traps. Accordingly, the company
recognized a transitional impairment charge of $7.8 million in 2002.
This non-cash charge was recorded as a cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle in the consolidated statement of income in
2002. There was no tax benefit associated with this charge.

No impairment of goodwill was identified in connection
with the 2004 and 2003 tests performed annually as of October 1st.
The carrying amount of goodwill by reporting segment is as follows:

Lubricant Specialty
| Addidves  Chemicals  Toul
Balance, January 1,2003........... $ 95.8 $ 726 § 1684
Goodwill acquired. . ............ - 36.2 36.2 “
Translation & other adjustments. .. 35 0.6 41 |
Balance, December 31,2003 ....... 99.3 1094 208.7 !
Goodwill acquired. . ............ - 906.5 9065 |
Translation & other adjustments. . . 1.6 37.0 38.6 3
Balance, December 31,2004 ... .. .. $100.9 $1,1538

$1,052.9

PSR - v e e 2

Intzngible Assels Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, indefinite-lived
intangible assets are no longer amortized but rather are reviewed
annually or more frequently if impairment indicators arise. The
company’s indefinite-lived assets consist primarily of trademarks.
The company assesses the indefinite-lived trademarks for impairment
separately from goodwill. As part of the annual test, the useful lives
of the non-amortized trademarks are also reviewed to determine
if the indefinite status remains appropriate. After considering the
expected use of the trademarks and reviewing any legal, regulatory,
contractual, obsolescence, demand, competitive or other economic
factors that could limit the useful lives of the trademarks, in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 142, the company determined that the trade-
marks had indefinite lives. No impairment of the non-amortized
trademarks was identified in connection with the 2004 and 2003 tests
performed annually as of October 1st.

Excluding the non-amortized trademarks, the intangible
assets are amortized over the lives of the agreements or other periods
of value, which range between 3 and 40 years.
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The following table shows the components of identifiable
intangible assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2004 2003 o
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated  Carrying  Accumulated
Amount Amortization  Armount Amortizan’g{
Amortized
intangible assets:
Customer lists . .. ... $151.9 $ 6.4 $ 33 $03
Technology . ....... 144.4 254 38.7 183
Tradematks ........ 244 23 2.2 1.1
Patents............ 13.2 1.5 1.0 03
Land-use rights .. ... 7.1 0.8 71 0.6
Non-compete
agreements. .. .... 8.9 3.8 6.9 2.0
Other............. 11.3 0.9 10.7 0.4
Total amortized
intangible assets . . 3612 41.1 69.9 230
Non-amortized
intangible assets:
Non-amortized
trademarks . ...... 117.0 - 15.5 -
Total .............. $478.2 $41.1 $85.4 $23.0

Excluding the impact of further acquisitions, estimated
annual intangible amortization expense for the next five years will
approximate $25.6 million in 2005, $25.4 million in 2006, $23.9 mil-
lion in 2007, $22.4 million in 2008 and $20.6 million in 2009.

The fair value of intangible assets acquired in 2004 and
2003 are shown below by major asset class. The intangible assets will
be amortized over periods ranging from 3 to 20 years.

Fair Value of Assets
Noveon Hyper- 2004 2003
| International dispersants  Total Total
Amortized intangible assets: '
Customerlists ........... | $1207 $240 | S1447 | $02
Technology............. C1057 - 105.7 7.2
Trademarks ............. 222 - 222 -
Patents................. - 11.6 11.6 -
Non-compete agreements . . ‘ 2.0 - 2.0 1.4
Other.................. 340 0.1 34.1 _ 54
Total amortized ) i
intangible assets .. ... ... 284.6 35.7 320.3 142
Non-amortized ‘
intangible assets:
Non-amortized trademarks . 94.2 7.0 101.2 92
Total. ...l . $378.8 $ 427 $421.5 $2ﬂ

The Noveon International purchase price included the esti-
mated fair value of research and development projects totaling $34.0
million that, as of the acquisition date, had not reached technologi-
cal feasibility and had no future alternative use. As a result, the full
amount was expensed in 2004. This amount is reflected in the table
above as an other amortized intangible asset.
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The weighted-average amortization periods for intangible
assets acquired in 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

2004 2003
Amortized intangible assets:
Customerlists .. .......oveiinninn... 16 years 5 years
Technology...............ooiiiiit 15 19
Trademarks . ............. il 15 -
Patents.............. .. .. o 9 -
Non-compete agreements .. .............. 4 5
Other.......oooviiii i 3 20
Total ... 15 18

Note 6 — SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT

The company’s debt is comprised of the following at December 31,
2004 and 2003:

2004 2003
Short-term debt consists of:
Yen denominated, at weighted-average rates
of 0.6%and 0.8%. . ... $ 7.8 $ 28
Current portion of long-term debt ................. 0.4 01
Total. ..o $ 82 $ 29
Long-term debt consists of:
5.875% notes, due 2008, including 2 fair value adjust-
ment of $4.8 million for unrealized gain on derivative
hedge instruments in 2004 and remaining unamor-
tized gain on termination of swaps of $10.7 million
and $13.4 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively .... | § 215.5 $213.4
4.625% notes, due 2009, net of original issue discount
of $0.3 millton and fair value adjustment of
$0.1 million for unrealized loss on derivative
hedge instruments ............ ... 399.6 -
5.5% notes, due 2014, net of original issue discount
of $29million............ ... 447.1 -
7.25% debentures, due 2025 . ..................... 100.0 100.0
6.5% debentures, due 2034, net of original issue
discount of $5.0 million. ............ ... ... .. 295.0 -
Debt supported by long-term banking arrangements:
Term loans, at LIBOR plus 1.25%

(3.7% at December 31,2004) .................. 500.0 -
Commercial paper, at a weighted-average rate of 1.1% - 50.0
Marine terminal refunding revenue bonds, at 1.3%. . . - 18.4
Other. ..o 7.3 5.0

’ 1,964.5 386.8
Less CUrtent POrtion ... v vvvnvn s vniiin ey 04 0.1
Total . ... $1,964.1 $386.7

The scheduled principal payments for all outstanding debt
are $8.2 million in 2005, $45.0 million in 2006, $57.6 million in 2007,
$257.7 million in 2008, $745.0 million in 2009 and $851.6 million
thereafter.

In September 2004, the company issued senior unsecured
notes and debentures having an aggregate principal amount of
$1,150.0 million including: $400.0 million 4.625% notes due October

1, 2009; $450.0 million 5.5% notes due October 1, 2014; and $300.0
million 6.5% debentures due October 1, 2034. The price to the public
was 99.911% per 2009 note, 99.339% per 2014 note and 98.341% per
2034 debenture. The resulting original issue discount from the issu-
ance of these notes and debentures of $8.3 million was recorded as
a reduction of the underlying debt issuances and is being amortized
over the life of the debt using the effective interest method. Interest is
payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year, begin-
ning April 1, 2005. The notes and debentures have no sinking fund
requirement, but are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option
of the company. The company’s wholly owned direct and indirect
domestic subsidiaries guarantee the notes and debentures on an unse-
cured and unsubordinated basis. The proceeds from these notes and
debentures were used to repay a portion of the 364-day credit facility
that was utilized to bridge finance the Noveon International acquisi-
tion. Including debt issuance costs, original issue discounts and losses
on Treasury rate lock agreements, the 2009 notes, 2014 notes and 2034
debentures have effective annualized interest rates of approximately
5.2%, 6.2% and 6.7%, respectively, with a weighted-average interest
rate for the aggregate issuances of approximately 6.0%.

In August 2004, the company entered into a new five-year
$1,075.0 million unsecured bank credit agreement consisting of:
$575.0 million in term loans and a $500.0 million committed revolv-
ing credit facility. This credit agreement permits the company to bor-
row at variable rates based upon the U.S. prime rate or LIBOR plus a
specified spread. The spread is dependent on the company’s long-term
unsecured senior debt rating from Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s
Investor Services. Each of the company’s wholly owned direct and
indirect domestic subsidiaries unconditionally guarantees all of the
obligations under the credit agreement. In September 2004, the com-
pany borrowed $575.0 million in term loans, the proceeds of which
were used to repay a portion of the 364-day credit facility used to
bridge finance the Noveon International acquisition. Principal on the
term loans is due quarterly in equal installments of $14.4 million be-
ginning March 31, 2005, with any remaining unpaid balance due in
September 2009. The loans are prepayable at any time without pen-
alty, and prepayments are applied in forward order of maturity. In the
fourth quarter of 2004, the company prepaid $75.0 million, and, as a
result, the next required principal payment on the term loans is due in
June 2006. There were no outstanding revolving credit facility borrow-
ings as of December 31, 2004.

In May 2004, the company obtained a 364-day credit facili-
ty of $2,450.0 million for the purpose of bridge financing the Noveon
International acquisition. This credit facility enabled the company
to borrow at or below the U.S. prime rate. In June 2004, the com-
pany borrowed $1,797.0 million to finance the Noveon International
acquisition and repay a portion of the assumed Noveon International
debt. In addition, in July 2004, the company borrowed $175.0 mil-
lion to repay the outstanding seller notes also assumed as part of the
Noveon International acquisition. The company repaid the bridge
credit facility in September 2004 with proceeds from the equity is-
suance, $1,150.0 in notes and debentures and $575.0 million in bank
term loans. The company cancelled the bridge credit facility effective
September 28, 2004.
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In addition, the company had a committed revolving credit
facility of $350.0 million with an original expiration date of July 17,
2006. The company repaid all outstanding borrowings and cancelled
this credit facility on September 28, 2004. Immediately prior to can-
cellation, there were outstanding borrowings under this facility of
$75.0 million, the proceeds of which were used to fund the repayment
of previously outstanding commercial paper and marine terminal re-
funding revenue bonds, and liabilities associated with the termination
of various floating-to-fixed rate swaps. This credit facility permitted
the company to borrow at or below the U.S. prime rate. This facil-
ity also permitted the company to refinance beyond one year $350.0
million of debt, which by its terms is due within one year. As a result,
the company classified as long-term, at December 31, 2003, the por-
tion of commercial paper borrowings expected to remain outstanding
throughout the following year and the amount due under the marine
terminal refunding revenue bonds, whose bondholders had the right
to put the bonds back to the company.

In May 2000, the company borrowed $18.4 million through
the issuance of marine terminal refunding revenue bonds, the pro-
ceeds of which were used to repay previously issued marine terminal
refunding revenue bonds. The bonds had a stated maturity of July 1,
2018; however, the company called the bonds, at par, effective June
1, 2004.

In November 1998, the company issued notes having an
aggregate principal amount of $200.0 million. The notes are unse-
cured, senior obligations of the company that mature on December 1,
2008, and bear interest at 5.875% per annum, payable semi-annually
on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The notes have no sink-
ing fund requirement but are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the
option of the company. The company’s wholly owned direct and
indirect domestic subsidiaries guarantee the notes and debentures on
an unsecured and unsubordinated basis. The company incurred debt
issuance costs aggregating $10.5 million, including a loss of $6.5 mil-
lion related to closed Treasury rate lock agreements originally entered
into as a hedge against changes in interest rates relative to the antici-
pated issuance of these notes.

The company has debentures outstanding, issued in June
1995, in an aggregate principal amount of $100.0 million. These
debentures are unsecured, senior obligations of the company that
mature on June 15, 2025, and bear interest at an annualized rate of
7.25%, payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each
year. The debentures are not redeemable prior to maturity and are
not subject to any sinking fund requirements. The company’s wholly
owned direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries guarantee the notes
and debentures on an unsecured and unsubordinated basis.

In November 2004, the company entered into interest rate
swap agreements that effectively convert the interest on $200.0 million
of outstanding 4.625% notes due 2009 to a variable rate of six-month
LIBOR plus 40 basis points. In June 2004, the company entered into
interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert the interest on
$200.0 million of outstanding 5.875% notes due 2008 to a variable
rate of six-month LIBOR plus 111 basis points. In addition, the com-
pany has an interest rate swap agreement, which expires in October
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2006, that exchanges variable-rate interest obligations on a notional
principal amount of Japanese yen 500.0 million for a fixed rate of
2.0%. This interest rate swap is designated as a cash-flow hedge.

The company also had interest rate swap agreements, with
an original expiration date of March 2003, that exchanged variable-
rate interest obligations on 2 notional principal amount of $50.0 mil-
lion for a fixed rate of 7.6%. In April 2004, the company terminated
these interest rate swap agreements (see Note 7).

In July 2002, the company terminated its interest rate
swap agreements expiring December 2008, which converted fixed-rate
interest on $100.0 million of its 5.875% debentures to a variable rate.
In terminating the swaps, the company received cash of $18.1 million,
which is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense through
December 1, 2008, the due date of the underlying debt. Gains and
losses on terminations of interest rate swap agreements designated as
fair value hedges are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying amount
of the outstanding obligation and amortized as an adjustment to
interest expense related to the obligation over the remaining term of
the original contract life of the terminated swap agreement. In the
event of early extinguishment of the outstanding obligation, any
unamortized gain or loss from the swaps would be recognized in the
consolidated statement of income at the time of such extinguishment.
In 2002, the company recorded a $17.3 million unrealized gain, net
of accrued interest, on the termination of the interest rate swaps as an
increase in the underlying long-term debt. The remaining unrealized
gain was $10.7 million and $13.4 million at December 31, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, amounted to
$80.0 million, $26.1 million and $23.8 million during 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The company capitalizes interest on qualifying cap-
ital projects. The amount of interest capitalized during 2004, 2003 and
2002 amounted to $0.6 million, $0.2 million and zero, respectively.

Nete 7 — FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company has various financial instruments, including cash and
short-term investments, investments in nonconsolidated compa-
nies, foreign currency forward contracts, commodity forward con-
tracts, interest rate swaps and shortterm and long-term debt. The
company has determined the estimated fair value of these financial
instruments by using available market information and generally
accepted valuation methodologies. The use of different market
assumptions or estimation methodologies could have a material effect
on the estimated fair value amounts. The estimated fair value of the
company’s debt instruments at December 31, 2004 and 2003 approx-
imated $1,966.0 million and $424.9 million, compared with the carry-
ing value of $1,972.3 million and $389.6 million, respectively.

The company is exposed to market risk from changes in
interest rates. The company’s policy is to manage interest expense us-
ing a mix of fixed- and variable-rate debt. To manage this mix in a
cost-efficient manner, the company may enter into interest rate swaps
in which the company agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the
difference between fixed and variable interest amounts calculated by
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reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. Interest pay-
ments receivable and payable under the terms of the interest rate swap
agreements are accrued over the period to which the payment relates
and the net difference is treated as an adjustment of interest expense
related to the underlying liability.

In November 2004, the company entered into interest rate
swap agreements that effectively convert the interest on $200.0 million
of outstanding 4.625% notes due 2009 to a variable rate of six-month
LIBOR plus 40 basis points. The fair value of the interest rate swaps
included in long-term debt was $(0.1) million at December 31, 2004.
In June 2004, the company entered into interest rate swap agreements
that effectively convert the interest on $200.0 million of outstanding
5.875% notes due 2008 to a variable rate of six-month LIBOR plus
111 basis points. The fair value of the interest rate swaps included in
long-term debt was $4.8 million at December 31, 2004. These swaps
are designated as fair-value hedges of underlying fixed-rate debt obli-
gations and are recorded as an increase in noncurrent assets and long-
term debt. These interest rate swaps qualify for the short-cut method
for assessing hedge effectiveness per SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” Changes in fair value
of the swaps are offset by the change in fair value of the underlying
debt. As a result, there was no impact to earnings in 2004 due to hedge
ineffectiveness.

The company also has an interest rate swap agreement
that exchanges variable-rate interest obligations for a fixed rate on a
notional principal amount of Japanese yen 500.0 million.

At December 31, 2003, the company had interest rate swap
agreements, with an original expiration date of March 2005, that
exchanged variable-rate interest obligations on a notional principal
amount of $50.0 million for a fixed rate of 7.6%. After the announce-
ment of the Noveon International acquisition, the company’s long-
term debt and commercial paper credit ratings were downgraded. The
credit rating change eliminated the company’s access to the commer-
cial paper market. As a result, in April 2004, the company terminated
these interest rate swap agreements, which resulted in a $2.9 million
pre-tax charge recognized in the second quarter of 2004. The fair
values of these swaps at December 31, 2003, were an unrealized loss of
$3.5 million. Prior to their termination, these swaps were designated
as cash flow hedges of underlying variable-rate debt obligations and
were recorded as a noncurrent liability. The adjustments to record the
net changes in fair value during 2003 of $2.2 million ($1.4 million net
of tax) were recorded in other comprehensive income. Ineffectiveness
was determined to be immaterial in 2003.

In July 2002, the company terminated its interest rate swap
agreements expiring December 2008, which converted fixed-rate
interest on $100.0 million of 5.875% debentures to a variable rate
(see Note 6).

In June 2004, the company entered into several Treasury
rate lock agreements with an aggregate notional principal amount
of $900.0 million, all maturing September 30, 2004, whereby the
company had locked in Treasury rates relating to a portion of the
then anticipated public debt securities issuance. These rate locks were

designated as cash-flow hedges of the forecasted semi-annual interest
payments associated with the expected debt issuance. In September
2004, the company incurred a pre-tax loss on the termination of these
agreements in an aggregate amount of $73.9 million. Gains and losses
on terminations of Treasury rate lock agreements designated as cash-
flow hedges are deferred and amortized as an adjustment to interest
expense over the life of the corresponding debt issuance using the
effective interest method. The unamortized balance of the Treasury
rate lock recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as of
December 31, 2004 was $47.4 million, net of tax.

The company is exposed to the effect of changes in for-
eign currency rates on its earnings and cash flow as a result of doing
business internationally. In addition to working capital management,
pricing and sourcing, the company selectively uses foreign currency
forward contracts to lessen the potential effect of currency changes.
The maximum amount of foreign currency forward contracts out-
standing at any one time was $140.8 million in 2004, $130.9 mil-
lion in 2003 and $14.8 million in 2002. At December 31, 2004, the
company had short-term forward contracts to buy or sell currencies at
various dates during 2005 for $27.6 million. At December 31, 2003,
the company had short-term forward contracts to buy or sell curren-
cies at various dates during 2004 for $128.0 million, most of which
related to the company’s acquisition of the additives business of
Avecia. Changes in the fair value of these contracts are recorded in
other income. The fair value of these instruments at December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the related adjustments recorded in other income,
were unrealized gains of $0.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

The company is exposed to market risk from changes in
commodity prices. In 2003, the company modified its commodity
hedging program policy to include the use of financial instruments
to manage the cost of natural gas and electricity purchases. These con-
tracts have been designated as cash-flow hedges and, accordingly, any
effective unrealized gains or losses on open contracts are recorded in
other comprehensive income, net of related tax effects. At December
31, 2004 and 2003, the notional amounts of open contracts totaled
$3.3 million and $5.4 million, respectively. A hedge liability of $0.1
million ($0.1 million net of tax) was recorded at December 31, 2004,
and a hedge asset of $0.1 million ($0.1 million net of tax) was recorded
on December 31, 2003, which represents the net unrealized losses or
gains based upon current futures prices at that date. Ineffectiveness was
determined to be immaterial in 2004 and 2003. Contract maturities are
less than 12 months. As such, the company expects that all of these
losses will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months.

Note 8 — OTHER BALANCE SHEET ‘NFORMATION

Receivables: 1 2004 2003
CUSEOMEIS ot ve vttt ieens $519.8 $284.6
Affiliates . ... 9.1 4.8
Other. ..o e 539 ___3_2

sy | s

THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION == 41




R TAR

enis

Notes To Financis! Statem

(In Miilisns Except Per-Share Data]

Receivables are net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$11.0 million and $4.2 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, re-

spectively.

f Property and equipment - at cost: 2004 2003
Land and improvements. .. ................ $ 1713 $ 1216
Buildings and improvements . .............. 494.1 363.9
Machinery and equipment................. 1,960.6 1,420.2
Construction in progress .................. 105.3 54.9

$2,731.3 $1,960.6

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
was $136.7 million, $95.5 million and $91.6 million in 2004, 2003,

and 2002, respectively.

I

N

Nete 9 — SHAREXCLDERS EQUITY

The company has 147.0 million authorized shares consisting of 2.0
million shares of serial preferred stock, 25.0 million shares of serial
preference shares and 120.0 million common shares, each of which
is without par value. Common shares outstanding exclude common
shares held in treasury of 19.4 million and 34.6 million at December
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In September 2004, the company issued and sold 13.4 mil-
lion common shares at a price of $33.25 per share. Net proceeds from
the sale of common shares were $427.2 million and were used primar-
ily to repay the temporary bridge loan that financed a portion of the
Noveon International acquisition. In QOctober 2004, the company is-
sued an additional 1.3 million common shares at a price of $33.25 per
share due to the exercise of the over-allotment option relating to the

| Accrued expenses and other current liabilities: 2004 2003
Employee compensation .................. $109.7 $ 59.8
Incometaxes. ... ......oooiiviiiiiii. 55.9 18.7
Taxes other thanincome .................. 35.2 15.5
Sales allowances and rebates. .. ............. 322 11.9
Restructuring charges ... ............... ... 8.8 12.4
Other ..oovvi _ 677 352

$30£ $153.5

Dividends payable at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were

$17.4 million and $13.4 million, respectively, and are included in

accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheet.

‘FN—éncurrent liabilities: . 2004 2003
Pensions .. ....ovvienininiiiine i $ 96.9 $ 48.6
Employee benefits ....................... 45.8 32.8
Other ... 28.0 18.9

$170.7 $100.3

September common share offering. This issuance generated net pro-
ceeds to the company of $42.8 million, which were utilized to prepay
$40.0 million in term loan debt.

| The company has a shareholder rights plan under which

one right to buy one-half common share has been distributed for each
common share held. The rights may become exercisable under cer-
tain circumstances involving actual or potential acquisitions of 20%
or more of the common shares by a person or affiliated persons who
acquire stock without complying with the requirements of the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. The rights would entitle sharehold-
ers, other than this person or affiliated persons, to purchase common
shares of the company or of certain acquiring persons at 50% of the
: then current market value. At the option of the directors, the rights
; may be exchanged for common shares, and may be redeemed in cash,
| securities or other consideration. The rights will expire in 2007 unless
redeemed earlier.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) shown in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2004,

2003 and 2002 is comprised of the following:

Foreign Unrealized Pension Accumulated
Currency Treasury Gains (Losses) Plan er
JRR——— —— Translation Rate on Interest Minimum Comprchensive
| Adjesmemt  Lods _ RateSwps _ Lisbiliy Tncome (losy)
Balance, January 1,2002. . ................. $(96.2) $ - $ 24 $(1.2) $(99.8)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Pretax .. ..o 442 - (1.2) (29.4) 13.6
Tax benefit (provision) .................. (12 - 04 89 _ 81
Total ..o _430 = (08 (20.5) a7
Balance, December 31,2002 ............... (53.2) - (3.2 (217 (78.1)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
PIEtaX o o o oo e e e 515 - 22 (12.0) 417
Tax benefit (provision) .................. 24) - _(08) 36 _ 04
Total ..o _ 491 - 14 (84 421
Balance, December 31,2003 ............... 4.1) - (1.8) 30.1) (36.0)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Pretax .. .oovveei 97.5 (72.9) 32 1.9 29.7
Tax benefit (provision) .................. (1.9) 25.5 (LD 0.7) 218
Total ... 956 m} 21 z E
Balance, December 31,2004 ............... ] $91.5 $(47.4) $ 03 $(28.9) $15.5
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Note 10 — OTHER INCOME {EXPENSE) — NET

2004 2003 o _}002
Currency exchange/transaction
gain (loss). .. ..ot $6.2 $35 $(0.4)
Equity earnings of
nonconsolidated companies . . . . . . 0.8 0.1 0.9
Other-met.. ................... 2.1 0.3) (1.7)
$49 $3.3 12)

Dividends received from the nonconsolidated companies
were $0.4 million in 2004, $1.0 million in 2003 and $2.7 million
in 2002.

Note 11 — INCOME TAXES

Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in ac-
counting principle consists of the following:

| 2004 2003 %002
United States . .................. $ 3738 §393 $ 955
Foreign..................... ... 108.8 89.8 84.9
Total. ... . $146.6 $129.1 $180.4

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

[ | 2004 2003 2002
Current: |
United States ................... $53 $ 6.1 $14.8
Foreign............. ... ..... 419 307 361

47.2 36.8 50.9

Deferred: o T T
United States ................... 16.0 3.0 1.2
Foreign........................ (10.1) (15 20
sl s w2

Total ... $53.1 Bﬁ ﬁ

The differences between the provision for income taxes at
the U.S. statutory rate and the tax shown in the consolidated state-
ments of income are summarized as follows:

| 2004 _}90:? o ?002
Tax at statutory rate of 35% ... ..... $51.3 $45.2 $63.1
U.S. and foreign tax on

foreign dividends. . ............. 13.8 3.5 0.9)
U.S. tax benefit on exports. . ....... (1.8) (3.7) 4.1 !
Technology donation............. - - (5.2) !
Untaxed translation (gains) losses. . . . (2.5) (5.4) 1.6
Foreign rate differences. . .......... (7.8) 0.3) 0.5
Other-met ..........ccovvvnnn. 01 _(1L0) _(09)
Provision for income taxes ........ ﬁﬂ %ﬁ $_54_1_

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to
significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December
31 are as follows:

2004 ﬁ__2993
Deferred tax assets: |
Accrued compensation and benefits. . ... ... $120.7 $ 65.5
Intercompany profit in inventory .. ........ 115 8.7
Net operating losses and tax credits
carried forward .. .. ... ..o Lol 146.0 28
Other......ooviiiii i o222 50
Total gross deferred tax assets............... 300.4 82.0
Less valuation allowance. .................. _(18.8) _(‘1_.?_)
Net deferred tax assets .................... 2816 80.1
Deferred tax liabilities: - o
Depreciation and other basis differences. . . . . 255.7 104.6 E
Foreign subsidiary and affiliate E
undistributed earnings .. ............ ... 30.0 61 !
Other. ... _103 __6_9 }
Total gross deferred tax liabiliies ... 2960 76 |
Net deferred tax liabilities, . . ............... $ 144 $ 375 ,
J

L_

At December 31, 2004, the company had federal, state and
foreign net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) and federal tax credit
carryforwards. The company’s U.S. federal NOLs and credits totaled
$326.0 million and $6.7 million, respectively. The federal benefit of
these NOLs and tax credits expires in 2021 through 2024. The com-
pany had $15.6 million of state tax benefit from NOLs, of which
$6.1 million expires in 2005 through 2020 and $9.5 million expires
in 2020 through 2024. The company had foreign NOLs of $38.2 mil-
lion, of which $16.0 million expire in 2006-2019 and $22.2 million
have no expiration.

A valuation allowance totaling $18.8 million has been
recorded to reduce foreign and state deferred tax assets, related primar-
ily to the NOLs, to the amounts expected to be realized. No valuation
allowance has been recognized against the U.S. federal NOLs or tax
credits because management believes that it is more likely than not
that the company will generate sufficient future taxable income dur-
ing the carryforward period to utilize them.

Of the total $18.8 million valuation allowance, $14.5 mil-
lion is associated with deferred tax assets established in purchase price
accounting for Noveon International. Any future reversal of the valu-
ation allowance that was recorded in purchase price accounting would
reduce goodwill.

The net change in the total valuation allowance for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was an increase of
$16.9 million, a decrease of $1.7 million and a decrease of $0.7 mil-
lion, respectively.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the Jobs Act),
enacted on October 22, 2004, provides for a temporary 85% dividends
received deduction on certain foreign earnings repatriated during a
one-year period, which, for the company, will be 2005. The deduc-
tion would result in an approximate 5.25% federal tax on the repa-
triated earnings. To qualify for the deduction, the earnings must be
reinvested in the United States pursuant to a domestic reinvestment
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plan approved by a company’s chief executive (or comparable) officer
and board of directors. Certain other criteria in the Jobs Act must be
satisfied as well.

As of December 31, 2004, the company has established a
deferred tax liability of $21.2 million for the planned 2005 repatriation
of foreign earnings. Of this amount, $11.7 million of deferred taxes was
provided in 2004, $3.2 million was provided in prior years and $6.3
million was established in the purchase price accounting of Noveon
International, because the company did not intend Noveon Interna-
tional’s pre-acquisition earnings to be indefinitely reinvested overseas.

U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxes are not
provided on the remaining undistributed earnings of foreign subsid-
iaries, which are considered to be indefinitely reinvested in the opera-
tions of such subsidiaries. The amount of these earnings was approxi-
mately $454.6 million at December 31, 2004. Determination of the
net amount of unrecognized U.S. income tax with respect to these

earnings is not practicable.

Income taxes paid during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $34.6
million, $50.8 million and $48.8 million, respectively.

The company has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans cov-
ering most employees. Pension benefits under these plans are based
on years of service and the employee’s compensation. The company’s
funding policy in the United States is to contribute amounts to sat-
isfy the funding standards of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
as amended, and elsewhere to fund amounts in accordance with local
regulations. Several of the company’s smaller defined benefit plans
are not funded.

The investment objective of the funded pension plans
sponsored by the company and certain subsidiaries is to assure the
timely payment of promised benefits at a minimum cost consistent
with prudent standards of investment, given the strength of the com-
pany and the subsidiaries, their earnings record, the adequacy of each
plan’s funding and the age of each entity’s work force. The plans
utilize diversified investment portfolios and seek to earn returns con-
sistent with a reasonable level of risk. The long-term expected return
on plan assets is based upon each entity’s investment allocation and
anticipated returns for specific investment classes. During 2004, the
company maintained the expected long-term rate of return assump-
tion for the U.S. plans of 9.0% (7.82% on a weighted average basis for
all plans) to determine the net periodic pension cost.

As long-term asset allocation is recognized as the primary
determinant of performance, the sponsoring entities generally utilize
the following asset allocation targets to achieve their plan investment
objectives: 70% equity securities and 30% debt securities. The non-
U.S. plans have a slightly higher allocation to debt securities than
the U.S. plans. As appropriate, allocation targets and ranges may be
established for various subcategories. Allocations are reviewed period-
ically and adjusted as necessary. From the date of acquisition through
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the end of December 2004, the Noveon International U.S. pension
plans’ assets had an investment mix that approximated 50% in both
equity and debt securities. However, in January 2005, the company
transferred the Noveon International U.S. pension plans’ assets into
one master-trust arrangement with the Lubrizol U.S. pension plans
existing prior to the Noveon International acquisition. As a result,
the combined assets will be subject to the same overall investment
strategy and management going forward.

Approved pension plan investments include, but are not
limited to: equities, fixed-income securities, real estate, venture capi-
tal, cash and cash equivalent instruments and such other instruments
(including mutual fund investments), as the company may approve.
Investments in tax-exempt securities, commodities and options, other
than covered calls, and the use of leverage are prohibited. Plan in-
vestment managers may use derivatives to hedge currency risk and to
keep fully invested. Any other use of derivative instruments must be
approved by the sponsoring entity.

The market values of pension plan assets are compared
periodically to the value of plan benefit obligations. The future value
of assets, as calculated based on the expected long-term rate of return,
are also compared to expected future plan benefit distributions and
contributions to determine the sufficiency of expected plan funding
levels. Investment asset allocations are revised as appropriate.

Plan assets are invested principally in marketable equity
securities and fixed income instruments. The allocation of pension
plan assets by major asset class is shown below on a weighted-average

basis:
Percentage of Plan Assets
o __at Deccmbcr_3_l_ .
P 2004 2003
Asset Category: ‘
Equity securities ....................... 70% i 72%
Debt securities. . .. ...ooovtviiiiiinia.n. 27% i 23%
Realestate .........ooiinininen 3% ; 5%
Total ... M i w

No equity or debt securities of the company or any of its
subsidiaries were included in the plans’ assets for 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

The company also provides certain non-pension postretire-
ment benefits, primarily health care and life insurance benefits, for
retired employees. Most of the legacy Lubrizol full-time employees in
the United States may become eligible for health care benefits upon
retirement. Full-time employees who retired on or after January 1,
1992 are also eligible for life insurance benefits. Participants contrib-
ute a portion of the cost of these benefits. The company’s non-pen-
sion postretirement benefit plans are not funded.

The change in the projected benefit obligation and plan
assets for 2004 and 2003 and the amounts recognized in the consoli-
dated balance sheets at December 31 of the company’s defined benefit
pension and non-pension postretirement plans are as follows:
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Pension Plans Other Benefits
2004 »2003 2004 2(_]9_3 )
Change in projected benefit
obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at
beginning of year. .. ........... $419.3 | $3559 | $113.2 | $1065
Service cost . .........oiiiit 220 14.5 25 20
Interestcost. ................. 27.9 223 6.9 7.0
Plan participants’ contributions. . . 0.4 0.3 2.9 2.5
Actuarial loss (gain). . .......... 37.0 26.7 (0.5) 6.5
Currency exchange rate change. .. 17.0 17.0 0.4 0.7
Amendments. ................ 0.9 0.9 - (5.4)
Settlements . ................. (39.4) - - -
Acquisitions/divestitures. . ... ... 84.9 (0.1) 3.9 -
Benefitspaid . ................ (11.5) (18.2) (6.8 (6.6)
Benefit obligation at end of year . .. 558.5 419.3 122.5 113.2
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at :
beginning of year. . ............ 306.5 249.1 - -
Actual return on plan assets. . . ... 39.5 53.7 - -
Acquisitions/divestitures. . ... ... 32.8 (0.1) - -
Employer contributions. . ....... 19.9 10.6 3.9 4.1
Settlements .................. (37.0) - - -
Plan participants’ contributions. . . 0.4 03 29 25
Currency exchange rate change. . . 10.5 11.1 - -
Adjustments ................. (3.9 - - -
Benefispad................. (1L.5) (18.2) 6.8) 6.6)
Fair value of plan assets at
endofyear................... 357.2 306.5 - -
Reconciliation of funded status:
Plan assets less than projected
benefit obligation ............. 201.3) | (112.8) | (1225) | (113.2)
Unrecognized net loss. ......... 104.4 89.4 46.1 49.2
Unrecognized net transition
obligation (asset) ............ 0.7 {0.1) - -
Unrecognized prior service cost . . 233 24.2 (33.7) (39.8)
Net amounts recognized. .. ....... $(72.9) | § 07 | $(110.1) | $(103.8)
Net amounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets:
Prepaid benefit cost. . .......... $ 06 1% 54 |8 - 8% -
Accrued benefit liability . ....... (120.6) (53.1) (110.1) | (103.8)
Accumulated other
comprehensive income ....... 41.6 43.5 - -
Intangibleasset .. ............. 5.5 4.9 - -
Net amounts recognized ......... $(29 | § 07 J $(110.1) | $(103.8)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit
pension plans was $425.3 million and $329.4 million at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively. The projected benefit obligation and fair

value of plan assets for pension plans with projected benefit obliga-
tions in excess of plan assets were $548.9 million and $347.0 million,
respectively, at December 31, 2004, and $414.5 million and $301.5
million, respectively, at December 31, 2003. The accumulated benefit
obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumu-

lated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $234.7 million
and $155.8 million, respectively, at December 31, 2004 and $149.8

million and $98.5 million, respectively, at December 31, 2003.

The company amortizes gains and losses, as well as the ef-

fects of changes in actuarial assumptions and plan provisions, over the

average remaining service period of participating employees expected

to receive benefits under the plans.

Net periodic pension cost of the company’s defined benefit

pension plans consists of:

[ 2004 2003
Service cost — benefits eamed during peried . ... $22.0 $14.5
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation. . . . . 279 223
Expected return on plan assets. . ............. (27.4) (26.4)
Amortization of prior service costs, . .......... 1.6 33
Amortization of initial netasset. . ............ 0.7) 0.7)
Recognized net actuarial (gain) Joss . .......... 3.8 0.8
Settlementloss .. ...... ... .. il 77 _ 03
Net periodic pension cost. . ............ou... m $;l_4__1_

2002

3126
20.5

267)

3.2

07

©05)

23

8.

=

The company recorded a $7.7 million settlement charge in

2004 primarily associated with workforce reductions announced in

June 2004 in the United States.

Net non-pension postretirement benefit cost consists of:

\ 2004 2003
Service cost — benefits earned during period . . .. $2.5 $2.0
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . . .. 6.9 7.0
Amortization of prior service costs. . .. ........ (6.1) (5.6)
Recognized net actuarialloss ................ 25 22
Net non-pension postretirement benefit cost. . . . ﬂ S—S—_6

2002

$1.6

The company’s actuarial assumptions used to determine

benefit obligations and earnings effects for its defined benefit pension

and non-pension postretirement plans are as follows:

Pension Plans Other Benefits
2004 2903 2004 . 2003
The weighted-average assumptions
used to determine benefit
obligations at December 31:
Measurement date. . ........... 12/31/04 | 12/31/03 | 12/31/04 | 12/31/03 |
Discountrate. . ............... 5.74% 5.88% 6.20% 6.20%
Rate of compensation increase . . . 4,08% 3.87% * *
The weighted-average assumptions
used to determine net periodic
benefit cost for years ended
December 31: |
Discountrate................. 5.94% 6.34% 6.24% 6.70%
Expected long-term return on
planassets ................. 7.82% 8.34% * *
Rate of compensation increase . . . 3.86% 3.78% * *

*Disclosure not applicable

The following table shows the amounts the company con-

tributed to its postretirement plans in 2004 and 2003 and the expected

contributions for 2005

Employer contributions:

Pension

Plans

$10.6
$19.9
$30.9

Other
Plans

$4.1
$3.9
$4.9

Total
$14.7
$23.8
$35.8
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Expected employer contributions for pension benefits in
2005 include $2.2 million for unfunded plans. The expected contribu-
tions to these plans represents an actuarial estimate of future assumed
payments based on historic retirement and payment patterns. Actual
amounts paid could differ from this estimate.

Contributions by participants to the other benefit plans
were $2.9 million and $2.5 million for the years ending December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

The following table shows the benefits expected to be paid
in each of the next five years and the aggregate benefits expected to be
paid for the subsequent five years:

_ Pension Other Total
! Estimatid jlturc benefit payments: ‘ B cheﬁts_ N 'Benc_ﬁtfv__l}cgcﬁtsri
2005 " $185 $ 49 5 23.4 W
2006 e $19.7 $ 48 $245
2007 .. $ 243 $ 5.1 $294 |
2008 .. $ 24.6 $53 $ 299
2009 ..o $ 282 $ 56 $338 |
2010-2014 ... $171.9 $32.9 $204.8 |

The other benefits in the above table are presented net of
expected Medicare Part D subsidy payments of zero in 2005, $0.5 mil-
lion in 2006, $0.6 million in 2007, $0.7 million in 2008, $0.8 million
in 2009 and $4.9 million in 2010-2014.

The weighted average of the assumed health care cost trend
rates used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit obli-
gation for the company’s postretirement benefit plans at December
31, 2004 was 9.37% (7.98% at December 31, 2003), with subsequent
annual decrements to an ultimate trend rate of 4.74% by 2014. The
assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the
amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point
change in the assumed health care cost trend rate would have the fol-
lowing effects as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004:

One-Percentage-Point

B i Increase Dgcrease
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation . . . . $18.9 ’ 152y
Effect on total service and interest i |
COSt COMPONENLS . . oo veeeeenanerenn.. $19 [ $(1.4) \

The company also has defined contribution plans, prmc1pal-
ly involving profit sharing plans and/or 401(k) savings plans, covering
most employees in the United States and at certain non-U.S. subsid-
iaries. Expense for all defined contribution retirement plans was $12.8
million in 2004, $9.5 million in 2003 and $10.0 million in 2002.

A

\{‘
SR

[

et [J“LSE

(73]

The company has commitments under operating leases primarily for
office space, terminal facilities, land, railcars and various computer
and office equipment. Rental expense was $26.4 million in 2004,
$15.8 million in 2003 and $15.6 million in 2002. Future minimum
rental commitments under operating leases having initial or remain-
ing non-cancelable lease terms exceeding one year are $21.9 million
in 2005, $14.8 million in 2006, $11.5 million in 2007, $7.3 million in
2008, $5.5 million in 2009 and $14.4 million thereafter. Minimum
rental commitments are net of estimated credits for railcar mileage of

46 THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

AN

$0.6 million in 2005, $0.4 million in 2006, $0.3 million in 2007, $0.2
million in 2008, $0.1 million in 2009 and $0.1 million thereafter.

No%e i4 — SZGMENT AND CEOZRAPHIC INFORMATION

Beginning in the second quarter of 2004, the company reorganized
as a result of the Noveon International acquisition into two operating
and reporting segments: Lubricant Additives and Specialty Chemi-
cals. The Lubricant Additives segment, also referred to as Lubrizol
Additives, represents 65% of the company’s 2004 consolidated rev-
enues and is comprised of the company’s previous businesses in fluid
technologies for transportation (FTT), advanced fluid systems, emulsi-
fied products and the former industrial additives product group of
fluid technologies for industry (FTI). The Specialty Chemicals seg-
ment, also referred to as the Noveon segment, represents 35% of the
company’s 2004 consolidated revenues and is comprised of the busi-
nesses of the acquired Noveon International and the former perfor-
mance chemicals group of FIL

Lubricant Additives consists of three product lines: engine
additives; specialty driveline and industrial oil additives; and services
and equipment. Engine additives is comprised of additives for lubri-
cating engine oils, such as for gasoline, diesel, marine and stationary
gas engines and additive components, additives for fuel products and
refinery and oil field chemicals and PuriNOx™ low-emissions diesel
fuel. In addition, this product line sells additive components and vis-
cosity improvers within its lubricant and fuel additives product areas.
Specialty driveline and industrial oil additives is comprised of addi-
tives for driveline oils, such as automatic transmission fluids, gear oils
and tractor lubricants and industrial oil additives, such as additives
for hydraulic, grease and metalworking fluids, as well as compressor
lubricants. Services and equipment is comprised of fluid metering
devices, particulate emission trap devices, FluiPak™ sensor systems
and outsourcing strategies for supply chain and knowledge center
management. Lubricant Additives product lines are produced general-
ly in company-owned shared manufacturing facilities and sold largely
to a common customer base.

The Specialty Chemicals segment consists of consumer
specialties, specialty materials and performance coatings product
lines. The consumer specialties product line is characterized by global
production of acrylic thickeners, specialty monomers, film formers,
fixatives, emollients, silicones, surfactants, botanicals, active phar-
maceutical ingredients and intermediates, process chemicals, benzo-
ate preservatives, fragrances, defoamers, synthetic food dyes, natural
colorants, rubber and lubricant oxidants and rubber accelerators. The
company markets products in the consumer specialties product line
to the following primary end-use industries: personal care, pharma-
ceuticals, textiles, food and beverage, automotive and aerospace. The
consumer specialties products are sold to customers worldwide and
these customers include major manufacturers of cosmetics, person-
al care products, water soluble polymers, household products, soft
drinks and food products and major manufacturers in the automotive
and aerospace industries. The specialty materials product line is char-
acterized by products such as chlorinated polyvinyl chloride (CPVC)
resins and compounds and is also a producer of thermoplastic poly-
urethane (TPU) and cross-linked polyethylene compounds (PEX). The
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company markets products of specialty materials through the primary
product category of specialty plastics. Specialty materials products
are sold to a diverse customer base comprised of major manufactur-
ers in the construction, automotive, telecommunications, electronics
and recreation industries. The performance coatings product line in-
cludes high-performance polymers for specialty paper, printing and
packaging, industrial and architectural specialty coatings and textile
applications. The company markets the performance coatings prod-
ucts through the primary product categories of performance polymers
and coatings and textile performance chemicals. Performance coatings
products serve major companies in the specialty paper, printing and
packaging, paint and coatings, and textile industries.

The following table presents a summary of the results of
the company’s reportable segments for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 based on the current reporting structure. During
2004, the company reclassified certain unallocated corporate expenses
to segment operating income, which previously had been excluded
from the previously disclosed segment contribution income. Prior
years have been restated to reflect the new reporting classifications of
products between the two operating segments and the new definition
of segment operating income.

The company primarily evaluates performance and allocates
resources based on segment operating income, defined as revenues
less expenses identifiable to the product lines included within each
segment, as well as projected future returns. The company’s account-
ing policies for its operating segments are the same as those described
in Note 2. Segment operating income will reconcile to consolidated
income before tax by deducting the write-off of acquired IPR&D proj-
ects, restructuring charges, net interest expense, corporate expenses
and corporate other income {expense) that are not directly attributable
to the operating segments.

Revenues from external customers by product line are

as follows:
2004 2003 2

Engine additives. .................... $1,222.9 | $1,127.4  $1,159.9
Specialty driveline/industrial

ol additives. .. ...... .. .o 743.2 622.6 606.6
Services and equipment ... ............ 72.7 48.9 31.7

Total Lubricant Additives . ........... 2,038.8 1,798.9 1,798.2
Consumer specialties . ................ 481.7 1442 101.4
Performance coatings .. ............... 391.9 109.0 84.3
Specialty materials . .................. 247.1 - -

Total Specialty Chemicals............ 1,120.7 253.2 185.7
Total revenues from external customers, . . $3,159.5 $2,052.1 $1,983.9

Revenues are attributable to countries based on the location
of the customer. The United States is the only country where sales to
external customers comprise in excess of 10% of the company’s con-
solidated revenues. Revenues from external customers by geographic
zone are as follows:

1

2004 2003 2002 ‘

Lubricant Additives: {
Revenues from external customers .. . .. $2,038.8 $1,798.9 $1,798.2 ]
Equityeamnings .................... 0.8 0.1 10 |
Amortization of intangibles .......... 3.0 3.0 3.0 f
Segment operating income ........... 2443 2015 235.2 l,
Segment total assets. . ... .v...... ... L3371 | L1681 L1764 |
Capital expenditures. ............... 82.9 74.6 60.4 ‘
Depreciation . ...t 86.8 85.0 813
Specialty Chemicals:
Revenues from external customers . . ... $1,120.7 | $ 2532 § 1857 ‘
Amortization of intangibles .......... 15.0 1.9 1.2 E
Segment operating income ........... 85.6 0.9 0.4 ‘t
Segment total assets. .. .............. 2,733.3 403.6 2940
Capital expenditures . .. ............. 50.2 13.9 49 !
Depreciation ............ooivnn .. 48.9 9.4 94 !
Corporate: l
Total assets ... .coovevrerianrnnnnn $ 4959 | § 3706 § 3897 |
Capital expenditures .. .............. 0.1 - -
Depreciation . .......ooovvineann... 1.0 1.1 0.9 :
Reconciliation to consolidated income i
before income taxes and cumulative ‘
effect of change in accounting principle: ‘
Segment operating income .. ......... § 3299 | $§ 2024 § 2356 1
COrporate eXpenses . . ............... (@4.1) (33.6) (36.4) |
Corporate other income (expense) . . . .. 5.7 4.1 2.2) ‘
Write-off of acquired IPR&D . ........ (34.0) - - :
Restructuring charges ............... (38.6) (22.5) - ‘
Interest expense - net . .............. (72.3) (21.3) (16.6)
Income before income taxes and :
cumulative effect of change in |
accounting principle .............. $ 1466 | $ 1291 § 1804 !
_______ —

I 2004 2008 2002
United States ... ...oviviiiinn . $1,347.0 $ 8205 $ 8150
Other North America................. 172.1 93.7 83.7
Europe ..o ooviiii 886.8 602.6 551.8
Asia-Pacific / Middle East. .. ........... 581.0 404.1 405.8
Latin America. ..........oooveneinn. 1726 131.2 1276

Total revenues from external customers. . | $3,159.5 | $2,052.1  $1,983.9
e . -

The company’s sales and receivables are concentrated in the
oil and chemical industries. Lubricant Additives’ customers consist
primarily of oil refiners and independent oil blenders and are located
in more than 100 countries. The 10 largest customers, most of which
are international oil companies and a number of which are groups
of affiliated entities, comprised approximately 38% of consolidated
net sales in 2004, 52% of consolidated net sales in 2003 and 55% of
consolidated net sales in 2002, In 2004, there was no single customer
that accounted for more than 10% of consolidated net sales. In 2003,
the company had one customer, predominantly within the Lubricant
Additives segment, that accounted for revenues of $217.6 million,
representing more than 10% of consolidated net sales. In 2002, the
company had two customers that accounted for revenues of $229.7
million and $195.2 million, respectively, individually representing
more than 10% of consolidated net sales.
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Segment assets include receivables, inventories and long-
lived assets including goodwill and intangible assets. Corporate assets
include cash and short-term investments, investments accounted for
on the cost basis and other current and noncurrent assets.

The company’s principal long-lived assets are located in the
following countries at December 31:

T 2004 2003 2002
United States . ......oovenvnnn. $1,860.0 $671.0 $617.8
Belgium .............cine... 402.0 20.9 15.3
United Kingdom .............. 180.2 71.8 74.2
France................... .. .. 84.5 77.9 69.4
HongKong. ........... ... .. 83.2 - -
Germany..............c...... 65.3 133 123
Other ... oveiii i, 233.6 106.2 101.7
Total long-lived assets. . ......... $2,908.8 $961.1 $890.7

Net income of non-United States subsidiaries was $74.8
million in 2004, $61.1 million in 2003 and $41.2 million in 2002;
dividends received from these subsidiaries were $1.2 million, $28.0
million and $12.0 million, respectively.

A e T oy N = = S AN
ANCTe Lo — STOCK COMPZNSATIZN PLANS

The 1991 Stock Incentive Plan (1991 Plan) provided for the grant-
ing of restricted and unrestricted shares and options to buy common
shares up to an amount equal to 1% of the outstanding common
shares at the beginning of any year, plus any unused amount from
prior years. Options are intended either to qualify as “incentive stock
options” under the Intemnal Revenue Code or to be “non-statutory
stock options” not intended to so qualify. Under the 1991 Plan,
options generally become exercisable 50% one year after grant, 75%
after two years, 100% after three years and expire up to 10 years after
grant. The 1991 Plan generally superseded the 1985 Employee Stock
Option Plan (1985 Plan), although options outstanding under the 1985
Plan remain exercisable until their expiration dates. The option price
for stock options under the 1985 Plan is the fair market value of the
shares on the date of grant. The option price for stock options under
the 1991 Plan is not less than the fair market value of the shares on the
date of grant. Both plans permitted the granting of stock appreciation
rights in connection with the grant of options. In addition, the 1991
Plan provided to each outside director of the company an automatic
annual grant of an option to purchase 2,500 common shares, with
terms generally comparable to employee stock options. (All references
to share numbers in Note 15 are based on actual share numbers and
are not shown in millions.)

Under the 1991 Plan, the company has granted perfor-
mance share stock awards to certain executive officers. Common
shares equal to the number of performance share stock awards granted
were to be issued if the market price of the company’s common stock
reached $45.00 per common share for 10 consecutive trading days,
or on March 24, 2003, whichever occurred first. Under certain condi-
tions such as retirement, a grantee of performance share stock awards
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could have been issued a pro-rata number of common shares. The
market value of the company’s common shares at date of grant of the
performance share stock awards was $33.45 per share (for 500 awards)
in 2002. The company recognized compensation expense related to
performance share stock awards ratably over the estimated period of
vesting. Compensation costs recognized for performance share stock
awards were less than $0.1 million in 2003 and 2002. On March 24,
2003, 3,500 shares were issued and 57,250 shares were deferred to the
deferred compensation plan for officers. The company allocated 1,415
share units under this plan in 2003, which represent quarterly divi-
dends paid on the company’s shares. At December 31, 2004, 59,962
share units were outstanding. Compensation expense recognized for
the dividends on the deferred shares was $0.1 million in each of 2004
and 2003.

The 1991 Plan was terminated by the board of directors with
respect to future grants effective November 15, 2004. Qutstanding
grants under the 1991 Plan will remain effective subject to their terms.

Under a supplemental retirement plan, an account for the
participant is credited with 500 share units each year and is credited
with additional share units for quarterly dividends paid on the com-
pany’s shares. When the participant retires, the company will issue
shares equal to the number of share units in the participant’s account
or the cash equivalent. The company has allocated 67, 567 and 546
share units under this plan in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. At
December 31, 2004, 2,226 share units were outstanding, Compensa-
tion costs recognized for this plan were less than $0.1 million in each
of 2004, 2003 and 2002. For share units attributable to grants credited
after January 1, 2004, the payment will be in cash.

Under the deferred stock compensation plan for outside
directors, each nonemployee director received 500 share units on each
October 1 and is credited with additional share units for quarterly
dividends paid on the company’s shares. When a participant ceases to
be a director, the company issues shares equal to the number of share
units in the director’s account. The company has allocated to nonem-
ployee directors 1,351, 6,048 and 6,208 share units under this plan in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Director fee expense recognized
for share units was less than $0.1 million in 2004 and $0.2 million in
each of 2003 and 2002. At December 31, 2004, 40,939 share units for
nonemployee directors were outstanding. No new grants will be made
under this plan after January 1, 2004.

In addition, under a separate deferred compensation plan
for outside directors, the company has allocated to nonemployee
directors 569, 620 and 573 share units under this plan in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively. These share units continue to accrue quarterly
dividends paid on the company’s shares. When a participant ceases
to be a director, the company issues shares equal to the number of
share units in the director’s account. At December 31, 2004, 18,917
share units for nonemployee directors were outstanding. Director
fee expense recognized for share units for this plan was less than $0.1
million in each of 2004, 2003 and 2002,




Notes To Financial Statements cowtinyzn

Under the deferred compensation plan for executive offi-
cers, participants may elect to defer any amount of their variable pay.
Deferred amounts are converted into share units based on the current
market price of the company’s shares. There is 2 25% company match.
Additional share units are credited for quarterly dividends paid on
the company’s shares. At the end of the deferral period, which is at
least three years, the company issues shares equal to the number of
share units in the participant’s account. The company has allocated to
executive officers 16,743, 23,060 and 8,010 share units under this plan
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Compensation costs recognized
for share units were approximately $0.5 million in 2004, $0.7 million
in 2003 and $0.3 million in 2002. At December 31, 2004, 71,857 share
units for executive officers were outstanding. For share units attribut-
able to company match credited after January 1, 2004, distributions
will be made in cash.

Under the 1991 Stock Plan, effective January 1, 2003, the
company granted 15,000 restricted shares to each of three executive
officers. The shares will be issued only if the executive remains an em-
ployee until January 1, 2008. Also, effective January 1, 2003, the com-
pany granted 5,000 restricted shares to one executive officer, which
would be issued only if the executive remained with the company
until January 1, 2008. On July 26, 2004, this grant was amended to
issue the shares if the executive remained employed until July 29,
2004. The shares will be issued July 29, 2005. There are no voting or
dividend rights on the restricted shares described in this paragraph
unless and until they are issued. The restricted shares stock awards had
a fair value of $25.83 at the date of grant. The company recognizes
compensation expense related to restricted shares ratably over the esti-
mated period of vesting. Compensation costs recognized for restricted
share stock awards were approximately $0.3 million in each of 2004
and 2003 and zero in 2002.

Under the Long-Term Incentive Plan, dollar-based target
awards were determined by the organization and compensation com-
mittee of the board of directors in December 2002 and 2003 for the
three-year performance periods of 2003-2005 and 2004-2006, respec-
tively. A portion of the award was converted into a number of share
units based on the price of Lubrizol stock on the date of the award.
There are no voting or dividend rights associated with the share units
until the end of the performance period and a distribution of shares, if
any, is made. The target awards correspond to a pre-determined three-
year earnings per share growth rate target. Based on the awards granted
for the 2003-2005 and 2004-2006 performance periods, the company
recognized compensation expense of $2.6 million in 2004. The other
portion of the award is a cash award which is also determined for the
same three-year performance periods. Based on awards granted for
these performance periods, the company recognized compensation
expense of $5.1 million for the cash awards in 2004. No expense was
recorded in 2003 as the company did not believe as of December
31, 2003 it was probable that shares would have been issued or cash
awards would have been earned under the plan.

Information regarding these option plans, excluding the
performance share stock awards, the restricted share stock awards and
the long-term incentive plan stock awards, follows:

Weighted-

g ! Shares Exee:i?:%iicc
Outstanding, January 1,2004............... 5,393,042 $31.28
Granted. . ... ..o e 508,896 30.20
Exercised............. ... ... il (556,582) 29.01
Forfeited. . ............... L (320,208) 36.44
Outstanding, December 31,2004, . .......... 5,025,148 $31_09
Options exercisable, December 31,2004 ... ... 4,170,614 $31.10
Weighted-average fair value of options —— T

granted during theyear.................. $_55_0
Outstanding, January 1,2003............... 5,272,723 $31.38
Granted. ... ... 525,401 3035
Exercised.................. ... ... ..... (151,112) 27.87
Forfeited .. ...............oo L (253,970) . 33.60
Outstanding, December 31,2003............ 5,393,042 $31.28
Options exercisable, December 31,2003 .. .. .. 4,173,632 $3_1_1_8
Weighted-average fair value of options

granted during the year.................. ‘ §_6_7_8
Qutstanding, January 1,2002............... 4,827,266 $30.74
Granted. .. ... 949,102 34.06
Exercised.. ... i (396,420) 29.25
Forfeited............ooooiii il (107,225) 34.11 |
Outstanding, December 31, 2002............ 5272723 83138 |
Options exercisable, December 31,2002 ... ... 3,560,650 m
Weighted-average fair value of options : T

granted during theyear.................. ) ———5— i9i_—J

Information regarding the performance share stock awards

follows:

l _ | Shares
Outstanding, January 1,2003. . .............coiiii. L. : 60,750
Granted. .. ... ‘ -
Forfeited .. . ... -
Common shares issued/deferred .. ........................... i (60,750)
Outstanding, December31,2003............................. ' -
Outstanding, January 1,2002. . ...............ooiiiiina.... 66,%
Granted. .. ... 3 500
Forfeited .. ... (918) l
Common sharesissued. . ...........0 i i (5,082 |
Outstanding, December 31,2002, ............................ 2(1,7_52 i

The weighted-average fair value per share was $32.16
in 2002.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States encourage the fair-value method of accounting for stock com-
pensation plans under which the value of stock-based compensation is
estimated at the date of grant using valuation formulas, but permit the
use of intrinsic-value accounting. The company accounts for its stock
compensation plans using the intrinsic-value accounting method
(measured as the difference between the exercise price and the market
value of the stock at the measurement date).
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Disclosures under the fair-value method are estimated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following
weighted-average assumptions for grants of stock options in the fol-
lowing years:

2004 _‘200_3 ] __29.3__

1991 Plan:

Risk-free interestrate ... ......... 3.7% 3.9% 5.2%

Dividend yield. . ............... 3.500 3.4% 3.1%

Volatility . .........oooiiii 24.0% 24.0% 24.0%

Expected life (years). .. .......... 10.0 10.0 8.4
Performance Share Plan:

Risk-free interestrate. .. ......... n/a n/a 2.4%

Dividend yield. . ............... n/a n/a 3.1%

Volatility . . .............c. oL n/a n/a 24.0%

Expected life (years). . ........... n/a n/a 1.0
Restricted Share Plan:

Risk-free interest rate. . .. ........ n/a 2.7% n/a

Dividend yield. ................ n/a 3.3% n/a

Volatility .. ...t n/a 24.0% n/a

Expected life (years). . ........... n/a 5.0 n/a

If the fair-value method to measure compensation cost for
all of the above mentioned plans and awards had been used, the com-
pensation cost, which is required to be charged against income would
have been $6.0 million in 2004, $4.4 million in 2003 and $6.1 million
in 2002. See Note 2 for the pro forma presentation.

The following table summarizes information about stock
options outstanding, excluding the performance share stock awards,
restricted share stock awards and long-term incentive plan awards at
December 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Range of Number Remaining Average Number Average
Exercise Qutstanding Contractual  Exercise Exercisable Exercise
Prices at 12/31/04 Life Price at 12/31/04 Price
L I S F e S
$19-825 216,411 38 years $21.35 216,411 $21.35 i
25- 31 3,177,445 6.0 29.82 2,494,670 2970 |
31- 38 1,625,292 4.3 34.84 1,453,533 34.94 i
38- 45 6,000 3.2 38.25 6,000 38.25 ‘
5,025,148 5.4 31.09 4,170,614 3110
— I —— T

Noie 15 — RESTRUCTURING CHARBES

In 2004, the company recorded aggregate restructuring charges of
$38.6 million primarily related to asset impairments and workforce
reductions.

In December 2004, management made the decision to
close the Lubricant Additives manufacturing facility in Bromborough,
United Kingdom to lower further the company’s cost structure while
simultaneously improving its service capabilities to customers. The
company announced this decision in January 2005. The company
determined, as of December 31, 2004, that an impairment of certain
of the facility’s long-lived assets had been triggered by this decision.
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As aresult, a $17.0 million impairment charge was recorded in Decem-
ber 2004 to reflect the related assets at their estimated fair values. The
estimated fair value of the asset was determined using a discounted
cash flow model. Production phase-out of this site is planned to begin
in the second quarter of 2005 and is expected to be completed by
late 2006. During this phase-out, United Kingdom production will be
transferred to facilities in France and United States. Approximately
69 employees will be impacted by this closure. There were no cash
expenditures in 2004 relating to this restructuring. Further, there is no
related liability recorded at December 31, 2004.

In 2004, the company eliminated more than 100 positions,
primarily affecting technical and commercial employees located at
the Wickliffe, Ohio headquarters. Most of these workforce reductions
were related to our restructuring following our acquisition of Noveon
International. The aggregate restructuring charge recorded for these
reductions was $21.6 million. In addition to the employee severance
costs, the company incurred a $7.7 million non-cash pension ben-
efit settlement charge and an asset impairment charge of $2.8 million
relating to PuriNOx™ assets. These reductions were completed by
December 31, 2004. Cash expenditures through December 31, 2004
were $8.7 million with a remaining accrued liability of $2.7 million at
December 31, 2004.

In 2003, the company recorded restructuring charges of
$22.5 million related to the separation of 252 employees in the United
States, Europe and India, comprising 5% of the then-current world-
wide workforce.

In February 2003, the company initiated a restructuring at
its Bromborough, United Kingdom facility by consolidating various
operational activities. There was a workforce reduction of 45 employees
by the end of January 2004. As a result of these changes, the company
recorded a restructuring charge of $7.0 million in 2003 comprised of
$3.5 million in severance costs, $3.3 million in asset impairments and
$0.2 million in other miscellaneous costs. Cash expenditures in 2004
and 2003 were $0.2 million and $3.5 million, respectively. At Decem-
ber 31, 2003, there was an accrued liability of $0.2 million relating to
employee severance costs, which were subsequently paid in 2004.

The 2003 restructuring charges also included $1.5 million
for a voluntary separation program for approximately 55 employees
at the company’s India joint venture, Lubrizol India Private Limited.
This joint venture is consolidated by the company. The workforce
reduction occurred primarily in the second quarter of 2003. Cash
expenditures for India were $0.1 million and $1.4 million in 2004
and 2003, respectively. At December 31, 2003, there was an accrued
liability of $0.1 million relating to employee severance costs, which
were subsequently paid in 2004.

In November 2003, the company announced workforce
reductions of approximately 150 employees at its headquarters in
Wickliffe, Ohio, its Deer Park and Bayport, Texas manufacturing
facilities and its Hazelwood, United Kingdom technical facility. All of
the workforce reductions occurred prior to December 31, 2003. This
resulted in a restructuring charge in the United States of $12.8 million,
comprised of $11.2 million in severance costs and $1.6 million in out-
placement and other miscellaneous costs, and a restructuring charge in
Europe for $1.2 million, primarily for employee severance costs. The
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charge for Europe included $0.8 million for the Hazelwood, United
Kingdom testing facility and $0.4 million for the closing of a sales
office in Scandinavia. Cash expenditures in 2003 were $0.7 million in
the United States and $1.2 million in Europe. At December 31, 2003,
there was an accrued liability of $12.1 million relating to employee
severance costs, which were subsequently paid in 2004.

The charges for these cost reduction initiatives are reported
as a separate line item in the consolidated income statements, entitled
“Restructuring charges” and are included in the “Total cost and ex-
penses” subtotal on the consolidated income statements. Other than
the June 2004 reduction in force, the charges primarily related to the
Lubricant Additives segment.

The following table shows the reconciliation of the liability
balance at December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Balance, January 1,2003. . ... I
Restructuring charges . .. ............... i , 225
Lesscashpaid. ..ot e (6.8)
Less asset IMpalfments ... .....oueiueeinnnn .. E 63
Balance, December31,2003 . ... ... . i 1 ﬂ
Restructuring charges . .. ...... ... § 38.6
Restructuring liabilities assumed with acquisitions. . .............. | 7.2
Lesscashpaid. ... ... oo } 21.9)
Less asset iMPairments . . ... .ovuneree e e ‘ (19.8)
Less pension settlement charge. . ............... .. ..o Ll | 7.7

Balance, December31,2004 . ... ... .o

Note 17 — CONTINGENCIES
The company has numerous purchase commitments for materials,
supplies and energy in the ordinary course of business. The company

has numerous sales commitments for product supply contracts in the
ordinary course of business.

General There are pending or threatened claims, lawsuits and ad-
ministrative proceedings against the company or its subsidiaries, all
arising from the ordinary course of business with respect to commer-
cial, product liability and environmental matters, which seek remedies
or damages. The company believes that any liability that may finally
be determined with respect to commercial and product liability claims
should not have a material adverse effect on the company’s consoli-
dated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. From time
to time, the company is also involved in legal proceedings as a plaintiff
involving contract, patent protection, environmental and other mat-
ters. Gain contingencies, if any, are recognized when they are realized.

Envirenmental The company and its subsidiaries are generators of
both hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, the treatment, storage,
transportation and off-site disposal of which are regulated by various
laws and governmental regulations. These laws and regulations, in-
cluding the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation
and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments
and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (collectively known as Superfund),
and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (RCRA)
and other state laws, generally impose liability for costs to investi-
gate and remediate contamination without regard to fault and under

certain circumstances liability may be joint and several resulting in
one party being held responsible for the entire obligation. Liability
may also include damages to natural resources. Although the com-
pany believes past operations were in substantial compliance with
the then-applicable regulations, either the company or the predeces-
sor of Noveon International, the Performance Materials Segment of
Goodrich Corporation (Goodrich), has been designated as a poten-
tially responsible party (PRP) under Superfund or an owner/operator
under RCRA or other statutory definition that may apply by the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), or similar state agencies,
in connection with several sites including both third party and/or
current operating facilities.

The company initiates corrective and/or preventive envi-
ronmental projects to ensure environmental compliance and safe and
lawful activities at its current operations. The company also conducts
compliance and management systems audits.

The company’s environmental engineers and consultants
review and monitor environmental issues at operating facilities, as well
as off-site disposal sites at which the company has been identified as
a PRP. This process includes investigation, remedial action selection
and implementation, as well as negotiations with other parties, which
primarily include PRPs, past owners and operators and governmental
agencies. The estimates of environmental liabilities are based on the
results of this process. Inherent uncertainties exist in these estimates
primarily due to unknown conditions, changing governmental regu-
lations and legal standards regarding liability, remediation standards
and evolving technologies for managing investigations and remedia-
tions. The company revises its estimates accordingly as events in this
process occur and additional information is obtained.

The company’s environmental reserves, measured on an
undiscounted basis, totaled $26.4 million at December 31, 2004 and
$9.8 million at December 31, 2003. Of these amounts, $4.5 million
and $1.2 million were included in accrued expenses and other current
liabilities at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.
The increase in the company’s environmental reserves at December
31, 2004 compared with December 31, 2003 was primarily due to
the Noveon International acquisition. The company’s December 31,
2004 balance sheet includes liabilities, measured on an undiscounted
basis, of $14.5 million to cover future environmental expenditures
for Noveon International sites either payable by Noveon Interna-
tional or indemnifiable by Goodrich. Accordingly, the current por-
tion of the Noveon International environmental obligations of $0.5
million is recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities
and $1.1 million of the recovery due from Goodrich is recorded in
receivables. Non-current Noveon International liabilities include
$14.0 million and other assets include $2.6 million reflecting the
recovery due from Goodrich.

Goodrich provided Noveon International with an indem-
nity for various environmental liabilities. The company estimates
Goodrich’s share of such currently identified liabilities under the in-
demnity, which extends through February 2011, to be approximately
$3.7 million. There are specific environmental contingencies for com-
pany-owned sites for which third parties such as past owners and/or
operators are the named PRPs and also for which the company is in-
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demnified by Goodrich. Goodrich is currently indemnifying Noveon

Internatio

nal for several environmental remediation projects. Good-

rich’s share of all of these liabilities may increase to the extent such

third parties fail to honor their obligations through February 2011.

The company believes that its environmental accruals are

adequate based on currently available information. The company be-

lieves that

it is reasonably possible that $2.6 million in additional costs

may be incurred at certain locations beyond the amounts accrued as

a result of new information, newly discovered conditions, changes in
remediation standards or technologies or a change in the law. Addi-
tionally, as the indemnification from Goodrich extends through
February 2011, changes in assumptions regarding when costs will be
incurred may result in additional expenses to the company. Addition-

al costs in

excess of $2.6 million cannot currently be estimated.

Nete 18 — SUARANTOS
SUBSICIARY |

The repayment of the unsecured senior notes, debentures and bank

RAND NON-DUARANTER
NFORMATION

term loans is unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several basis
by the company and its direct and indirect, wholly owned, domestic
subsidiaries. The following supplemental condensed consolidating fi-
nancial information presents the balance sheets of the company as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and its statements of income for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and its statements of
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
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Cengsngoed Consgliteting Stetement of lncoms " YearEnded December3,2004
[ —_— Parent Subsidiary Other Total
) L Company Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Netsales. .. ..o $1,213.1 § 8215 $1,579.4 $ (458.4) $3,155.6
Royalties and otherrevenues .............oo it 3.0 0.8 0.1 - 3.9
Total TEVEIUES . . .ottt e sttt e s 1,216.1 8223 1,579.5 (458.4) 3,159.5
Cost 0 Sales . . . oot e 915.6 653.7 1,248.6 (458.4) 2,359.5
Selling and administrative eXpenses . ... ........ovueiiiii i 149.7 59.6 95.3 - 304.6
Research, testing and development expenses ................ ... ... ... .. 105.7 34.8 50.3 - 190.8
Amortization of intangible assets. .. ... . i 29 10.4 4.7 - 18.0
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development................... - 34.0 - - 34.0
Restructuring charges . ... ... ..o i 16.3 1.3 21.0 - 38.6
Total costs and eXpenses . ..........ooiiiiiiiiiii i 1,190.2 793.8 1,419.9 (458.4) 2,945.5
Other income (eXpense) —Met . .........o.vi ittt 37.2 15.7 (46.4) (1.6) 49
Interest (expense) INCOME - NEt ... ....i ittt it (86.9) 12.7 1.9 - (72.3)
Equity in income of subsidiaries ......... ... .. .. i i 116.7 36.0 - (152.7) -
Income before INCOME taXes. . ..o ovvvut vttt 929 92.9 115.1 (154.3) 146.6
Provision (benefit) for INCOME taXeS. . . oo vvvve ittt (0.6) 13.4 40.3 - 53.1
INELINCOME. « o o\ttt et ettt et et e et e e e e $ 935 $ 795 $ 748 $ (154.3) $ 935
Cendonged Consolidating Stetement ¢f Income o Year Ended December 31, 2003
. Parent Subsidiary Other Total
L — Company  Guarantors  Subsidiaries  Eliminations — Consolidated
Netsales . ..o e e $1,044.3 $ 2121 $1,110.7 $ (318.0) $2,049.1
Royalties and other revenues ... ...... ... i 2.7 0.3 - - 3.0
Total revenues . ... i e 1,047.0 2124 1,110.7 (318.0) 2,052.1
Costofsales . ...oovvnii i ‘ 768.4 167.8 893.9 (322.3) 1,507.8
Selling and administrative expenses ... ....... ..o 1353 231 44.5 - 202.9
Research, testing and development expenses . ............... ... ..., 114.0 6.8 46.1 - 166.9
Amortization of intangible assets. . .. ...... . .. o i i 2.8 1.9 0.2 - 4.9
Restructuring charges . ... i 12.5 0.2 9.8 - 22,5
Total costs and eXpenses . .........o.oi i e 1,033.0 199.8 994.5 (322.3) 1,905.0
Other income (EXPense} = Met ...........ouuiniirtiieniiieiiraeannnns 16.2 16.5 (28.4) (1.0) 33
Interest (expense) INCOME = NEt ... .o .u it ittt it i iieaa s (32.0 9.8 0.9 - (21.3)
Equity in income of subsidiaries . ........ ... ... i 84.5 8.9 - (93.4) -
Income before INCOME taXeS. ...\ oo ut ettt i 82.7 47.8 88.7 (90.1) 129.1
Provision (benefit) for income taxes. . ........ ot N (5.3) 14.5 276 1.5 383
LT L) T $ 333 $ 611 $ (91.6) $ 908
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Parent Subsidiary Other Total
| Company  Guarantors  Subsidiaries _Eliminations __ Consolidsted _
Net sales . .ot s $1,080.2 $ 177 $1,067.5 $ (339.1) $1,980.3
Royalties and other revenues . ..........ooii i 24 0.2 1.0 - 3.6
Total revenues .. ..o e 1,082.6 171.9 1,068.5 (339.1) 1,983.9
Cost Of SAleS . o .ot e 757.2 1285 866.1 (335.5) 1,416.3
Selling and administrative eXpenses . ... .......vvrie ittt 132.7 223 41.9 - 196.9
Research, testing and development expenses . ..........cooviiii i 119.3 5.4 43.6 - 168.3
Amortization of intangible assets. ... .. ... oo 2.8 1.2 0.2 - 42
Total costs and eXpenses ..ottt 1,012.0 157.4 951.8 (335.5) 1,785.7
Other income (€XPense) = Met .........uovrreirrin it it i 29.2 5.3 (35.4) 0.3) (1.2
Interest (eXpense) INCOME = NEt .. ..o vvutin ettt s (29.0) 10.7 1.7 - (16.6)
Equity in income of subsidiaries ......... .. ... . o 571 32 - {60.3) -
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of change
inaccounting principle .. . ... L 127.9 33.7 83.0 (64.2) 180.4
Provision fOr INCOME LAXES . . v .\ v vttt ettt e e e et ai e et 6.9 123 36.1 _Ll,g) 54.1
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .. .......... 121.0 214 46.9 (63.0) 126.3
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. . ............. ... ..... - 2.1y (5.7) - 0y
NetinCOME. .. o\ e it e e e e e $ 1210 $ 193 $ 412 §_(L3.2) w
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet December 31, 2004
. Parent Subsidiary Other Total
i Company Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated
ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments. . ..........ooriveieniirn e $ 403 $ (0. $ 2957 $ -~ $ 3359
Receivables. ... oo 1283 1589 2956 - 582.8
IRVENEOMES . . .\ttt ettt e e e 115.7 1743 309.6 (30.9) 568.7
Other CUITENE 8SSEES . .. oo v ittt et et a e e e 67.7 20.7 11.6 10.6 110.6
Total current assets . ... ..ottt 352.0 353.8 9125 (20.3) 1,598.0
Property and equipment —net........... .. .. o i i 401.0 4983 418.6 - 1,317.9
Goodwill. ..o 27.1 633.1 493.6 - 1,153.8
Intangible assets —met ... ... e 11.4 286.1 139.6 - 437.1
Investments in subsidiaries and intercompany balances. .. ................... 3,087.0 1,625.9 (238.0) (4,474.9) -
Investments in non-consolidated companies . ............. ... ... ... . 5.7 1.7 - - 74
Otherassets . ... 33.6 5.5 13.0 -~ 52.1
Total . o $3,917.8 $3,404.4 $1,739.3 $(4,495.2) $4,566.3
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt. ..................... 3 - $ - $ 82 $ - $ 82
Accountspayable . ....... ... 118.3 99.4 121.9 - 3396
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . ........... ... ..o 145.0 54.8 109.7 - 309.5
Total current liabilities .. ....... ... .o 2633 154.2 239.8 - 657.3
Long-termdebt. ... ... .. e 1,9572 - 6.9 - 1,964.1
Postretirement health care obligations . . ........... ... .. . i 96.3 39 6.2 - 106.4
Noncurrent liabilities . . ........ ... .. 47.5 40.5 82.7 - 170.7
Deferred INCOME tAXES + .+ ..ot vttt ettt e 16.0 41.7 330 - %0.7
Total liabilities. . . ... ..oov 2,380.3 240.3 368.6 - 2,989.2
Minority interest in consolidated companies. .. .. ... ... ... ... - - - 53.6 53.6
Total shareholders’ equity. . ... 1,537.5 3,164.1 1,370.7 (4,548.8) 1,523.5
Total . o e $3,917.8 $3,404.4 $1,739.3 $(4,495.2) $4,566.3
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{{n Mitiions Excapt Per-Share Datej \

Cendensed Consclidating Belance Sheat December 31, 2003 o
Parent Subsidiary Other Total
o __Company Guarantors Subsidiaries i Eliminations o Consolidated
ASSETS :
Cash and short-term investments. . ... ......voreriieiiii i $ 563 $ (L0 § 2034 $ - $ 2587
Receivables. .. ..ot e : 100.9 392 184.5 - 324.6
InVentomies . . ..o oo e 76.8 443 216.6 (25.8) 3119
Other curent assets . ... ... oottt e e 1 26.4 0.7 6.5 9.0 42,6
Total CUITENL @SSELS . . .ttt ettt et e e 260.4 83.2 611.0 (16.8) 937.8
Property and equipment-mnet ......... ..o ‘ 399.6 57.3 233.1 - 690.0
Goodwill. .. ..o : 249 124.8 59.0 - 2087
Intangible assets —Met. . ... .0iioii i s } 12.2 328 17.4 - 62.4
Investments in subsidiaries and intercompany balances. ..................... 934.2 811.0 (96.9) {1,648.3) -
Investments in non-consolidated companies ... ............. ... oo e 5.6 0.7 - - 6.3
OtREr @ssets .. v vttt ettt et e e ‘ 20.5 34 13.2 - 37.1
o ; $1,657.4 $1,113.2 $ 836.8 $(1,665.1) $1,942.3
LIABILITIES AND SMARIMILDERE ZTUNTY
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt. .. ................... $ - $ - $ 29 $ - § 29
Accounts payable . . ... . e 64.0 174 61.7 - 143.1
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . . ....... . ... oo oL 79.9 20.7 52.9 - 153.5
Total current liabilities . ..... ... oot e 143.9 38.1 117.5 - 2995
Longtermdebt. ....... o i 381.8 - 4.9 - 386.7
Postretirement health care obligations .. ............ ... ... .. .o 92.9 - 5.5 - 98.4
Noncurrent liabilities . ... ... i . 44.7 - 55.6 - 100.3
Deferred IICOME EAXES . ...\ v ov vttt ettt e s 24.0 6.9 219 - 52.8
Total liabilities. .. . ... 687.3 45.0 205.4 - 937.7
Minority interest in consolidated companies............... ... .. ... ‘ - - - 51.3 51.3
Total shareholders” equity. .. ... ... i 970.1 1,068.2 631.4 (1,716.4) 953.3
Total . .o e ; $1,657.4 $1,113.2 $ 836.8 $(1,665.1) $1,942.3
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Notes To Financial Statements continued

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2004

Parent Subsidiary Other Total
r Company Guarantors Subsidiaries Eliminations  Consolidated

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR]:
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
INELHCOIMIE. « - -« vttt e ettt ettt e e e e et e et it aaens $ 935 $§ 795 $ 748 $ (154.3) $ 935
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities .. .. 8.7 (54.6) 1263 1543 2347

Total operating activities. .. .......oieit i 102.2 24.9 201.1 - 328.2
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures. . ... ...t (54.4) (31.4) 47.4) - (133.2)
Acquisitions - net of cash received and liabilities assumed ... ................ (3.7 (829.1) (125.6) - {958.4)
Other Items ~ MEE. . ..o\ttt e 0.6 0.2 2.0 - 2.8

Total investing aCtivities . . . vt e e e (57.5) (860.3) (171.0) - (1,088.8)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Changes in short-term debt,net. ... .. ... - (78.2) 5.6 - (72.6)
Repayment of long-term debt. . . ........... ... .. i (168.4) (1,024.6) - - (1,193.0)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-termdebt .. ............ ...l 1,741.7 0.1 1.5 - 1,743.3
Dividends paid . . ......cooi i (57.6) - - - (57.6)
Changes in Intercompany aCtivities . . . ... .. vv i viinieirniaiierianns, (1,974.6) 1,936.3 383 - -
Proceeds from sale of commonshares . ........... ... ... .. oo 470.0 - - - 470.0
Payment of debt iSSUanCe COSES. . . . .\ vv vttt (16.8) - - - (16.8)
Payment of Treasury rate lock upon settlement .. ........................... (73.9) - - - (73.9)
Payment on termination of interest rate SWaps. . .. .......ou i, 2.9 - - - (2.9
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options. . .......... ..o 15.4 - ~ - 15.4

Total financing activities . . ... ..ot e i s (67.1) 833.6 45.4 - 811.9
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash. ........... .. ... ... .. ... ... 6.4 27 16.8 - 25.9
Net increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments. .................. (16.0) 0.9 92.3 - 772
Cash and short-term investments at the beginning of year ................... 56.3 (1.0) 2034 = 258.7
Cash and short-term investments at theend of year . ....................... $ 403 $ (0.1 $ 2957 $ - $ 3359
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{in Millions Except Per-Share Data) \

Condensced Consalideting Statement of Cash Flews Year Ended December 31, 2003 .
‘ Parent Subsidiary Other Total
L | Company  Guarantors _Subsidiaries _ Eliminations _Consolidated

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INEEIIICOMIE. + .\ o\ ettt et e e e e et e e e e e et e $ 880 $ 333 § 611 § (91.6) $ 908
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used for)
OPEIating ACHVIHES. . . oottt ettt i 10.6 922 (90.4) 91.6 104.0
Total operating activities . ... .....oouvirt it iit i 98.6 m —(2_95) T 194.8
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures. . .......ovii i (45.8) (12.3) (30.4) - (88.5)
Acquisitions - net of cash received and liabilities assumed ................... ! 4.2) (62.8) (1.6) - (68.6)
Other HEmIS — Met. ..o i et ettt 3 0.9 0.3) 0.6 ~ 1.2
Total investing activIties. . . ...t inu i i i M(LITI) _(7_52) m) T (155.9)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Changes in short-term debt, net. . ... o : - 0.2) (5.6) - (5.8)
Repayment of long-termdebt. .. ....... ... ... . . o -~ - (9.2) - (9.2)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-termdebt . ............ . ... .. .. - - 4.5 - 4.5
Dividends paid . . ... oo (53.6) - - - (53.6) .
Changes in intercompany activities . ... ... vouireir it ‘ (60.7) 49.3) 110.0 - - ‘
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options. .. ... “ 4.6 - - - 4.6
Total financing aCtiVIties .. ... ..ot vtvr it ‘ 71_09_.7_) m) T 997 - _75793)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash. ............... ... ... ... ... ; = 0.3 126 - 12.9
Net increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments. . ................. (60.2) m ?—6_ T 7)
Cash and short-term investments at the beginning of year ................... (1.9) 151.8 - 266.4
Cash and short-term investments at theend of year ........................ : ES_E $_19) @ E $_2§_§Z ;
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows Year Ended December 31, 2002
, Parent Subsidiary Other Total
L ) - Company Guarantors Subsidiaries  Eliminations  Consolidated _ 1
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR): ‘ |
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NEtIICOME. « + v\ e e et e e e e $121.0 $ 193 § 412 $ (63.0) $1185 |
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used for)
OPEIating ACHVILIES. . ...\t uv vttt et et e vt e et et _ 49 95.4 (739 _ 630 126.4
Total operating activities . ... ... ..o vuiie i e 162.9 114.7 (32.7) - 244.9
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ‘
Capital expenditures. ... ..ottt e (35.5) (6.3) (23.5) - 653y .
Acquisitions ~ net of cash received and liabilities assumed .. .......... ... ... 0.3) (86.4) - - (86.7) (
Othertems — net . ... ..ottt e 0.6 - 2.9 - 3.5
Total Investing ACtIVIHES. .« ..ttt e ittt e ~(37?:) 79_5;) W) - _(;4—8_5) ‘
i
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ‘
Changes in short-term debt, net. ... ... i - 0.8) (0.6) - 1.4
Repayment of long-termdebt. .. .. ... ... .. . o i - (1.2) (L1 - 23 |
Dividends paid . ...\ o ‘ (53.4) - - - (33.4) |
Changes in intercompany activities . ... ... o.v ittt (71.6) (24.5) 96.1 - - ‘
Proceeds on termination of Interest Tate SWaPs. .. ..o v ovvvvirnencanrenannas 18.1 - - - 18.1
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options. . ... i 8.6 - - - 8.6 ‘
Total financing aCtiVIIEs . . . ..o\ vttt e m) ~_(igg) YY) - (30.4) "
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash. ........ ... .. ... ... oL - - 11.3 - 113 ‘
Net increase (decrease) in cash and short-term investments. ... ............... 29.4 (4.5) 524 T 77.3 1
Cash and short-term investments at the beginning of year ................... _ 871 26 994 - 1891 :
Cash and short-term investments at the end of year ..................... ... $ 116.5 9 $151.8 § - $2664 |

oy
—
—
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Note 19 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA {UNAUDITED]

The following table sets forth the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

2004
First® Sccond™  Third®X  Fourth®  Full Year
Netsales. .. oo $577.9 $720.2 $921.3 $936.2 $3,155.6
GIOSS PIOfIt. . . oottt e $151.6 $190.6 $229.2 $224.7 § 796.1
Net inCOme. . ..ottt $ 375 $ 39 $ 322 $ 199 $ 935
Net income pershare, basic ........... ... o L $ 072 $ 0.08 $ 0.61 $ 030 $ 168
Net income per share, diluted .. .....................oiiiiii. L $0.72 $ 0.08 $ 061 $030 $ 167
o 2003 e
. . Fisst®  Second® Third®  Fourth' Full Year
Netsales. . ..ot ‘\ $507.0 $514.3 $509.1 $518.7 $2,049.1

!

Gross Profit. .. ..o ' $138.7 $141.7 $131.6 $129.3 $ 5413
NetinCOme. . ..ot ‘ $ 26.0 $ 294 $ 243 $ 111 $ 908
Netincome pershare,basic................ ..o $ 050 $ 057 $047 $ 021 $§ 176
Net income per share, diluted . ... ...........c...ooiiiiiiiiiiin L5050 $ 057 § 047 § 021 § 175

(1) The company recorded a gain of $6.4 million on a currency forward contract relating to the hyperdispersants acquisition in the first quarter of 2004.

(2) The company recorded the write-off of acquired IPRED relating to the Noveon International acquisition of $35.0 million, (81.5) million and $0.5 million in the second, third
and fourth quarters of 2004, respectively.

(3) The company recorded restructuring charges of $8.0 million, $10.5 million and $20.1 million in the second, third and fourth quarters of 2004, respectively.

(4) The company recorded a charge to cost of sales for $4.9 million in both the second and third quarters of 2004 relating to the inventory step-up recorded in connection with the
Noveon International acquisition.

(5) The company recognized a reduction in depreciation expense of $4.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 for the change in estimates of fair values and asset lfves for the long-
lived assets of Noveon International.

(6) The company recorded restructuring charges of $3.5 million, $3.5 million, $0.4 million and $15.1 million in the first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2003, respectively.

The sum of the quarterly earnings per-share amounts does not equal the annual amount reported since per-share amounts are
computed independently for each quarter and for the full year based upon respective weighted-average common shares outstanding and other
diluted potential shares.
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(In Millions, Except Shareholders, Employees and Per-Share Data) 2004* 2003 2002
DREIAATING RESILTS:
Revenues ... e $3,159.5 $2,052.1 $1,983.9
Total cost and expenses* .. ... .. 2,945.5 1,905.0 1,785.7
Gain on litigation settlements and investments ..................... - - -
Net interest expense and other income . ............. .o, (67.4) (18.0) (17.8)
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . .. .. 93.5 90.8 126.3
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle................. - - (7.8)
NEt ICOME .« ottt ittt e e e e e e e e e e 93.5 90.8 118.5
Basic earnings per share before cumulative effect of change
inaccounting principle. ... ... i e 1.68 1.76 245
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share .. ... .... - - 0.15)
Basic earnings pershare....... .. .o o o oo 1.68 1.76 2.30
FINANCIAL RATITS:
Gross profit Percentage . ... ..voeettint et e 252 264 28.5
Percent of revenues:
Selling and administrative eXpenses. ... .......c.ovvuun e, 9.6 9.9 9.9
Research and testing eXpenses . ........c..veeeiiinnneeeeennnnn.. 6.0 8.1 8.5
Return on average shareholders’ equity (%) .................... R 7.6 10.0 144
Debt to capitalization (%) . ........ oot e 56.2 29.0 316
CUITENt FAHO + o v vttt et e et e et e e 24 31 3.0
CUMER INFORMATIZN
Dividends declared pershare. ................. ... ... .. ... ... § 104 $ 1.04 $ 1.04
Average common shares outstanding .......... .. ... .. oL 55.7 51.7 51.5
Capital expenditures .. ........ooiiiiii i $ 1332 § 885 § 653
Depreciation eXpense. .. ...ttt e 136.7 95.5 91.6
AtYearEnd: ... o
Total assets ..ot e $4,566.3 $1,942.3 $1,860.1
Totaldebt. .. ..o 1,972.3 389.6 401.9
Total shareholders’ equity ......... ... o 1,523.5 953.3 869.3
Shareholders’ equity pershare . .. ... iin i 22.81 18.48 16.89
Common share Price . .. ......uirrrr i e 36.86 32.52 30.50
Number of shareholders. . ........ . .. i 3,698 3,903 4,081
Numberof employees ......... ... .. i i i 7,779 5,032 5,231

*The 2004 results include the revenses and expenses of Noveon International, Inc. since June 3, 2004, the date of acquisition.
** Includes restructuring and impairment charges of $38.6 million in 2004, $22.5 million 1n 2003, $19.6 million in 1999, $23.3 in 1998, $9.4 million in 1997 and $86.3 million

in 1993 and a restructuring credit of §4.5 mullion in 2000. Also includes the write-off of acquired in-process research and development of $34.0 million in 2004

and $13.6 million in 1998.
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2001

$1,844.6
1,685.5

(19.2)
94.1

94.1

1.84

1.84

274

9.6
8.6
123
33.9
29

$ 1.04
51.2
$ 663
84.7

2000

$1,775.8
1,605.3
19.4
(19.5)
118.0

118.0

2.22

222

27.8

9.5
8.5
15.3
34.5
2.6

$ 104
53.1
$ 858
88.0

$1,659.5
395.9
752.3
14.66
25.75
4,681
4,390

1999

$1,780.3
1,585.5
17.6
(17.0)
123.0

123.0

2.25

225

30.9

10.2
8.2
15.8
33.8
2.5

$ 1.04
54.6
$ 649
88.3

$1,682.4
403.0
790.1
14.50
30.88
5,126
4,074

1998

$1,650.2
1,540.7
16.2
(6.9)
71.2

71.2

1.27

1.27

29.2

10.9
9.1
9.0

35.8
2.5

§ 1.04
55.9
$ 934
79.7

$1,643.2
429.3
769.1
14.10
25.69
5,609
4,324

1997

$1,706.9
1,478.4

2.7
154.9

154.9

2.68

2.68

32.1

10.0
8.6
19.0
213
2.5

$ 1.01
57.8
$ 1007
82.7

$1,462.3
2203
815.4
14.31
36.88
5,661
4,291

1996

$1,629.2
1,436.2
53.3

4.4
169.8

169.8

2.80

2.80

314

9.7
9.9
20.4
19.5
2.6

$ 097
60.7
$ 943
78.7

$1,402.1
198.5
819.4
14.00
31.00
5,764
4,358

1995

$1,663.6
1,479.5
38.5

3.0
151.6

151.6

2.37

237

315

9.8
10.8
18.0
225

24

$ 093
63.8
$ 1893
71.8

$1,492.0
247.1
849.0
13.48
27.75
6,304
4,601
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Chairman of DuPont Europe
Director since 1999

Forest J. Farmer, Sr.

President and Chief Executive Officer
of The Farmer Group

Director since 1997

Gordon D. Harnett

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of Brush Engineered Materials Inc.
Director since 1995

Victoria F. Haynes

President and Chief Executive Officer
of RTI International

Director since 1995

William P. Madar

Retired Chief Executive Officer
of Nordson Corporation
Director since 1992

Peggy Gordon Miller
President of South Dakota
State University

Director Since 1993

Ronald A. Mitsch

Retired Vice Chairman and
Executive Vice President of 3M
Director since 1991

Dominic J. Pileggi

President and Chief Executive Officer
of Thomas & Betts Corporation
Director since 2005

Daniel E. Somers

Vice Chairman

of Blaylock & Partners LP
Director since 1999

Shereholder Information

The Common Shares of The Lubrizol Corporation are listed on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol LZ. The number

of shareholders of record of Common Shares was 3,682 as of

February 10, 2005.

Investors and shareholders may purchase shares of stock through

The Lubrizol Corporation Dividend Reinvestment and Direct

our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company,
Dividend Reinvestment Department, at 877.573.3998 (toll free)

or on the Internet at www.investpower.com.

The Annual Report on Form 10-K to the Securities and Exchange

Commission will be available on or about March 4, 2005. A copy
may be obtained without charge upon written request to the

Secretary of the Company or from the Lubrizol Web site.
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Internst Web Site

Company and investor information is available on the Internet

www.lubrizol.com.

Stock Purchase and Sale Plan. To participate in the Plan, contact
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2 MANUFACTURING PLANTS

@B@b@ﬂ F@@@[ﬁ]o TECHNICAL CENTERS

- SALES OFFICES

With headquarters in Wickliffe, Ohio, Lubrizol owns and operates manufacturing facilities
in 21 countries, as well as sales and technical offices around the world. The company has

approximately 7,800 employees worldwide.
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